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Group Structure
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CHINA RESOURCES (HOLDINGS) COMPANY LIMITED
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China Resources Land Limited

(As of 31 December 2018)
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Nationwide Presence
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Contracted sales in 2018

210.7

A RE4-{&7T RMB Billion

2018 ERMNmEE
Contracted GFA in 2018

12.0

A& 5K Million Square Meters

2018 FHEBEFI=
Recognized Gross
Profit Margin in 2018
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Major Investment Properties
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7 Malls Opened Before 2012

)10

FY18 FY17 YoY Change
el Azt (ARBEE) Total Rental Income (RMB mn) 3,465 3,034 14.2%
FHHEE Average Occupancy 96.8% 97 4% -0.6pt
SN g Average Yield on Cost 37.0% 32.4% 4.6pt
TERET(ARKEET) Total Retail Sales (RMB mn) 23,944 21,568 11.0%
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27 Malls Opened After 2012

FY18 FY17  YoY Change
At (ARBEE ) Total Rental Income (RMB mn) 3,387 1,977 71.3%
TR Average Occupancy 93.3% 92.7% 0.6pt
TR AR Bl R R Average Yield on Cost 11.9% 9.0% 2.9pt
TEREET (ARBBEET) Total Retail Sales (RMB mn) 23,350 14,304 63.2%

EHBEMBMRAE CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED
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Tenant Mix Appraisal Value
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Others include accessories, leather goods, gifts and services etc.
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Tenant Mix
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Tenant Mix Appraisal Value
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Tenant Mix Appraisal Value
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Tenant Mix
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Malls Opened In 2018
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Malls Opened In 2018

TE—j\FREREYT
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Hangzhou Xiaoshan MIXc One
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Performance Highlights
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CONTRACTED SALES
Contracted Sales (RMB billion)
Contracted GFA (million sgm)
Contracted ASP (RMB/sgm)

SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
(RMB MILLION)
Revenue
Gross Profit
Profit for the year attributable
to owners of the Company
Core net profit attributable
to owners of the Company

SELECTED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION DATA (RMB MILLION)
Total assets
Cash and bank balances
Total debt
Total equity
Equity attributable to owners
of the Company

SELECTED FINANCIAL RATIOS
Gross profit margin
Core net profit margin
Basic earnings per share, (RMB)
Return on average equity
Net debt-to-equity ratio,
at the end of year
Weighted average cost of
indebtedness, at the end of year

LAND BANK (GFA, MILLION SQM)

Land bank (GFA, million sgm),
at the end of year

- Total

- Attributable

Land bank acquired (GFA, million sqm)
during the year

- Total

- Attributable

EHBEMBMRAE CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

210.68
11.99
17,572

121,189
52,582

24,238

19,296

655,743

70,969
132,212
180,705

138,376
43.4%
15.9%

3.50
18.8%

33.9%

4.47%

59.57

44.81

22.13
15.08

RERL

—ZT—+F Year-on-Year

2017

172.29
10.19
16,903

101,943
40,962

19,690

16,379

480,451

53,774
105,556
144,240

119,718
40.2%
16.1%

2.84
17.7%

35.9%

4.16%

48.98

38.79

11.96
8.72

Change

22.3%
17.6%
4.0%

18.9%
28.4%

23.1%

17.8%

36.5%
32.0%
25.3%
25.3%

15.6%
3.2pt
-0.2pt
23.1%
1.1pt

-2.0pt

0.31pt

21.6%
15.5%

85.0%
72.9%
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I am pleased to present the annual business review and outlook of the Company and the Group

for the year ended 31 December 2018 to shareholders.

In year 2018, China’s economy well balanced between steady growth and risk prevention by
adhering to the “six stabilities” policy and delivered GDP growth of 6.6%. Facing complicated
international environment and arduous domestic challenges in reform, development and
stabilization, Chinese government successfully kept the key economic indicators within an
appropriate range and maintained economic stability while making steady progress. While
adhering to the principle of “housing is for living rather than speculation”, central government
implemented city-specific policies and category-specific guidance, increased land supply
through diversified channels and policy-supported housing supply, accelerated improvement of
the housing social welfare system, introduced policies to support leasing markets, pledged to
set up a long-term mechanism for property market to promote stable and healthy

development of the real estate market.

—E-NEE®RE ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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EBHBEMBRAT CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

In year 2018, Chinese property regulations were set to “stabilize housing and
land prices and market expectations”, and the overall market gradually
returned to rationality. Policy effect in tier 1 and 2 cities met regulatory
expectations, while in tier 3 and 4 cities was more obvious. The national
investment in real estate development was RMB12.0 trillion, up 9.5% YoY;
the commercial housing sales totaled RMB15.0 trillion with GFA sold reached
1.72 billion square meters, reflecting Yoy growth of 12.2% and 1.3%
respectively. During the year, the Group proactively complied with the
national development strategy, further optimized its investment allocation,
coupled with market penetration strategy and higher operation efficiency,
and achieved contracted sales of RMB210.68 billion, ranked within Top 10 in
the industry.

In year 2018, consumption became the most important driver of economic
growth, China’s total retail sales of consumer goods totaled RMB38.1 trillion,
up 9.0% YoY. During the year, benefited from excellent mall operation and
management expertise, gross retail sales of the Group’s shopping malls
achieved RMB47.29 billion with a Yoy growth of 31.8%, which was much
higher than the market average.

During the year under review, the Group constantly pursued changes,
progresses and innovations from stability by adhering to its development
concept of “Make it Solid, Make it Stronger, Make it Bigger, Make it Good,
Make it Longer”. Focusing on urban upgrade, consumption upgrade and
industrial upgrade, the Group further crystalized its “2+X" business model by
promoting business innovations in senior housing, leasing apartment,
industry fund, industry town, culture & sports, cinema businesses etc. with a
strategic target to transform the Group into an integrated operator in city
investment, development and operation.
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RESULTS REVIEW

In year 2018, the Group realized a consolidated turnover of RMB121.19
billion, core profit attributable to the shareholders of the Company excluding
revaluation gain from investment properties amounted to RMB19.30 billion,
profit attributable to the shareholders of the Company including revaluation
gain from investment properties amounted to RMB24.24 billion, the Group'’s
earnings per share achieved RMB3.50, of which core net profit attributable to
shareholders is RMB2.78 per share. As of 31 December 2018, the net assets
per share amounted to RMB19.96, representing an increase of 15.6%
comparing to the end of 2017.

The Board of the Company has resolved to recommend a final dividend of
RMB0.949 (equivalent to HK$1.112) per share, up 28.3% comparing to the
final dividend of 2017.

The Group attaches great importance to consistent shareholder value
creation with a balanced scale, risk and return model, pursues long-term
sustainable growth and maximizes shareholder interests. In the past ten
years, the Group's CAGR of consolidated turnover, earnings per share and
dividend per share achieved 26.5%, 18.2% and 20.2% respectively.

DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY

In year 2018, the Group made great efforts to accelerate asset turnover while
still retaining quality products and services. Operation efficiency was greatly
improved and the Group’s development property realized turnover of
RMB105.15 billion, up 17.5% YoY, with gross profit margin expanded by 3.2pt
YOY to 42.9%.

During the year under review, the Group improved its system for third-party
evaluation and inspection on engineering quality, level of which maintained
industry benchmark high level according the inspection result. The Group
continued technical research to promote construction industrialization, and
applied prefabrication to projects with GFA of 11.59 million square meters.
Home buyers’ customer satisfaction improved a lot due to upgraded
customer information service platform, faster response to customer
demands, and improved quality of delivered projects.

—E-NEE®RE ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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EBHBEMBRAT CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

As of 31 December 2018, the Group's investment properties in operation had
a total GFA of 9.21 million square meters, leading the market in scale.
Shopping mall business in specific, the Group had 22 MIXc/MIXc World malls
and 12 MIXc One/Hi5 malls in operation and 44 projects in pipeline. Besides,
the Group had 25 asset-light shopping mall projects, of which 17 were in
operation and 8 were in pipeline.

During the year under review, the Group opened 10 shopping malls’, namely
Hangzhou Xiaoshan MIXc One, Taiyuan MIXc, Chongging Danzishi MIXc One,
Nantong MIXc, Liuzhou MIXc, Shijiazhuang MIXc, Xiamen MIXc, Shenzhen
Bay MIXc, Qingdao Chengyang MIXc One and Shenzhen Buji MIXc One.
Besides, the Group acquired high-quality commercial projects in Shenzhen,
Tianjin, Hangzhou, Nanjing, Nanchang, Huizhou and Dongguan in 2018.

In year 2018, the Group's turnover from investment properties achieved a
YoY growth of 24.5% to RMB9.52 billion, of which turnover from shopping
mall business amounted to RMB6.86 billion, turnover from office business
amounted to RMB1.24 billion and turnover from hotel business amounted to
RMB1.43 billion, up 29.9%, 15.3% and 10.2% YOY respectively.

LAND BANK

During the year under review, the Group continued to deepen market
penetration and extended to 9 more cities, proactively replenished its land
bank and acquired 103 new projects with total land premium of RMB151.4
billion (of which attributable land premium was RMB103.7 billion). Total GFA
acquired was 22.13 million square meters, up 84.9% YoY, of which 19.38
million square meters were for development properties and 2.75 million
square meters were for investment properties.

As of 31 December 2018, the Group had expanded its geographical exposure
to 70 cities worldwide with a total land bank GFA of 59.57 million square
meters which is sufficient for the development for the Group in the next 3
years, of which 50.14 million square meters were for development properties
and 9.43 million square meters were for investment properties. Land bank
GFA in tier 1, 2 cities and tier 3 cities with industrial support accounted for
83.0% of total, such high quality land bank matches well with the Group’s
business model.

" Including 2 malls are asset-light.
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X STRATEGY AND INNOVATIVE DEVELOPMENT

During the year under review, the Group further crystalized its “2+X"
business model by focusing on urban, consumption and industrial upgrade
and transformed into an integrated operator in city investment, development
and operation by promoting innovation and synergy in business sectors
including urban redevelopment, property services, senior housing, leasing
apartments, industrial funds, industrial towns, culture and sports, cinema
business etc.

To meet the endogenous needs of constant self-restoration, function-
optimization and dimension-expansion in urban city devolvement, the Group
took an active part and has become market leader in urban redevelopment
business after its successful delivery of the flagship urban redevelopment
project “Shenzhen CR City”. Considering local policy feasibility and
“Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area” development strategy
promoted by government, the Group primarily focuses on quality urban
redevelopment opportunities in core cities within the area like Shenzhen,
Guangzhou and Dongguan etc. to support sustainable growth of the Group.
Currently, the Group is actively working on over 30 urban redevelopment
projects, of which 16 matured ones with total GFA of approximately 22
million square meters.

Property services business followed the “customer first” philosophy, targeted
market in tier 1 and tier 2 cities and actively expanded its business by
acquiring high-quality projects. During the year, the Group has successfully
piloted and promoted the smart community and smart property. The smart
community model “Smart Yinhu Blue Mountain” covers more than 10
business scenarios while the smart property model “Smart CR City” covers 5
scenarios including smart fire-fighting, smart transportation, smart energy,
Smart operation, and smart customer experience. The promotion and landing
of the above smart projects has realized significant savings in traditional
working hours and greatly improved the customer satisfaction and the
profitability of the business.

Senior housing business, in asset-light and asset-heavy models, is committed
to provide high quality medical care and healthcare services to mid to high-
end consumers with fundamental demand and leading consumption
concepts.

Leasing apartment business focused on the high-quality assets in prime
location in core cities. With both asset-light and asset-heavy models, the
Group is set to build communities providing comfortable, healthy, safe,
environmental friendly and cultural living conditions to customers. Operation
efficiency will be improved by increasing utilization ratio, reducing vacancy
rate and controlling cost.

—E-NEE®RE ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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FINANCIAL POLICY

The Group adhered to its prudent financial policies. As of 31 December 2018,
total interest-bearing debt ratio was 42.3% which stayed flat compared with
that as the end of 2017, while net interest-bearing debt ratio lowered to
33.9% from 35.9% by 2017 year-end. During the year, Standard and Poor’s,
Moody's and Fitch maintained the Company’s credit ratings at “BBB+/
stable”, “Baal/stable” and “BBB+/stable” respectively.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
(“ESG”)

The Group follows its social responsibility philosophy of “quality life, better
city” and commits to build beautiful city, create better life, and build up
community of shared interests between the enterprise and the economy,
society and the environment.

The Group values the idea of integrating environment protection into project
development and corporate operations to reduce and minimize the side
effects to environment by better emission management, energy and
resources saving, as well as applications of environmental friendly materials
and low-carbon equipment etc.

In year 2018, the Group achieved improvements in various aspects such as
job creation, labor and social security, safe production, tax compliance, and
public welfare & charity etc.

The Group's endeavor and achievements in ESG received wide recognition.
After being included as one of the 93 constituent stocks of Hang Seng
Sustainable Development Corporate Benchmark Index (HSSUSB) in 2017, the
Group was selected as one of the 30 constituent stocks of Hang Seng
Sustainable Development Corporate Index (HSSUS) in 2018. The Group
further improved its performance score to 84 in GRESB and ranked the
second among developers in the Asia-Pacific region, becoming one of the
global leaders. The Group has ranked the first in real estate development
industry for 5 consecutive years in the social responsibility development
index by the Corporate Social Responsibility Research Center of the Chinese
Academy of Social Sciences.

OUTLOOK

The river always flows and the world is always new. All great undertakings
are making progress by building on past successes to further advance the
cause. Looking forward to the year 2019, the Group will remain committed to
implement the central government’'s macro policies under the guidance of
“stabilize housing and land prices and market expectations” by the Ministry
of Housing and Construction, and earnestly promote a healthy and
sustainable property market. The Group will make its brilliant mark on China
Resources Group's 100-year historic canvas by implementing China
Resources’ spirit of “transformation, quality improvement, stability and
innovation” and adhering to the Group's strategy of “precise investment,
excellent operation and innovation”.

ITED
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For development property business, the Group will further participate in the
urbanization process, continuously meet the needs from customers’ pursuit
of a better life, promote value chain standardization, improve quality and
efficiency, control costs, and increase asset turnover. The Group will put the
customer at first priority, act in clients’ best interests, attach importance to
customer experience, and to provide quality product and service to realize
quality growth.

For investment property business, the Group will keep its leading position in
China by exploring opportunities in both existing and incremental assets
through diversified channels to scale up, and to improve customers’
shopping experience by seizing the new retail trend, embracing the internet
and new technologies, exploring digital transformation and strengthening
shopping scenario.

For X strategy, with a focus on the urban, consumption and industrial
upgrade, the Group will actively foster innovative businesses, explore new
profit engines, and continuously transform to an integrated operator in city
investment, development and operation.

2019 to 2020 will be a critical period for China to win the three tough battles,
while its economy enduring mid-high speed platform period. The Group will
promote reforms in quality, efficiency and growth drivers to achieve growth
with “high quality, high efficiency and low risk”. Positioned to build up a
corporate structure with “specialized headquarters, stronger regions and
practical city companies”, the Group will improve evaluation system and
incentive scheme, optimize training system to maximize efficiency and
stimulate front-line vitality. In addition, the Group will adhere to its traditional
culture where honesty, entrepreneurship, pragmatism, professionalism and
eagerness to learn are greatly cherished, and further shoulder the solemn
mission of “lead the business progress and build a better life together”, in
order to provide better quality product and service and bring more
comprehensive, convenient and comfortable life experience to customers.

Finally, on behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to express my sincere
appreciation to shareholders, customers and all related parties in the society

for your long term support!

TANG Yong
Chairman

—E-NEE®RE ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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In Year 2018, the Group’s development property and investment property
both maintained stable momentum. During the reporting year, contracted
sales performance and construction progress of each project were in line
with management’s expectation, laying a solid foundation for 2019.

REVIEW OF DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY
CONTRACTED SALES IN YEAR 2018

In Year 2018, the Group achieved contracted sales of RMB210.68 billion with
contracted GFA of 11.99 million square meters, up 22.3% and 17.6% YoY
respectively.

Region breakdown of the Group’s contracted sales in Year 2018 is set out in
the following table:

ER:/]%E ER:@E*E

[ 15 Region Contracted Sales Contracted GFA
ARIEF T % Tk %
RMB'000 % Sgm %
eS| N North China Region 51,376,170 24.4% 2,477,893 20.7%
BN East China Region 46,881,197 22.3% 2,314,428 19.3%
EEAE South China Region 48,872,794 23.2% 1,526,766 12.7%
Eity N West China Region 21,705,103 10.3% 2,030,566 16.9%
RitKR&E Northeast China Region 27,133,080 12.9% 2,258,980 18.9%
BN Central China Region 14,631,655 6.9% 1,377,360 11.5%
Hib Others 80,824 0.0% 3,270 0.0%
a5t Total 210,680,823 100.0% 11,989,263 100.0%
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REVIEW OF DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY REVENUE
IN YEAR 2018

In Year 2018, the Group achieved developed property revenue of RMB105.15
billion with booked GFA of 6.08 million square meters, representing YoY
growth of 17.5% and decline of 15.7% respectively. Gross profit margin of
development property reached 42.9% in Year 2018, higher than 39.7% in
Year 2017.

AEE T \FEELEBRIGERDOT - Region breakdown of the Group's revenue in Year 2018 is listed below:

EEEXS EEMmE

[ 15, Region Revenue GFA Booked

ARET T ok

RMB’000 Sgm

B3 N North China Region 20,028,720 1,130,960

BN East China Region 22,560,862 1,277,075

=R KR South China Region 36,868,136 906,930

EF KR West China Region 6,695,467 822911

it KER Northeast China Region 10,670,995 1,116,917

EyN Central China Region 8,261,329 822,533

Eib Others 62,026 2,649

&t Total 105,147,535 6,079,975
%jzi_ T—-N\F+-B=+—8 KEBZK$#E As of 31 December 2018, the Group has locked in unbooked contracted
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sales of RMB187.35 hillion that are subject to recognition as development
property revenue in 2019 and years to come, among which RMB99.22 billion
will be recognized in 2019, laying a solid foundation for the Group's 2019 full
year results.

REVIEW OF INVESTMENT PROPERTY BUSINESS
IN YEAR 2018

As of 31 December 2018, the book value of the investment properties of the
Group amounted to RMB126.86 billion, accounting for 19.3% of the Group’s
total assets value. In compliance with accounting policies, the Group
engaged an independent appraiser to revalue its investment properties,
including those under construction, and a revaluation gain of RMB4.94 billion
(after taxation and minority interests) was booked in Year 2018 based on the
appraisal report. In Year 2018, rental income of investment properties,
including hotel operation, amounted to RMB9.52 billion, representing a 24.5%
YoY growth.

—E-NEE®RE ANNUAL REPORT 2018



REB -_Z-NFTEREMERSWARLFYE  The following table sets out the details of the Group’s rental income and

HERED T occupancy rates of key investment properties in Year 2018:
SR HEMAARETT) TR %)
REmE Investment Property Opening Date Revenue (RMB000) Avg. Occupancy Rate (%)

ZE-N\F ZT—+F %YOY —E-\F —E—+F PtYoY
2018 2017 %Yoy 2018 2017 Pt Yoy
FYERR Shenzhen Mixc 19/12/2004 1,017,460 929,501 9.5% 99.5% 99.5% 0.0PT
MBS Hangzhou Mixc 22/04/2010 546,241 477,116 14.5% 88.6% 92.5% -39PT
BHERR Shenyang Mixc 15/05/2011 654,004 548476 19.2% 99.2% 98.8% 0.4PT
REE S Chengdu Mixc 11/05/2012 325,715 257,529 26.5% 97.4% 95.4% 2.0PT
BEERH Nanning Mixc 01/09/2012 561,823 490,852 14.5% 98.4% 98.8% -04PT
EEF ) Zhengzhou Mixc 19/04/2014 108,502 95,822 13.2% 88.0% 80.7% 7.3PT
ERERM Chongging Mixc 19/09/2014 303144 243366 24.6% 86.1% 92.5% -6.4PT
AHEZA Wuxi Mixc 20/12/2014 145,429 112,755 29.0% 89.0% 85.0% 4.0PT
EEEZ Qingdao Mixc 30/04/2015 413,852 329917 25.4% 90.9% 87.7% 3.2PT
BIEE S Hefei Mixc 25/09/2015 239,895 192,705 24.5% 98.0% 96.3% 1.7PT
FMERR Ganzhou Mixc 19/09/2015 151,260 113,834 32.9% 96.0% 95.7% 0.3PT
BMERA Wenzhou Mixc 30/04/2016 219,564 179,096 22.6% 92.5% 87.8% 4.7PT
AXERERH Xi'an Xixian Mixc 21/04/2017 72,658 37471 93.9% 97.3% 96.7% 0.6PT
HEESH Shanghai Mixc' 23/09/2017 334,091 89,898 271.6% 96.1% 90.0% 6.1PT
MBS Taizhou Mixc 31/12/2017 11573 NEANA  TEARNA 98.0% 100.0% -2.0PT
KEEFH Taiyuan Mixc 15/09/2018 77559 TEENA TEANA 9.2% TEANA  NEFANA
HREZN Nantong Mixc 30/09/2018 42092 TEANA TEENA 931% TEANA NEFANA
MNE SRS Liuzhou Mixc 30/09/2018 46,464 TEEANA  REFANA 925% EANA  NEFANA
AREBR Shijiazhuang Mixc 10/11/2018 3119 TEBRNA TERNA 90.7% NERNA TERNA
EFEZH Xiamen Mixc 23/11/2018 30,665 TEANA NEFANA 86.4% TEANA  REFANA
FYEEZH Shenzhen Bay Mixc 18/12/2018 13084 NEANA TEANA 729% TNERNA  NEFNA
LERRES Shanghai Time Square 18/01/1997 2,329 1265 TERANA  HESE  BHERE TERNA

Commercial Closed Closed

For For

Renovation  Renovation
I REHEZEDTL Beijing Phoenix Plaza Commercial -~ 31/12/2011 88,246 90,016 -2.0% 97.2% 97.5% -0.3PT
L RET RS Beijing Qinghe Hi5 03/07/20M 271,727 240,481 13.0% 98.5% 99.5% -1.0PT
AEBLRETH Hefei Shushan Hi5 01/05/2014 37,093 33,09 12.1% 96.6% 100.0% -34PT
ERRIATS Ningbo Yuyao Hi5 28/06/2014 66,785 61,283 9.0% 97.5% 97.0% 0.5PT
HEREARTS Shanghai Nanxiang Hi5 25/10/2014 38,318 35,521 7.9% 95.6% 97.4% -1.8PT
LR EERE Shandong Zibo Mixc One 27/05/2015 138,613 120,626 14.9% 93.7% 90.6% 31PT
BEHERERE Shenyang Tiexi Mixc One 30/09/2015 176993 152,868 15.8% 96.7% 94.0% 2.7PT
RPEDERE Changsha Xingsha Mixc One 28/11/2015 68,182 54,129 26.0% 99.3% 99.6% -0.3PT
IWRARERE Shandong Rizhao Mixc One 26/09/2016 62,266 55,928 11.3% 98.2% 98.6% -04PT
FIE& K Shenzhen Mixc World 27/09/2017 373219 62,583 496.4% 96.9% 96.2% 0.7PT
IREEELRE Beijing Miyun Mixc One 10/11/2017 74,897 5,891 1.171.3% 96.6% 99.6% -3.0PT
MMELE LR E Hangzhou Xiaoshan Mixc One 15/06/2018 101,215 NEENA  AEFANA 9.8% TEANA NEFANA
EEBTRERE Chongaing Danzishi Mixc One 15/09/2018 8559 MEANA TEBNA 97.6% NEANA TERNA
TREBRE Beijing CR Building 18/06/1999 201,134 196,513 2.4% 97.0% 96.9% 0.1PT
REEAE Shenzhen CR Building 09/12/2004 136392 148,22 -8.0% 95.0% 976%  -26PT
EGEBNE Shenyang CR Building 09/05/2011 83,234 81,283 24% 96.9% 93.1% 3.8PT
REERAE Chengdu CR Building 20/04/2012 89,682 73,664 21.7% 93.0% 93.2% -0.2PT
BEEEARE Nanning CR Building 06/06/2012 41,266 30,578 35.0% 89.2% 81.2% 8.0PT
MMEBAE Hangzhou CR Building 23/03/2015 100,388 60,662 66.3% 90.0% 71.5% 18.5PT
HERRERETE Shanghai Times Square Office 01/07/1997 103,361 95,207 8.6% 90.0% 85.3% 4.7PT
TREHBESETE Beijing Phoenix Plaza Office 01/12/2011 292,278 289,137 1.1% 94.0% 95.7% -1.7PT
T REA YR B FE Beijing Qinghe Hi5 Office 25/02/2013 19,078 19,191 -0.6% 100.0% 100.0% 0.0PT
REBRETE Shenzhen CR City Office 10/07/2018 18381 TEANA TEENA 61.1% TEBNA TERNA

T BPBERBAEEFFR50% 0 B TIUKIER © " The Group holds 50% interest in Shanghai Mixc, which is not consolidated by the
Group.
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S HEMAARETT) T %)

REME Investment Property Opening Date Revenue (RMB'000) Avg. Occupancy Rate (%)
—Z-\F ZEtF BYOY —B-N\F —T—tf Pt YoY
2018 2017 %YoY 2018 2017 Pt YoY
BB %020 GRESHAM 20 Gresham Street London Office  30/09/2008 136,066 87,763 55.0% 100.0% 100.0% 0.0PT

STREETEF12

Hith Others NEANA 349,99 336,715 39% TERANA TEANA TEBNA
FIEGBE Shenzhen Grand Hyatt Hotel 01/07/2010 453,268 418,412 8.3% 88.4% 86.8% 1.6PT
RBENEEE Shimei Bay Le Meridien Hotel 01/11/2008 55,441 64,348 -13.8% 46.0% 51.2% -5.2PT
BHEBE Shenyang Grand Hyatt Hotel 30/08/2013 201,135 193,881 37% 67.4% 63.5% -11PT
AEEWBE Dalian Grand Hyatt Hotel 12/09/2014 211,088 198,666 6.3% 58.5% 56.6% 19PT
BMNEBRE Huizhou Le Meridien Hotel 30/09/2016 87,525 78,818 11.0% 45.7% 44.1% 1.6PT
EREREBE Zibo Sheraton Hotel 07/10/2016 72,275 61,940 16.7% 77.4% 63.6% 13.8PT
mMatEE Hangzhou Park Hyatt Hotel 28/09/2016 229,439 178,118 28.8% 64.3% 58.6% 5.7PT
FIERIRERRE Shenzhen Bay Kapok Hotel 03/11/2012 110,159 100,499 9.6% 75.4% 735% 19PT
BRARIEEE Luohu Kapok Hotel 17/10/2018 6,746 TEENA TEENA 534% TERNA  NEFANA
At Total 9,519,452 7,645,759 245% FTEANA FEENA FERN/A

030 ZE-N\EE®RSE ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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Details of the Group's key investment properties opened in Year 2018 are

listed below:
NE B R L1 MEEEE ROEEEEE
IE 2R PRI T (%) (FFF7K) (FFFK)
Interest
Attributable to Attributable
the Group Total GFA GFA
Investment Property City (%) (Sgm) (Sgm)
TNERIL B RIE Al 100% 186,060 186,060
Hangzhou Xiaoshan Mixc One Hangzhou
Hep [SES 93,560 93,560
Comprising:  Commercial
1=E% 92,500 92,500
Car Park
NIRE R AR 100% 292,315 292,315
Taiyuan Mixc Taiyuan
Hep [SES 209,987 209,987
Comprising:  Commercial
1E%5 82,328 82,328
Car Park
BEETARERIE BF 100% 92,153 92,153
Chongging Danzishi Mixc One Chongging
Hep [EES 59,015 59,015
Comprising:  Commercial
1E%5 33,138 33,138
Car Park
ERERM 2R 55% 169,307 93,119
Nantong Mixc Nantong
Hep [EES 132,858 73,072
Comprising: Commercial
1E5 36,449 20,047
Car Park
MM B SR A0 55% 198,279 109,053
Liuzhou Mixc Liuzhou
Hep [EES 122,779 67,528
Comprising:  Commercial
(E==2) 75,500 41,525
Car Park
AREERH ARG 100% 285,077 285,077
Shijiazhuang Mixc Shijiazhuang
Hep [EES 161,294 161,294
Comprising:  Commercial
(E==2) 123,783 123,783
Car Park

EBHBEMBRAT CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED
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AN 52 B 5 AR L A MEEEE RBOEEEE
I E2R PRI T (%) (FFEFK) (FFFK)
Interest
Attributable to Attributable
the Group Total GFA GFA
Investment Property City (%) (Sgm) (Sgm)
EFTE R =1 100% 209,083 209,083
Xiamen Mixc Xiamen
EHrp o [SES 130,783 130,783
Comprising:  Commercial
= 78,300 78,300
Car Park
RIIEE R el 100% 292,108 292,108
Shenzhen Bay Mixc Shenzhen
EHrp o [SES 76,000 76,000
Comprising: Commercial
= 216,108 216,108
Car Park
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As of 31 December 2018, the Group's investment properties in operation
achieved 9.21 million square meters in total GFA, plus another 9.43 million
square meters GFA under construction or planning, details of which are set
out below:

B EE TR/ BB EYE
Investment Properties Investment Properties
in Operation Under Construction or Planning

BRIET AR EEEmmE BT EiEiEEmEE
(FF772K) (FFF52K) C ) (FFK)
Total GFA  Attributable GFA Total GFA  Attributable GFA
(Sqm) (Sqm) (Sqm) (Sqm)
HIZHEE Total GFA 9,211,205 8,035,697 9,432,344 6,753,690
Heb comprising:  Commercial 4,877,965 4,197,912 5,060,583 3,648,926
278 Office 632,929 589,734 2,291,471 1,569,342
B IE Hotel 438,119 369,260 1,091,804 814,402
HA Others 3,262,192 2,878,791 988,486 721,020
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Investment properties, shopping malls in particular, are the Group's key
business focus. The upcoming two to three years will continue to be the
peak years for new openings of shopping malls. The Group will further
improve efficiency in construction and operation of investment properties to
ensure stable rental income growth and earnings sustainability.

LAND BANK

In Year 2018, the Group acquired 103 quality land parcels totaling 22.13
million square meters in GFA with a total land premium of RMB151.35 billion
(attributable land premium was RMB103.68 billion). As of 31 December 2018,
the total GFA of the Group’s total land bank amounted to 59.57 million
square meters, the regional breakdown of which is set out below:

MIREMIE  ESEEEE

(FFHXK) (FFAK)

Total GFA  Attributable GFA
[ 12 Region (Sam) (Saqm)
L KE North China Region 11,405,876 8,605,746
ERAR East China Region 10,875,640 6,829,210
=N South China Region 13,709,256 9,220,374
Eijip N West China Region 9,443,366 8,262,662
HitKE Northeast China Region 5,258,327 5,175,896
BN Central China Region 8,807,322 6,640,715
=i Others 73,175 70,801
a5t Total 59,572,962 44,805,404

EBHBEMBRAT CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED 033



BT

THRERARBERENRSEERE-—FSHET
A -BHE_T-N\F+-_A=+—8 ~%H
T B EE R T0EMT -

AR ERBFBRENGREBEELAEBHOR
BHEORRT  AEBEBREXEFERFTE - &
RAITHBEBERER - KIEENRILER
RERE BBAZELCIHEREDRTRN &
BRI IR R T A AR B B K B R ER AR
TR ERFIHMFEES  SEBAEEN
ERERMINGF B E R

B kAR - ik -

FEE 5 )k B ol B
HE_Z-N\F+_A=+—0 KEEHKAE
BETAARE13228T - MEMBITHEFIA
AREIN7EIL FHEEAGERIEERE(BED
YREER) L EA33.9%  BW_-_T—+FRED
35.9% /M@ TN FE o

KREBR-_Z—N\F=ZANLBZKAREGET
TR EEIRET  ZEANEAEF5.38% °

AEER —T—N\FMOA - HERARKEIRT
BEATHREET HhARBSETLIFHRER
MEBFFL98% AR5 EILSFHREEA X
RHEEF523% e

REBR-Z—NFE-B+NBTKSEETE
IMEHEETT EFR3BERSSFHERFNRAE
F3.75% ' SEETTIOFHEEmH R EETFEL125% °

HE-_Z-N\F+-_A=+—0 KEHFAR
BERABEMO 527%  BEERBEAET QO
7% EEREEN —FANEE  ME#S AR
BERAEBE AEBESKAMBEFEITEARK
KE - RZZE—NEFE+-A=+—BHNEFLH
BE AL 5 4.47% °

034

Sufficient land bank further reinforced the Group’s sustainable growth in the
future. As of 31 December 2018, the Group's geographic presence extended
to 70 cities all over the world.

Looking ahead, while maintaining a healthy financial position and within
certain target capital structure constraints, the Group will strictly follow its
financial return criteria to replenish quality land bank at low cost through
diversified land bank channels. The Group will allocate resources with
geographic focus to match its development strategies and business model.
Land bank replenishment will be funded by the Group's internal resources
together with external financing.

LOANS, DEBT RATIOS, ASSET PLEDGE AND
FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

As of 31 December 2018, the Group's total debt was RMB132.2 billion
equivalent while its cash and bank balance amounted to RMB70.97 billion.
The Group's net interest-bearing debt to equity ratio (including minority
interests) was 33.9%, slightly lower than 35.9% as of end of 2017.

On 9 March 2018, the Group completed the issuance of RMB6.0 billion
onshore medium term notes with a term of 3 years at a coupon rate of 5.38%
per annum.

On 2 April 2018, the Group completed the issuance of RMBA4.0 billion onshore
medium term notes, of which RMBO.5 billion notes with a term of 3 years at
a coupon rate of 4.98% per annum, and RMB3.5 hillion notes with a term of 5
years at a coupon rate of 5.23% per annum.

On 19 February 2019, the Group completed the issuance of US$800 million
offshore medium term notes, of which US$300 million notes with a term of
5.5 years at a coupon rate of 3.75% per annum, and US$500 million notes
with a term of 10 years at a coupon rate of 4.125% per annum.

As of 31 December 2018, the Group’s hon-RMB net debt exposure accounted
for 22.7%. For the total interest-bearing debts, approximate 17% of the
interest-bearing debt is repayable within one year while the rest is long-term
interest-bearing debt. The Group maintained its borrowing cost at a sector-
low level, with the weighted average cost of funding at 4.47% as at 31
December 2018.
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EBHBEMBRAT CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

In Year 2018, the international credit rating agencies namely Standard and
Poor's, Moody's and Fitch maintained the Company credit ratings at “BBB+/
stable”,"Baal/stable” and "BBB+/stable” respectively.

As of 31 December 2018, the Group had total loan facilities of RMB29.78
billion through asset pledge with pledge tenor ranging from 3 to 14 years,
and the Group's total balance of asset-pledged loan was RMB15.90 billion.

As of 31 December 2018, the Group's had a cross currency swap contract
with a principal amount of HK$1.5 hillion (equivalent to RMB1.31 billion) for
hedging foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk, and an interest rate
swap contract with a principle amount of GBP85.8 million (equivalent to
RMBO.75 billion) for hedging interest rate risk. AS RMB exchange mechanism
becomes more market-oriented, RMB increasingly becomes a two-way
floating currency. However, the Group’s foreign exchange risk is manageable
which will not impose material impact on the Group's financial position. The
Group will closely monitor its exchange risk exposure and adjust its debt
profile when necessary based on market changes.

EMPLOYEE AND COMPENSATION POLICY

As of 31 December 2018, the Group had 46,518 full time employees in
Mainland China and Hong Kong (including property management and agency
subsidiaries). The Group remunerates its employees based on their
performance, working experience and market salary levels. In addition,
performance bonus is granted on a discretionary basis. Other employee
benefits include provident fund, insurance and medical coverage.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Temporary guarantees are provided to banks with respect to mortgage loans
procured by some purchasers of the Group’s properties. Such guarantees
will be released by banks upon the issuance of the real estate ownership
certificate to the purchasers or the receipt of mortgaged loan by the
purchasers, whichever is earlier. In the opinion of the Board, the fair value of
these financial guarantee contracts is insignificant.
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Mr. Tang Yong, aged 47

joined the Company in 2001 and was appointed as
Managing Director of the Company in June 2013 and Vice
Chairman of the Company in November 2014, and ceased
to be the Vice Chairman of the Board of the Company and
was appointed as the CEO of the Company on 4 December
2018, and ceased to be the CEO of the Company and was
appointed as the Chairman of the Board of the Company on
12 February 2019. He is responsible for leading the Board of
the Company and formulating the strategies and policies of
the Group. He is also the chairman of the Nomination
Committee, the Executive Committee and the Corporate
Social Responsibility (“CSR”) Committee and a member of
the Corporate Governance Committee of the Company. Mr.
Tang is also a director of a number of subsidiaries of the
company.

Mr. Tang has a Bachelor’s degree of Engineering in
Industrial and Electrical Automation from Tongji University
in China and an MBA degree from the University of San
Francisco in the United States. Mr. Tang has extensive
experience in property management and corporate
management. He joined China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited in 1993, and had worked for China
Resources Property Management Limited.

Mr. Li Xin, aged 47

joined the Company in 2001 and was appointed as a Co-
president of the Company in July 2016, and he was
appointed as an Executive Director of the Company in April
2017, and was appointed as the President of the Company
on 4 December 2018. He is responsible for the day-to-day
operations of the Group. He is also a member of the
Nomination Committee, the Corporate Governance
Committee, the Executive Committee and the CSR
Committee of the Company. Mr. Li is also a director of a
number of subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Li has a Bachelor’'s degree of Management from
Dongbei University of Finance & Economics and a Master of
Science degree in Project Management from Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. Mr. Li has extensive experience in
property management and corporate management. He
joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in
1994, and had worked for China Resources Property
Management Limited.
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EBHBEMBRAT CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

Mr. Zhang Dawei, aged 50

joined the Company in 2006 and was appointed as a Co-
president of the Company in July 2016, and he was
appointed as an Executive Director in April 2017, and was
appointed as the Vice Chairman of the Board of the
Company on 4 December 2018. He is also a member of the
Executive Committee of the Company. Mr. Zhang is also a
director of a number of subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Zhang has a Bachelor’s degree of Structural Engineering
and a Master’s degree of Earthquake Engineering from
Dalian University of Technology, and an EMBA degree from
China Europe International Business School in China. Mr.
Zhang has extensive experience in property management
and corporate management. Mr. Zhang joined China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 1994, and had
worked for China Resources Construction Co., Limited.

Mr. Xie Ji, aged 46

joined the Company in 2001 and was appointed as a Senior
Vice President of the Company in June 2013 and an
Executive Director of the Company in April 2017, and is
responsible for strategy, investment and operation. He is
also a member of the Executive Committee of the
Company. Mr. Xie is also a director of a number of
subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Xie has a Bachelor’s degree in Civil Engineering from
Tongji University in China, and an EMBA degree from China
Europe International Business School in China. Mr. Xie has
extensive experience in property management and
corporate management. Mr. Xie joined China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited in 1993, and had worked for
China Resources Construction Co., Limited.
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Mr. Shen Tongdong, aged 51

joined the Company in 2005, and was appointed as a Senior
Vice President and Chief Information Officer of the
Company in July 2016, who was also in charge of the
information technology department and China Resources
Property Technology Services Limited, and he was
appointed as executive director of the Company on 4
December 2018, in charge of Finance Department of the
Company, no longer in charge of property management
business of the Company, he is also a member of the
Executive Committee of the Company. Mr. Shen is also a
director of a number of subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Shen has a Bachelor’s degree of Accounting from
Shanghai University of Finance and Economics and a MBA
degree from the University of San Francisco in the United
States. Mr. Shen joined China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited in 1991, and had worked in its Audit
Department and China Resources (Shenzhen) Company
Limited.

Mr. Wu Binggqi, aged 47

joined the Company in 2007 and was appointed as a Senior
Vice President of the Company and the General Manager of
the Company’s West China Region in October 2013, and
was appointed as executive director of the Company on 12
February 2019. He is also a member of the Executive
Committee of the Company. Mr. Wu is also a director of a
number of subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Wu has a Bachelor’s degree of Industrial and Civil
Architecture Engineering from Tongji University in China,
and an MBA degree from the University of South Australia
in Australia. Mr. Wu has extensive experience in property
and corporate management. Mr. Wu joined China
Resources (Holding) Company Limited in 1993, and had
worked for China Resources Property Management Limited.

—E-NEE®RE ANNUAL REPORT 2018



ME %S HEL LK
R=ANARF-_RAEZERARAH
TER R_BETREF_ARBRE
WTEF HELRTER(REA
RAomlz@zeBER - BEER
—NANAFE+_AZE_FTTXRE=A
HEAEREE (B BR AR ZH
TEEURE_ZERF=-AZ_F
—NFUARERZARBERITES -
RZABNBEEMAXZMAERARE
R LT e

BEERAETREILERKREEZRELE
UREBR=ZEMARTIHEREREL
B R — N N\EFMAFEE(EER)
BRAR -

BREE T4 - HFENF/ ik
RZE—ZFNAEZTAERARE
WITES - M AEBKRIERER
ANE - EERRIERERA R RES
BOERBRARZIENTES I
PR _FE——_FHRAZZT—AFWA
HEEEERERER) BRARZ
ENTEZ - ZERAIREBHER
SEHBRARBERLET RAEEBZ
T——F+tAREZTAEN(RE)
ERATEFREBEER =T —F+
PREZTABBEEIBLE - &
EEBETERNELZRSM ETZ
EH-NEEZROBRARRIELES
BERGI Mz EHEBREERNG
ERARMES - REEGTERD
E¥BRNBERARNENITES  Z2
ANBEEBARSIIER AR ERR
FYBEHFR B L™ - BAEETER
—hWNA=FLBRE-_EZT-_F=AR
EHEEGER)BRATEFEEL
T2AT - EE KB RREDLERRIIT
EFo I MMATERZTZEF=
AE-ZT——F+AREESH(ILR)
BHBERAREITESELEERN S
TEE_F_AZ_FTETRNF_ARK
NAELESE -

REER—NN=FEFEBFEKRE
BEEESBBLBURR _TTLF
EEEA R RB TR EIRER LM -
BREENR—NN=FMAFEBHEE -

EBHBEMBRAT CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

Mr. Yan Biao, aged 57

was appointed as an Executive Director of the Company in
February 1996 and was re-designated as Non-Executive
Director in February 2006. Mr. Yan is the Chief Legal Officer
of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited. Mr. Yan is
also an Executive Director from December 1994 to March
2006 and a Non-Executive Director from March 2006 to
April 2016 of China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company
Limited, which is listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. Yan has a Bachelor of Laws degree from the Peking
University, China and an MBA degree from the University of
San Francisco, USA. He joined China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited in 1985.

Mr. Chen Ying aged 48

was appointed as a Non-executive Director of the Company
in June 2012. He is also a Non-executive Director of China
Resources Cement Holdings Limited, China Resources Gas
Group Limited and China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited, and was the Non-executive Director of
China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited from
May 2012 to April 2016. These companies are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
He was appointed as the Chief Strategy Officer of China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in July 2013 and the
General Manager of its Strategy Management Department
in October 2011. Mr. Chen was a Director of China
Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange) and China Resources
Double-Crane Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange). He was also a Non-executive
director of China Vanke Co., Ltd. which is listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange. He has worked as Project
Engineer, Project Manager and Manager of Procurement
Department and Executive Director of China Resources
Construction (Holdings) Limited, from September 1993 to
March 2002. Besides, he was also the Managing Director of
China Resources Land (Beijing) Limited from March 2002 to
October 2011 and a Director of the Company from March
2003 to February 2006.

Mr. Chen obtained a Bachelor’s degree of Architectural
Management from the Tsinghua University, China in 1993
and a Master’s degree of Business Administration from
University of Oxford, the United Kingdom, in 2007. Mr. Chen
joined China Resources Group in 1993.
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Mr. Wang Yan, aged 47

was appointed as a Non-executive Director of the Company
in August 2014 and he is also a member of the Audit
Committee of the Company. Mr. Wang joined China
Resources National Corporation (now known as China
Resources Company Limited) in July 1994. Mr. Wang was
appointed as a Director of China Resources Gas Limited in
November 2005. He was a Deputy General Manager of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited from September
2007 to April 2012. He was a Deputy General Manager of
the Internal Audit Department of China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited from April 2012 to January 2016 and was
appointed as the General Manager in February 2016. He
was a Non-executive Director of China Resources Beer
(Holdings) Company Limited (formerly known as China
Resources Enterprise, Limited) from August 2014 to April
2016. He was appointed as a Non-executive Director of
China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited, China
Resources Cement Holdings Limited and China Resources
Gas Group Limited in August 2014 and a Non-executive
Director of China Resources Medical Holdings Company
Limited (formerly known as China Resources Phoenix
Healthcare Holdings Company Limited) in November 2016.
These companies are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. Wang holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Economics from the
Capital University of Economics and Business, a Master of
Business Administration Degree from the University of
South Australia and is a qualified PRC Certified Accountant.
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EBHBEMBRAT CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

Mr. Chen Rong, aged 46

was appointed as a Non-executive Director of the Company
in April 2017 and he is also a member of the Audit
Committee of the Company. Mr. Chen joined China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in May 2007 and
was appointed as General Manager of the Finance
Department of China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited in February 2016. He was appointed as a non-
executive director of China Resources Beer (Holdings)
Company Ltd. (formerly known as China Resources
Enterprise, Limited) in April 2016, a director of China
Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited in May 2016 and
a non-executive director in June 2016, shares of which are
listed companies on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited. He was deputy general manager and
chief financial officer of China Resources Vanguard Co., Ltd.
between September 2014 and January 2016 and was senior
tax manager of China Resources Vanguard Co., Ltd.
between May 2007 to June 2008.

Mr. Chen holds a MBA degree from the Xi'an Jiaotong
University and he is a Certified Public Accountant, an
Intermediate Accountant and a Certified Tax Agent in China.
He has previously worked in Epson Technical Limited,
Walmart China Investment Limited and Fuji Electric
Technical Services Limited.

Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco, aged 74

was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company in September 2005. He also serves as the
chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee and a
member of Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and CSR Committee of the Company.

Mr. Ho is a graduate from the Department of Architecture
of University of Hong Kong. He worked in several renowned
architectural practices in UK and HK before founding hpa
(previously known as Ho & Partners Architects Engineers
and Development Consultants Limited) in 1980. He is
Authorized Person (Architect) Hong Kong, Member of Hong
Kong Institute of Architects and of Royal Institute of British
Architects. The projects he designed can be found in
Mainland China, Hong Kong, United Kingdom, India, South-
East Asia and Middle East, he has published a book called
“Building in China”.
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Mr. Andrew Y. Yan, aged 617

was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company in July 2006. He also serves as the
chairman of the Company’s Remuneration Committee and
a member of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee
and Corporate Governance Committee of the Company. He
is the Founding Managing Partner of SAIF Partners. Prior to
joining SAIF Partners, he was the Managing Director and
Head of Hong Kong office of Emerging Markets Partnership,
the management company of AIG Asian Infrastructure
Funds from 1994 to 2001. From 1989 to 1994, he worked in
the World Bank, the Hudson Institute and the US Sprint
International Corporation as an Economist, Research Fellow
and Director of Strategic Planning and Business
Development for the Asia Pacific Region respectively in
Washington D.C.. From 1982 to 1984, he was the Chief
Engineer at the Jianghuai Airplane Corp..

Mr. Yan received a Bachelor's degree in Engineering from
Nanjing Aeronautic Institute in 1982. He studied in the
Master Program in Department of Sociology of Peking
University from 1984 to 1986 and received a Master of Arts’
Degree from Princeton University in International Political
Economy in 1989. He also studied advanced finance and
accounting courses at the Wharton Business School in
1995.
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EBHBEMBRAT CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

Currently, Mr. Yan is also a Non-executive Director of
Guodian Technology & Environment Group Corporation
Limited (listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited), He is also an Independent Director of Blue Focus
Communication Group (listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange
— Growth Enterprise Market) and TCL Corporation (listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange); and a Director of ATA
Inc. (listed on Nasdaq). Besides, Mr. Yan was an
Independent Non-executive Director of CPMC Holdings
Limited (from 17 March 2014 to 31 August 2016), Cogobuy
Group (from 18 July 2014 to 1 June 2017) and China
Petroleum & Chemical Corporation (from 11 May 2012 to 15
May 2018); a Non-executive Director of Digital China
Holdings Limited (from 19 December 2007 to 30 June 2016)
Ozner Water International Holding Limited (from 28 March
2017 to 26 September 2017), eSun Holdings Limited (from 1
September 2011 to 7 January 2019) and China Huiyuan Juice
Group Limited (from 28 July 2010 to 30 January 2019) (all
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, other
than that China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation is also
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, London Stock
Exchange and New York Stock Exchange). Mr. Yan was also
an independent director of Sky Solar Holdings Limited (listed
in Nasdaaq) (from 13 November 2014 to 1 June 2017) and a
Director of ATA Online (Beijing) Education Technology Co.,
Ltd (from 16 July 2015 to 30 August 2018) (Its shares were
withdrawn from listing on the national Equities Exchange
and Question System in China on 10 October 2017).
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Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter, aged 66

was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company in March 2009. He also serves as the
chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the
Remuneration Committee and Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company. Mr. Wan has extensive
experience in auditing and financial management. He is a
former partner of PricewaterhouseCoopers Hong Kong.

Mr. Wan is currently an Independent Non-executive Director
of several companies listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited and chairman/member of their Audit
committees, namely Fairwood Holdings Limited, Harbin
Bank Company Limited, Huaneng Renewables Corporation
Limited, Kerry Logistics Network Limited, KFM Kingdom
Holdings Limited, Target Insurance (Holdings) Limited and
Shanghai Pharmaceuticals Holding Company Limited. Mr.
Wan is also an independent director of China World Trade
Center Co., Ltd. (@ company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange). Mr. Wan had also served as an Independent
Director of Mindray Medical International Limited (a
company listed on the New York Stock Exchange, USA), and
RDA Microelectronics, Inc. (a company listed on the
NASDAQ), and the chairman of their Audit Committees,
Independent Non-executive Director of Real Gold Mining
Limited and GreaterChina Professional Services Limited.
Besides, he was an independent non-executive director of
Dalian Port (PDA) Company Limited until 28 June 2017 and S.
Culture International Holding Limited until 10 July 2017; he
was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
A-LIVING SERVICES CO., LTD. on 21 August 2017; he was
also appointed as an independent non-executive director of
Haitong International Securities Group Limited on 19 June
2018 (all listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited). Mr. Wan is a Fellow of Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Accountants, the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of
Directors.
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EBHBEMBRAT CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

Mr. Zhong Wei, aged 50

was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company in April 2017. He is also a member of the
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and CSR Committee of the Company. Mr. Zhong
has been a professor at the Department of Economics at
Beijing Normal University since 2003. Prior to that, Mr.
Zhong had served as an associate professor at Department
of Economics at Beijing Normal University from 1999 to
2003. Mr. Zhong worked as a lecturer at the Business
School of Jiangnan University from July 1994 to July 1997.
Mr. Zhong also served as an assistant engineer at Wuxi
Alarm Devices Factory from July 1990 to July 1992.

Mr. Zhong graduated from Nanjing University in 1990
majoring in applied physics and from Southeast University
in 1994 majoring in industrial economics management. Mr.
Zhong received his Doctor’s degree in 1999 from Beijing
Normal University majoring in international economics.
Between September 2001 and July 2004, Mr. Zhong
engaged in postdoctoral research in management science
at Tongji University. Mr. Zhong was an independent director
of Dongxing Securities Company Limited, the shares of
which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Currently,
Mr. Zhong also serves as an independent director for
Fudian Bank Co., Ltd. and independent non-executive
director of Future Land Development Holdings Limited, the
shares of which are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.
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Mr. Sun Zhe, aged 53

was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company in April 2017. He is also a member of the
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and CSR
Committee of the Company. Mr. Sun is currently the co-
director of China Program and senior visiting scholar at the
School of International and Public Affairs of Columbia
University. He is the founding director of the Center for U.
S.-China Relations at Tsinghua University and was a
professor of International Affairs and doctoral supervisor of
Tsinghua University from 2006 to 2016. Prior to that, he was
a professor and deputy director of the Center for American
Studies at Fudan University from 2000 to 2006. Professor
Sun has taught at the East Asian Institute, Columbia
University and Ramapo College, New Jersey. He is the
author and editor of twenty-three books on comparative
politics and U.S.-China relations.

Mr. Sun obtained a Bachelor’s and a Master’s degree in law
from Fudan University in 1987 and 1989 respectively and
obtained a Doctor's degree in political science from
Columbia University in 2000. He also obtained a Master of
Art degree majoring in political science from Indiana State
University in 1992. Since September 2010, Mr. Sun serves
as an independent non-executive director of MGM China
Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. Zhang Ligiang, aged 53

was appointed as a Senior Vice President and the Chief
Human Resources Officer of the Company when he joined
the Company in April 2017. Mr. Zhang has a Master’s
degree of Law from China University of Political Science and
Law. He joined China Resources (Holding) Company Limited
in 2010, and had worked as Deputy Director of Human
Resources department and Director of supervision
department. Prior to that, he worked in Beijing Municipal
Government and Beijing Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd..
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EBHBEMBRAT CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

Mr. Chi Feng, aged 46

joined the Company in 2006, and was appointed as a Senior
Vice President of the Company in June 2013, and he is in
charge of the property management business of the
Company. Mr. Chi has a Bachelor’s degree of International
Economic Law from Jilin University in China, and an EMBA
degree from China Europe International Business School.
Mr. Chi has experience in property and corporate
management. Mr. Chi joined China Resources (Holding)
Company Limited in 1999, and had worked for China
Resources Shanghai Co., Limited and China Resources Sun
Hung Kai Properties (Wuxi) Limited.

Mr. Kong Xiaokai, aged 50

joined the Company in 2005, and was appointed as a Senior
Vice President of the Company in July 2016 and is also the
chairman of the South China Region of the Company. Mr.
Kong holds the double Bachelor’s degree in Construction
Management Engineering and Computer Science and
Technology from Tsinghua University in China, and also a
Master’s degree in Construction Economics and
Management from the Department of civil engineering of
Tsinghua University in China. Mr. Kong has experience in
property development and corporate management. He
joined China Resource (Holding) Company Limited in 2000,
and had worked for China Resources (Shenzhen) Co.,
Limited and China Resources Sun Hung Kai Properties
(Hangzhou) Limited.

Mr. Yu Linkang, aged 47

joined the Company in 2005, and was appointed as a Senior
Vice President in December 2018, in charge of the
Commercial Real Estate Department of the Company.

Mr. Yu has a Bachelor’s degree of Hotel Management from
Beijing International Studies University and an MBA from
Wright State University in Ohio, the United States. Mr. Yu
has extensive experience in property management and
corporate management. Mr. Yu joined China Resources
(Holding) Company Limited in 1992, and had worked for
China Resources Property Management Limited and China
Resources (Shenzhen) Limited.

047



AN
—

tEE

I
>_<II|

nﬂ}

e S gl
ARRIREERE(THEFE ) REEIRY
CEERFRIIERF « ARRRMER RIFHD
EERKFHRAEERAREREHRNEER
Mo RABERMTEMEZZAAR AR ([H
R ES ETRAN(T ETR AL M 8%+ mAE
MERERTAI([REERSTA) -

R-E-NF-A—BE-_Z-\F+-AMH
HA - $ AEIEXEROTEEEELE—EA
HERLREREEGCAFRE XRAKARE
ERBHEERR - I FAR - RARLEERE
EARREFRMBAREZEZEEEF - BBL
AR-E-\F+ - ANBERIBEEALQFE

BREITRIYEZERRRRBRERITE K=
E-NF AT -HETHESARRBERERT
BEREZERAAREEFTIEREREZEST
o IRESFETFLABAEEEE RBERDN
BE ARARRTEEFMEER T N\F
TZAMNBRZERELRREE BEEARFH
BEBEE -

B BB ARARERN - E—\F—H—H
BT N\FT_A=t+—HILHREBETEES
AT RIFIER Z <7 RIES

HHZBHRZY
EF2CRMLETRAMETAEZCETETA
ERETEFRINEETAD(RETRDER
ARRBER(ER)ETESFRXHZTH - £A
MEEEEHEESAR  ARABRE_F
—N\FERAF2EFRZETRETRFE#Z
HELER o

048

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company and the board of directors of the Company (the “Board"”) are
committed to establishing good corporate governance practices and
procedures. The Company recognizes the importance of maintaining high
standards of corporate governance to the long-term stable development of
the Group. The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code") set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”).

From 1 January 2018 to 4 December 2018, Mr. Tang Yong, vice chairman and
executive director of the Company, continued to effectively preside over the
daily operations and management of the Board and was responsible for
managing the Company’s daily operations at the same time. Besides, Mr. Wu
Xiangdong remained as Chairman of the nomination committee after his
resignation as the Chairman of the Company during the year. Mr. Tang Yong
ceased to be the Vice Chairman of the Board of the Company and was
appointed as the CEQ of the Company on 4 December 2018, and ceased to
be the CEO of the Company and was appointed as the Chairman of the
Board and the Chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Company on
12 February 2019. He is responsible for leading the Board of the Company
and formulating the strategies and policies of the Group. Mr. Li Xin, an
executive Director, was appointed as the President of the Company on 4
December 2018. He is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the
Company.

Save for the above arrangements, the Company has complied with the code
provisions set out in CG Code for the period from 1 January 2018 to 31
December 2018.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Board has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules as code of conduct regarding securities transactions of the
directors of the Company (“Directors”). The Company, having made specific
enquiry of all Directors, confirmed that they have complied with the required
standards set out in the Model Code regarding their securities transactions
during 2018.
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EBHBEMBRAT CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the formulation of strategies, objectives and
business plans for the Company, and to supervise and control the
implementation of strategies of the Company and its operations and financial
performance, and formulation of appropriate risk control policies and
procedures to ensure the achievement of the Company’s strategic
objectives. In addition, the Board is also responsible for maintaining a high
standard of corporate governance of the Company. The Directors are
accountable for promoting the success of the Company and making
decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company.

In order to maintain a highly efficient operation, as well as flexibility and
Swiftness in operational decision-making, the Board, when necessary, may
delegate its managing and administrative powers to the management, and
provide clear guidance regarding such delegation so as to avoid seriously
impeding or undermining the overall capabilities of the Board in exercising its
powers. The management meets regularly to review the strategic goals,
corporate structure, operating procedures, budget implementation, major
projects and business plans of the Company. Duties and authorities
delegated to the various board committees are described in the respective
sessions below.

The Board should have a balance of skills and experience appropriate for the
requirements of the business of the Company. A balanced composition of
executive directors and non-executive directors helps to ensure the
independence of the Board and enables the Board to make independent
judgments effectively. The operation and management of the Board and the
day-to-day management of the Company’s business should be clearly
divided at the Board level to ensure that there is a balance of power and
authority and that power will not be concentrated in any one individual.

BOARD COMPOSITION

With effect from 4 December 2018, the following changes to the Board took
place: (1) Mr. Yu Jian resigned as Executive Director, Chief Financial Officer
and a member of executive committee of the Company (the “Executive
committee”); (2) Mr. Shen Tongdong was appointed as Executive Director
and a member of Executive Committee; (3) Mr. Tang Yong has ceased to be
the Vice Chairman of the Board of the Company and has been appointed as
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company; (4) Mr. Li Xin has been appointed
as the President of the Company and (5) Mr. Zhang Dawei has been
appointed as the Vice Chairman of the Board of the Company.
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As at 31 December 2018, the Board comprised 15 Directors, including é
Executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wu Xiangdong, Mr. Tang Yong (CEQ), Mr. Li
Xin (President), Mr. Zhang Dawei (Vice Chairman), Mr. Xie Ji and Mr. Shen
Tongdong; 4 non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Yan Biao, Mr. Chen Ying,
Mr. Wang Yan and Mr. Chen Rong; and 5 independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Andrew Y. Yan, Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco, Mr. Wan Kam
To, Peter, Mr. Zhong Wei and Mr. Sun Zhe. Members of the Board are not
related to each other, including financial, business, family or other material
relationship. The number of independent non-executive Directors represents
one third of the Board as required under Rule 3.10(A) of the Listing Rules
throughout the year ended 31 December 2018.

As at 31 December 2018, the Board’s composition under major diversified
perspectives was summarized as follows:

50-59 60-70 ||>70

6-10 >10

050

5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 183 14 15

EEHE
Number of Directors

ZE-N\EE®RSE ANNUAL REPORT 2018



Q

M

A

T-NF_AT B BEFSBLUTES:
AREEBEARRBNTESRTY - RKE
ZEGIFE CEXEARZBEKBRNT
KE QEBELERZERARAESS
REREGIRE  URTBEEERERT
MELEZERARATCEEREESR
WRFHEEREZERELTRTERER

7

M & o |

MR

\

)
E)

X 1 R 3

A

u
$or

B o

# F m
il

=\
1
W
]

RIZ-NF=ZA-+R B EFSEHLEUTE
B NEFERLILELEEEZES  QFER
EEBZERARFLEHEEERREER
QFMAELRZERARRAREBZEEREERMT
BEAZEERE  WFREEETBEEAR

AREZBENRE  OFBEREETBEEIAR
FIERZEENBREZERARRARLELER
TZEGKE  OERLETHBEERRFLE
EREEGREZERARRILELEEHREEZE
BRE ROBREEETBEELARAREESR
GREEERZRENBREZERARALRE
HEETZEEKE -

RARER  EFTEHMTARESER  BEX
F2RTESE NEBEL(ZRE)  FTMEE(LL
) RAKKE(RIER)  HEELE  EERSE
ERRRBGTAE - MBIFNITES - EELE
RELL  FEERERRRELE  URABBI
FEMITESR - BIBEMEL - (ERELE - FiH
TE BREAERFLTELE BEEERE MY
EEABEERIERENSE  BF  REIEME
AHERER)  EFeXEREEAGETEHR A
REFIEEFI/AIEENEEEREABBE]
_ﬁﬁ o

EBHBEMBRAT CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

With effect from 12 February 2019, the following changes to the Board took
place: (1) Mr. Wu Xiangdong resigned as executive director, chairman of
nomination committee, members of corporate governance committee and
executive committee of the Company; (2) Mr. Tang Yong was appointed as
chairman of the Board and chairman of nomination committee of the
Company and ceased to act as CEO; (3) Mr. Li Xin was appointed as a
member of corporate governance committee of the Company; (4) Mr. Wu
Binggi was appointed as executive director of the Company and a member
of executive committee of the Company.

With effect from 26 March 2019, the following changes to the Board took
place: (1) The Board established a corporate social responsibility committee;
(2) Mr. Tang Yong was appointed as chairman of corporate social
responsibility committee of the Company; (3) Mr. Li Xin was appointed as
member of nomination committee and corporate social responsibility
committee of the Company; (4) Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter ceased to act as
member of nomination committee of the Company; (5) Mr. Ho Hin Ngai,
Bosco ceased to act as member of audit committee of the Company and
was appointed as member of corporate social responsibility committee of
the Company; (6) Mr. Zhong Wei ceased to act as member of corporate
governance committee of the Company and was appointed as member of
corporate social responsibility committee of the Company; and (7) Mr. Sun
Zhe ceased to act as members of nomination committee and corporate
governance committee of the Company and was appointed as member of
corporate social responsibility committee of the Company.

As of the date of this report, the Board comprised 15 Directors, including 6
Executive Directors, namely, Mr. Tang Yong (Chairman), Mr. Li Xin (President),
Mr. Zhang Dawei (Vice Chairman), Mr. Xie Ji, Mr. Shen Tongdong and Mr. Wu
Binggqi; 4 non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Yan Biao, Mr. Chen Ying, Mr.
Wang Yan and Mr. Chen Rong; and 5 independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Andrew Y. Yan, Mr. HO Hin Ngai, Bosco, Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter,
Mr. Zzhong Wei and Mr. Sun Zhe. Members of the Board are not related to
each other, including financial, business, family or other material relationship.
Members of the Board and their biographical details are set out in the
biographical details of Directors and senior management of the Company
section on pages 36 to 47 of this report.
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As of the date of this report, the Board’'s composition under major diversified
perspectives was summarized as follows:
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5 6 7 8 9 10 1M1 12 13 14 15
£54H
Number of Directors

As at 23 August 2013, the Company established “China Resources Land
Limited Board Diversity Policy” for diversity of the Board (“Board Diversity
Policy”), and the Company revised the Board Diversity Policy on 4 December
2018 pursuant to updated Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, which was
effective from 1 January 2019.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

Pursuant to code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all Directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the
Board remains informed and relevant.

The Company has put in place an on-going training and professional
development program for the Directors.

With effect from 1 April 2012, all Directors have been provided with monthly
updates on the Group’s business operation, position and prospects to enable
the Board and each Director to discharge their duties.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company has sent reading materials to Directors on regulatory updates or
information relevant to the Company or its business.
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out in below table:

The Company has received from all Directors records of their continuous
professional development trainings during the year, details of which are set

SEBEERE 2 KER
Type of continuous professional development
HEBBEALNT
S HEB & ERIANENE HREEERER
BB AMSKAER FEZIHE EERENTE
Reading regulatory Attending
updates or seminars on
information Visiting regulatory
relevant to the Company’s development
the Company or projects in and directors’
its business the PRC duties
RAIE Wu Xiangdong v v
E B Tang Yong v v v
E Li Xin v v v
R"AAE Zhang Dawei v v v
o OB Xie Ji (4 4 v
R (R —ZE—N\F Shen Tongdong (appointed on v v
+—ABEZRT) 4 December 2018)
= Yan Biao v v
BRE Chen Ying v
T E Wang Yan v v
PR Chen Rong v
FERE Wan Kam To, Peter v v v
B Andrew Y. Yan v v v
A B3k Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco v v v
#E # Zhong Wei 4 4 v
® & Sun zhe v v v
a BT N\F Yu Jian (resigned on v v v
+ = AMAET) 4 December 2018)

EHBEMBMRAE CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED
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BOARD AND GENERAL MEETINGS

Five Board meetings and one annual general meeting (“AGM") of the
Company were held during Year 2018. The attendance of each Director at

the meetings is set out as follows:

2eH RRAFRE
ESEGE Name of Director Board Meeting AGM
HiTEE Executive Directors
RAR Wu Xiangdong 1/5 0/1
B B Tang Yong 4/5 1/1
N Li Xin 4/5 11
RAA Zhang Dawei 4/5 0/1
EI Xie Ji 3/5 11
TER R Shen Tongdong' 0/0 0/0

(R=—Z—-NE+=-AMNBEEZEF) (appointed on 4 December 2018)
a1 &2 Yu Jian? 3/5 11
(R=Z—N\E+= AN &) (resigned on 4 December 2018)

HHITEE Non-Executive Directors
BB Yan Biao 2/5 0/1
BRE Chen Ying 3/5 0/1
T E Wang Yan 3/5 0/1
(GRS Chen Rong 4/5 0/1
BIIHTES Independent Non-Executive Directors
Fi8H Wan Kam To, Peter 4/5 11
B Andrew Y. Yan 3/5 0/1
) ZE3% Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco 4/5 01
e Zhong Wei 3/5 0/1
®r ' Sun zhe 4/5 1/1

! ZERIANVERTEES SR MEAFRE

: RERANABGEREFERH  RARE
BEAE -
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! There was no board meetings and AGM held during the tenure of the Director;

2 There were five board meetings held during the tenure of the Director; and one
AGM held during the tenure of the Director.
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EBHBEMBRAT CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

From 1 January 2018 to 4 December 2018, Mr. Tang Yong, an executive
Director, assumed the role of Vice Chairman of the Board and he was also
responsible for managing the Company’s daily operations. Mr. Tang Yong
ceased to be the Vice Chairman of the Board and was appointed as the CEO
of the Company on 4 December 2018, and ceased to be the CEO of the
Company and was appointed as the Chairman of the Board on 12 February
2019. He is responsible for leading the Board and formulating the strategies
and policies of the Group. Mr. Li Xin, an executive Director, was appointed as
the President of the Company on 4 December 2018. He is responsible for the
day-to-day operations of the Company.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL

All Directors entered into formal letters of appointment with the Company
for a term of three years and they are subject to re-election by shareholders
of the Company at AGM and at least once every three years on a rotation
basis in accordance with Article 116 of the articles of association of the
Company. A retiring Director is eligible for re-election and re-election of
retiring Directors at AGMs is dealt with by separate individual resolutions.
Where vacancies arise at the Board, candidates are proposed and put
forward to the Board by the homination committee of the Company as more
fully explained below under the section on nomination committee.

BOARD COMMITTEES
AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established on 4 September 1998. As at 31 December 2018, all members of
the Audit Committee are either independent non-executive Directors or non-
executive Directors. Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter is the chairman of the committee
and other members include Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco, Mr. Andrew Y. Yan, Mr.
Zhong Wei and Mr. Sun Zhe, being the independent non-executive Directors
and Mr. Wang Yan and Mr. Chen Rong, being the non-executive Directors,
while Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter, Mr. Wang Yan and Mr. Chen Rong hold
accounting-related professional qualifications. As of the date of this report,
all members of the Audit Committee are either independent non-executive
Directors or non-executive Directors. Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter is the chairman
of the committee and other members include Mr. Andrew Y. Yan, Mr. Zzhong
Wei and Mr. Sun Zhe, being the independent non-executive Directors and
Mr. Wang Yan and Mr. Chen Rong, being the non-executive Directors, while
Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter, Mr. Wang Yan and Mr. Chen Rong hold accounting-
related professional qualifications.

055



RARRZE-N\F+_ANABI TEZEZE
SRESEE IR -T-NF-A—HREK-
ERZEOZIZRAERERERE  (VINE
REMNET EFZERERENEESRHRZ
ah - HEAE SIS R BT HO Fr BN BB AR ARAR - KRR
L1717 B o A SR i B i AR R A BRI 1O ) RE
REERT QRERNEEEERERINEX
BEORABUEBLIREEFREEEN 288
JE T R B T4 B 4 Al St B AR BRAD & e AR BN I
HEREWERBREML  EBA KBNS E
T BIERERMMPI BT - Q) BLIMNEZEED
REFZBRBHERE - T ARIT (BLULRE

[l —4E bk - AR EEE 2 TREREE
Z—EEBEMNEMEEEENNE =T £RIE
BRATEH EZEBERZEERBNATNA
TREREBE — 80 O EA#E) - UREE
AARBRITHHRENFTRRNEFTEREL IR
2 OEFRQANMBERRALFERSE MR
B FFEHRERERETE)FERENTENL -
WEMBREBEFEAEUFERBOERER
(O) et A R B 7% Ba A~ ER BRI N J B i IR A
B BERENmANEERS  BREEE
ERETREZYERNANEZRSR - SIHAT
EREAREE AU BERBETANER -
BTEEREREER  UWRBTHEXMNE
FIRIEREHEENESE  MEIPHEES
ENEK REBANEEEENSERHEER
MEEBHHEGERN L RETH @&
BZSEme TEEEN(ERBRFIARME) &
AT MBREREERGNERE
RHENEMEARAREEEBEHNEE  O)R
AR ERNEE LA BIRBCR - LR A ER A B
EOMNEZ BBV TR R 15 - ERAMEZD
REARAMARHERENE  YEFEENL
i : (10 MR ARENFPEZIIEE - BRERAEL
SMNES I BUEM B TAES Bt 38« th/BRER AR
WREEZETARNNERREREE YABHEE
HUHAL ¢ DA RS REERE AR (1) sl B/
HMBELEFBRLER  (1QERESE RELE
RINBAZ B4R T B 2B (B RIE N A A LI
PRENEE (1) ARRENATREE : 2
AlEE M BRI BER AR EENEMT®E
AREEENNEETRARHET  LERRKREE
B BARNHNEEEFHATBINRSE
FERBUEETTE - (14)EER R EINEZEED 2 M
MFrERER BEER_ECVANEER Z-F
REZERERUARAERANBITHBE - &K
ZESREREC EHNB LA R R

056

The Company revised terms of reference for Audit Committee on 4
December 2018, effective from 1 January 2019. The revised major duties of
the Audit Committee include: (1) to be primarily responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and
removal of the external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and the
terms of engagement of the external auditor, and any questions of its
resignation or dismissal; (2) to review and monitor the external auditor’s
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards, to discuss with the external auditor
before the audit commences, the nature and scope of the audit and
reporting obligations, and to ensure co-ordination where more than one
audit firm is involved; (3) to develop and implement policy on engaging an
external auditor to supply non-audit services (for this purpose, “external
auditor” includes any entity that is under common control, ownership or
management with the audit firm or any entity that a reasonable and informed
third party knowing all relevant information would reasonably conclude to be
part of the audit firm nationally or internationally), and to report to the Board,
identifying and making recommendations on any matters where action or
improvement is needed; (4) to monitor integrity of the Company's financial
statements and annual report and accounts, interim report and quarterly
financial highlights (or quarterly reports when required by the Listing Rules or
when deemed appropriate by the Company), and to review quarterly (as the
case may be) significant financial reporting judgments contained in them; (5)
to review the Company’s financial controls, risk management and internal
control systems; (6) to discuss the risk management and internal control
systems with management to ensure that management has performed its
duty to have effective systems, and evaluate every year whether such
systems are effective, sufficient and suitable. This evaluation should include
but not limited to all important aspects of internal controls (including
strategy, financial, operational, information technology, risk management,
legal and compliance controls etc.), the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programs and budget of the group’s
accounting and financial reporting function; (7) to consider major
investigation findings on risk management and internal control matters as
delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and the management’s
response to these findings; (8) to review the external auditor's management
letter, any material queries raised by the auditor to management about
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of controls and
management’s response; (9) to review and monitor the effectiveness of the
internal audit function, to ensure co-ordination between the internal and
external auditors, and to ensure that the internal audit function is adequately
resourced and has appropriate standing within the Company; (10) where an
internal audit function exists, to ensure coordination between the internal
and external auditors, and to ensure that the internal audit function is
adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the Company,
and to review and monitor its effectiveness, (11) to review the group’s
financial and accounting policies and practices; (12) to ensure that the Board
will provide a timely response to the issues raised in the external auditor’s
management letter; (13) to review arrangements employees of the Company
can use, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, internal control or other matters and to ensure that
proper arrangements are in place for fair and independent investigation of
these matters and for appropriate follow-up action; (14) to act as the key
representative body for overseeing the Company’s relationship with the
external auditor; etc. The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient
resources enabling it to perform its duties. The updated terms of reference
of the Audit Committee are posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.
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During the year under review, the Audit Committee held two meetings and
had reviewed the interim and annual results of the Group, discussed and
approved the relevant financial reports; it had also reviewed the Group's
internal control system, risk assessment result and internal audit activities.

Attendance of members of the Audit Committee in 2018 is set out as follows:

4 8%
LZEEKE Committee Members Attendance
BUIHITEE Independent Non-Executive Directors
FIRE(ZEETE) Wan Kam To, Peter (committee chairman) 2/2
Bk Andrew Y. Yan 1/2
EFEE Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco 2/2
F A Zhong Wei 2/2
# 7 Sun Zhe 2/2
IFRTTESE Non-Executive Directors
*F E Wang Yan 0/2
PR R Chen Rong 1/2

HMZE e REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

ARRFMEZEES((FMEZES DN _ZFTHF
MA+AKY - R=T—N\F+=ZA=+—Q "
FNEZEBENBARBUIFNITES - BIUIFH
TEFEUEERTFE  MEMKE BB LIE
HITESABRRLE  FRELELE  BEEER

FHMZEENIZRERE  OVRNEFFREA
AEELSMEREABNFTMERLRE UK
N e] 3% 37 IE AR 10 B35 BR R A9 A2 32 Il 7T 3 B BCR
MEZ: QNEFEERERNTEERSMRE
BABNHMTE -QREEEZEEMAILEEH
N BRimiRs REEEEMEHMES @) Bs
MHERRTEERSRERAEREREARE
LIRS EMANOEE O/ kitER
BEETRREMKBENERLERESEIS N
REZH  OMFRTEENFHRESSIRH
2 ROBRENESLETABREATFS
HETMACHFHMN - BREFBD LHRBRA
N R BIAEL  ARER] -

EBHBEMBRAT CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) was established on 7 April 2005. As at 31 December 2018, all
the members of the Remuneration Committee are independent non-
executive Directors. The independent non-executive Director Mr. Andrew Y.
Yan is the Chairman and other members include Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco, Mr.
Wan Kam To, Peter, Mr. Zhong Wei and Mr. Sun Zhe, all being independent
non-executive Directors.

Major duties of the Remuneration Committee include: (1) to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all
directors’ and the senior management remuneration, and the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy; (2)
to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management; (3) to review and
approve the management’'s remuneration proposals with reference to the
Company’s corporate goals and objectives; (4) to review and approve
compensation payable to the executive Directors and senior management
for any loss or termination of office or appointment; (5) to review and
approve compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of
Directors for misconduct; (6) to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors; and (7) to ensure that no Director
or any of his associates is involved in deciding his own remuneration, details
of which are available on the website of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee has determined
the policy for the remuneration of executive Directors, assessed
performance of executive Directors and senior management and reviewed
the incentive mechanism of the Company. There was one meeting held by
the Remuneration Committee to approve the increase in salaries, bonus and
the vesting plan of the mid-to-long term incentive scheme to executive
Directors and senior management during the year. In this regard, the
Remuneration Committee made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management of the Group for final adoption. The attendance at these
meetings are as follows:

RV EFRE=S
ZEEKE Committee Members Attendance
BB ITESFE Independent Non-Executive Directors
FiH Wan Kam To, Peter 11
B m(ZE2xE) Andrew Y. Yan (committee chairman) 11
[EIEE Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco 0/1
E 2 Zhong Wei 0/1
7 7 sun zhe 11
REBZE=ZZT—-\F+ZA=T—HLEFE & For the year ended 31 December 2018, the details of the remuneration of the
EIRAB 2B BRI BRI T - members of the senior management were as follows:
(AR¥FT)
(RMB'000)
e REMEF Salaries and other benefits 93,955
RIRBFIET I Contributions to retirement benefit schemes 1,640

Kt

a LieEEEABREARRRITERNAMS
EEEAR:

b FilmEEEAERBIMML2018F 11 A 2%
TEEEEAE  FMEIERBIEZAT20184
1M A22BE 2018412 A 31 BRIHEN :

c titEEBERABFAEIMIZ2018F 12 A4R1E

RANFBE - LB RBEZSEALT2018F1
B1BZE20184F12 A4 BRFE ©
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Notes:

a The above members of senior management included the executive directors
and other members of senior management of the Company;

b Included in the above members of senior management, there is one member
who was appointed effective from 22 November 2018. The above figures only
included his remuneration from 22 November 2018 to 31 December 2018:

c Included in the above members of senior management, there is one member

who resigned effective from 4 December 2018. The above figures only included
his remuneration from 1 January 2018 to 4 December 2018.
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The remuneration of the members of the senior management by band is set
out below:

AE
HENEE Remuneration band Number of persons
&4 AR 1,000,001 7T £ 3,000,000 7T RMB1,000,001 to RMB3,000,000 per annum 0
&4 AR 3,000,001 7T £ 5,000,000 7T RMB3,000,001 to RMB5,000,000 per annum 1
& AR 5,000,001 7T % 7,000,000 7T RMB5,000,001 to RMB7,000,000 per annum 0
B AR 7,000,001 7T E 9,000,000 7T RMB7,000,001 to RMB9,000,000 per annum 7
B AR 9,000,001 7T E 11,000,000 7T RMB9,000,001 to RMB11,000,000 per annum 3
& AR 11,000,001 7TE 13,000,000 7T RMB11,000,001 to RMB13,000,000 per annum 1

AREEHERAEESHFALZEZHE B
BEMRAME TR ZRERE - LR TBHR
=HIFF8 K9 °

REZHY
ARAREBZEG([REBZEG R _ZZTLF
ZA=+H8KY - RZZE—\FF+=ZA=+—81"
REZEENEXTERBIYINTEST ZEE
ERAVTESRARLE  MEMKERTE
WY IEMITEEFRELA  BMRELE - AR
Sok - BRAERFEBLE - NARER 2B
ZEENBEXERBIUYFNATES -ZECER
RVTEEEELXE  MEMKEBRERTES
TMEEARBIIERITEFTEM AL - MER
S REEE S -

EHBEMBMRAE CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

Further particulars regarding the directors” emoluments and the five highest
paid individuals as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the
Listing Rules are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”)
was established on 30 March 2007. As at 31 December 2018, a majority of
the members of Nomination Committee were independent non-executive
Directors. Executive Director Mr. Wu Xiangdong was the Chairman, and other
members included Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter, Mr. Andrew Y. Yan, Mr. Ho Hin
Ngai, Bosco, Mr. Zhong Wei and Mr. Sun Zhe, all being independent non-
Executive Directors. As of the date of this report, a majority of the members
of Nomination Committee are independent non-executive Directors.
Executive Director Mr. Tang Yong is the Chairman, other members include
Executive Director Mr. Li Xin and independent non-executive Directors Mr.
Andrew Y. Yan, Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco and Mr. Zhong Wei.
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The Company revised the terms of reference for Nomination Committee on
4 December 2018, effective from 1 January 2019. The revised major duties of
the Nomination Committee include: (1) to review the structure, size and
composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at
least annually and to make recommendations on any proposed changes to
the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy; (2) to develop
and maintain a nomination policy for the board of directors, including the
nomination procedures and the process and criteria adopted by the
Committee to identify, select and recommend candidates to become a
director of the Company, and to review regularly and disclose in the
Company's corporate governance report the policy and progress towards
achieving the objectives under the policy. The Committee should ensure that
the selection process is transparent and fair, and that it considers a wide
range of candidates who are outside of the Board's circle and in accordance
with the Company’s diversity policy, (3) to develop and maintain a diversity
policy for the board of directors, to review regularly the implementation of
the measurable objectives under the policy, and to disclose the diversity
policy (or a summary thereof), the measurable objectives and the progress
towards achieving those objectives in the Company’s corporate governance
report; (4) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members,
assess the suitability and qualification of the candidates for directorship
(including the perspectives, skills and experiences that the individual can
bring to the Board and how the individual can promote the diversity of the
Board), report to the Board on the assessment results, and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nhominated for
directorships; (5) to assess the independence of the independent non-
executive directors, having regard to the requirements under the Listing
Rules; (6) when identifying and nominating individuals to become
independent non-executive directors, to assess whether and why such
individuals can devote sufficient time to the Board if he/she will be holding
his/her seventh or more listed company directorships; and (7) to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of
directors and succession planning for directors, in particular, the chairman
and the chief executive/managing director. Details relating to terms of
references of the Nomination Committee are available on the website of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.
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EBHBEMBRAT CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

The Company revised the Board Diversity Policy on 4 December 2018,
effective from 1 January 2019. Pursuant to the updated Board Diversity
Policy, with a view achieve a sustainable and balanced development, the
Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element
in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable
development. In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge,
gender, age, ethnicity and length of service, to assess whether the skills,
experiences and diverse perspectives as well as the contribution that the
candidate can bring to the Board. All Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. Nomination
Committee of the Company will maintain the Board'’s diversity policy,
regularly review the implementation of the measurable objectives under this
diversity policy to ensure the effectiveness of such policy. The Board
Diversity Policy is available on the website of the Company.

The Company developed and adopted Director Nomination Policy on 4
December 2018, effective from 1 January 2019. Pursuant to the Director
Nomination Policy, Directors are appointed through formal, considered and
transparent procedure. The Nomination Committee will evaluate, select and
recommend candidate(s) for directorships to the Board by giving due
consideration to criteria including but not limited to: (1) Diversity in aspects
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;
(2) Qualifications, including accomplishment and experience in the relevant
industries the Company’s business is involved in and other professional
qualifications; (3) Commitment for responsibilities of the Board in respect of
available time and relevant interest; (4) Reputation for character and integrity;
(5) Contribution that the candidate(s) can potentially bring to the Board; and
(6) Plan(s) in place for the orderly succession of the Board. When evaluate
and recommend retiring Director(s) to the Board for re-appointment, the
Nomination Committee will further give due consideration to the overall
contribution and service of the retiring Director(s) to the Company, including
but not limited to the attendance of the meetings of the Board and/or its
committees and general meetings where applicable, in addition to the level
of participation and performance on the Board and/or its committees.
Besides, the Nomination Committee will evaluate and recommend
candidate(s) for the position(s) of the independent non-executive Directors of
the Company by giving due consideration to the factors including but not
limited to those set out in Rules 3.10(2) and 3.13 of the Listing Rules (as
amended from time to time). The Director Nomination Policy is available on
the website of the Company.
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members of CG Committee were independent non-executive Directors. The
independent non-executive Director Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco was the
Chairman of the CG Committee and other members included Mr. Wan Kam
To, Peter, Mr. Andrew Y. Yan, Mr. Zhong Wei, Mr. Sun Zhe, all being
independent non-executive Directors and Mr. Wu Xiangdong and Mr. Tang
Yong, being executive Directors. As of the date of this report, a majority of
the members of CG Committee are independent non-executive Directors.
The independent non-executive Director Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco is the
Chairman of the CG Committee and other members include Mr. Wan Kam
To, Peter and Mr. Andrew Y. Yan, all being independent non-executive
Directors and Mr. Tang Yong and Mr. Li Xin, being executive Directors.

Major duties of the CG Committee include: (1) to develop and review the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board; (2) to review and monitor the training and
continuous professional development of directors and senior management;
(3) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (4) to develop, review
and monitor the code of conduct applicable to employees and directors; and
(5) To review the Company’s compliance with the regular practice set out in
the “Corporate Governance Code” and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report, details of which are available on the website of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.
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During 2018, one meeting was held by the CG Committee to review and
monitor training and continuous professional development of Directors and
senior management as well as reviewing compliance with CG Code by the
Company and disclosure in CG Report. The attendance of the meeting is as
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The executive committee of the Company (the "Executive Committee”) was
established on 18 April 2017. As at 31 December 2018, all members of
Executive Committee were executive Directors. Executive Director Mr. Tang
Yong was the Chairman of the Executive Committee and other members
included Mr. Wu Xiangdong, Mr. Li Xin, Mr. Zhang Dawei, Mr. Xie Ji and Mr.
Shen Tongdong, all being executive Directors. As of the date of this report, all
members of Executive Committee are executive Directors. Mr. Tang Yong is
the Chairman of the Executive Committee and other members include Mr. Li
Xin, Mr. Zhang Dawei, Mr. Xie Ji, Mr. Shen Tongdong and Mr. Wu Binggi.

Major duties of the Executive Committee are listed as follows:

(1) within an aggregate cap of annual investment budget approved by the
Board, the Committee shall approve the following transactions (other
than a connected transaction) with a single transaction amount
representing 10% or below of the market value of the Company and
authorizing one or more Members to sign the relevant documents and
affix the common seal of the Company in connection with the
transaction:

(@  acquisition or disposal of assets (including land acquisition by
way of tender);
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granting, accepting, transferring, exercising or terminating an
option in respect of acquiring or disposing of assets or
subscribing for securities;

entering into or establishing Joint Venture Companies (whether
by way of partnership, corporation or otherwise);

providing indemnities, guarantees, financial assistance or
financing arrangement under US$2 billion;

approving the Company to make the following relevant announcement
and authorizing any one Member to make appropriate amendments to
such announcement and arrange its publication:

@)

announcement in respect of the transaction as set out in item (1)
of this clause which constitutes a discloseable transaction for
the Company under the Listing Rules,

announcement in respect of the loan agreement which is
subject to due performance of specific conditions by the
controlling shareholder as stipulated under Rule 13.18 of the
Listing Rules;

voluntary business update announcements, including
announcements on the update on land acquisitions, and
operational data, etc.,

other routine announcements made pursuant to the Listing
Rules, including monthly returns, and announcements of board
meeting dates and poll results for general meetings.

formulating the Company’s strategic and operational planning and
proposals such as strategic planning, business planning, etc.

executing any other specific matters delegated to the Committee by
the Board.
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During the year under review, the Executive Committee held two hundred
and fifty-nine meetings for the purpose of effective and timely management
of the Company’s day-to-day operation. Committee Chairman reported to
the Board on a quarterly basis and the resolutions passed by the Executive
Ccommittee through physical meeting or written document. Attendance of
members of the Executive Committee in 2018 is set out as follows:
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EHBEMBMRAE CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

! There were twenty-two meetings held during the tenure of the director; and
2 There were two hundred and thirty-seven meetings held during the tenure of
the director.

FORMATION OF CORPORATE SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY COMMITTEE

To further enhance the Company’s corporate governance, improve the
governance structure and refine the division of responsibilities of the Board,
a corporate social responsibility (“CSR") committee was formed by the
Company on 26 March 2019, to assist the Board in providing direction on and
overseeing the development and implementation of the CSR initiatives of the
Group. Mr. Tang Yong is the Chairman of the CSR committee, and other
members include Mr. Li Xin, Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco, Mr. Zhong Wei and Mr.
Sun Zhe. Key responsibilities of the CSR committee include:

(@)  corporate sustainability initiatives;
(b)  environmental protection initiatives; and

(c)  philanthropic and community investment initiatives.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
annual reports, interim reports and financial statements of the Company to
ensure that the financial statements give a true and fair presentation in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards. The statement by
the independent auditor about its reporting responsibilities relating to the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 101 to 109.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board highly values and has the overall responsibility for maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems to
safeguard the Group’s assets and stakeholders’ interests, as well as for
reviewing the effectiveness of the systems. To fulfill its responsibility, the
Board oversees management in the design, implementation and monitoring
of the risk management and internal control systems to ensure the
effectiveness of such systems through well-established organizational
structure, appropriate policies and procedures in place, as well as clearly
defined lines of authority and responsibility.

The Board oversees the Company’s risk management and internal control
systems on an ongoing basis. The Company amended the terms of reference
of the Audit Committee in 2015 to further enhance the risk management and
internal control functions of the Company. The Board assesses the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems through
the reviews performed by the Audit Committee, executive management,
internal audit department (“Internal Audit Department”) and external
auditors. For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Board reviewed the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control systems
including financial, operational and compliance controls, and confirmed that
the management has performed their duties to maintain effective risk
management and internal control systems, and has ensured the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions.

—E-NEE®RE ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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EBHBEMBRAT CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

The Company's Internal Audit Department is responsible to execute the risk
management and internal control functions, including but not limited to: (1)
organizing and guiding the Group’s all departments, regions and business
units to establish and improve the systems of risk management and internal
control, and carry on various work under such systems; (2) supervising and
inspecting implementation of risk management and internal control systems
in the Group's all departments, regions and business units, suggesting
rectification measures and monitoring the implementation of such measures
on an on-going basis; (3) establishing internal evaluation mechanism,
assessing the Group’s risk management and internal control, formulating an
impartial opinion on the systems, and reporting its findings to the Audit
Committee, the Chairman and the senior management concerned as well as
following up on all reports to ensure that all issues have been satisfactorily
resolved.

Features of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems
include the following:

. internal audit is independent from operational management;

o internal auditor is fully authorized with access to all operational and
financial data of the Group;

. internal auditor is well qualified and highly professional;

. implement real-time dynamic process risk management on areas with
significant risks including procurement and sales, with fully coverage
on operational procedures and business units of the Group; and

. target to identify and eliminate material risk of the Company, business
oriented risk screen process, whilst proactively promote system-risk
prevention to build effective risk management and internal control
systems.

The Board is responsible for handling and dissemination of inside
information. In order to ensure the market and stakeholders are timely and
fully informed about the material developments in the Company's business,
the Board has adopted the Inside Information Disclosure Policy regarding the
procedures of proper information disclosure. All staff members of the
Company must ensure that inside information is not communicated to any
external parties unless with approval from the Board. As such, staff members
of the Company shall not respond to market speculation and rumours unless
they are authorized. In addition, all external presentation materials or
publications must be pre-vetted before release.
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The Group’s risk management and internal control systems and procedures
are designed to identify, evaluate and manage significant risks, rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement,
errors, losses or fraud.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The Audit Committee reviews and monitors the independent auditor’s
independence and objectivity and effectiveness of the audit process. It
receives each year the letter from the independent auditor confirming their
independence and objectivity and holds meetings with representatives of the
independent auditor to consider the scope of its audit, approve its fees, and
the scope and appropriateness of hon-audit services, if any, to be provided
by it. The Audit Committee also makes recommendations to the Board on
the appointment and retention of the independent auditor.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Disclosure of the fees of Messrs. Ernst & Young is shown in Note 12 to the
financial statements. In the year ended 31 December 2018, a provision of
RMB4.50 million was made in the financial statements for service fee payable
to Messrs. Ermst & Young for the annual audit, review of interim financial
statements.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company's company secretary (“Company Secretary”), Mr. Lo Chi LiK,
Peter, is a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong. Although the Company Secretary
is not a full time employee of the Company, he reports to the Board and in
his capacity as Company Secretary advises the Board on governance
matters. The primary contact person of the Company with the Company
Secretary was Mr. Yu Jian, the Chief Financial Officer of the Company. After
Mr. Yu Jian's resignation on 4 December 2018, the primary contact person
has been Mr. Shen Tongdong, executive Director of the Company. The
Company Secretary has confirmed that he has attended at least 15 hours of
professional development in 2018.

—E-NEE®RE ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

CONVENING EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING
(“EGM”) AND PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT
GENERAL MEETINGS

Pursuant to Article 72 of the Articles of Association of the Company, the
Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an EGM. General meetings shall
also be convened on the written requisition of any two or more members of
the Company deposited at the registered office specifying the objects of the
meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists
hold as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company.

If the Board does not within twenty-one days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting, the requisitionists
themselves or any of them representing more than one-half of the total
voting rights of all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened
by the Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held after
the expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PROPOSE A
PERSON FOR ELECTION AS A DIRECTOR

Article 120 of the Articles of Association of the Company provides that no
person, other than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the
Board for election, be eligible for election to the office of Director at any
general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to propose that
person for election as a director and notice in writing by that person of his
willingness to be elected shall have been given to the Company provided
that the minimum length of the period, during which such notices are given,
shall be at least seven days. The period for lodgment of such notices shall
commence no earlier than the day after the dispatch of the notice of the
meeting appointed for such election and end no later than seven days prior
to the date of such meeting.
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Accordingly, if a shareholder of the Company wishes to nominate a person
to stand for election as a Director at a general meeting, the following
documents must be validly served on the Company Secretary at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong within the period
specified in Article 120 of the Articles of Association of the Company, namely
(1) his/her notice of intention to propose a resolution to elect a nominated
candidate as a Director at the general meeting which must include the name
of the nominating shareholder of the Company, his/her contact details and
the number of the Company’s ordinary shares held by the nominating
shareholder; (2) a notice signed by the nominated candidate of the
candidate’s willingness to be elected; (3) the nominated candidate’s
information as required to be disclosed under rule 13.51(2) of the Listing
Rules; and (4) the nominated candidate’s written consent to the publication
of his/her personal data.

The aforesaid procedures have been uploaded to the Company’s website.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company developed and adopted Dividend Policy on 4 December 2018,
effective from 1 January 2019, aiming to provide shareholders of the
Company with an annual dividend payout of not less than 20% of the Group’s
profit attributable to shareholders in any financial year, subject to the criteria
set out below. Such declaration and payment of dividends shall remain to be
determined at the absolute discretion of the Board and subject to all
applicable requirements (including without limitation restrictions on dividend
declaration and payment) under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands
and the Articles of Association of the Company.

In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also take into account the
following criteria, including: (1) the Group’s actual and expected financial
performance; (2) shareholders’ interests; (3) general business strategies; (4)
retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each of the
other members of the Group; (5) the Group’s indebtedness level, key
financial ratios (such as the Group's debt to equity ratio and return on equity)
and any financial covenants to which the Group is subject; (6) the Group’s
expected working capital requirements and future expansion plans; (7)
liquidity position and future commitments at the time of declaration of
dividend; (8) taxation considerations, and legal and regulatory restrictions; (9)
possible effects on the Group’s creditworthiness; (10) general economic
conditions, business cycle of the Group’s business and other internal or
external factors that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Company, and (11) other factors that the
Board deems appropriate.
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The Board may from time to time pay to the shareholders such interim
dividends subject to the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the
Articles of Association of the Company. Except in the case of interim
dividend, any dividends declared by the Company must be approved by an
ordinary resolution of shareholders at an annual general meeting and must
not exceed the amount recommended by the Board. Dividends may be
distributed in the form of cash or shares subject to and in accordance with
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the Articles of Association of
the Company. The Company will regularly review the Dividend Policy and
reserve the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or
modify the Dividend Policy at any time, and the Dividend Policy shall in no
way constitute a legally binding commitment by the Company that dividends
will be paid in any particular amount and/or in no way obligate the Company
to declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.

PROCEDURES FOR DIRECTING SHAREHOLDERS’
ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders of the Company may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board by addressing them to the investor relations team of
the Company. The contact details are as follows:

Investor Relations

China Resources Land Limited
46th Floor,

China Resources Building

26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
Email: ir@crland.com.cn

Tel: 852-2877 2330

Fax: 852-2877 9068
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to establishing and maintaining good investor
relations, and continuously improves investor relations management through
expanding communication channels, increasing information transparency
and enhancing market feedbacks to management. In 2018, the Company
proactively created various opportunities for investor communication,
updated investors with the latest business development as well as the long-
term strategy of the Company on a timely manner, so as to establish smooth
and positive interaction with investors and to enhance the Company’s
credibility in the capital market.

During 2018, there was no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents.

The principle and vision of the Company’s investor relations function is to
communicate operational performance and the outlook of the Company with
its investors and potential investors via precise and efficient disclosure in
compliance with the relevant rules in order to enhance capital market’s
recognition to the Company. It also reports to senior management of the
Company the market trend and feedbacks from the investors to promote
management improvement and corporate governance, and to build up
positive interactions between investment community and the Company.

In 2018, the Company arranged roadshows for investors in mainland China,
Hong Kong, Singapore, Europe and the United States covering topics from its
financial results to its business strategies and outlook.

In addition, the Company attended 15 major investment conferences held in
Hong Kong, Beijing, Shanghai, New York, London, Tokyo and Shenzhen; held
physical meetings and telephone conferences with the investors globally and
analysts from both buy-side and sell-side; organized reverse roadshows for
analysts and investors, and arranged on-site visits for investors.

—E-NEE®RE ANNUAL REPORT 2018



UTRARR ZZ—\FRETHTEREER The following table sets out the major investor relations events of the

REH : Company performed in 2018:
A& SEE
Month Events
January FF R EE 552018 R Bl EE 2 A1 B Nomura China Property Corporate Day 2018

—H EERITDA S B E R IE
T RIT2018 F AP FEimiE

March D207 FEE LA

= o HEBMHY
o HLKBNHONMEBRS
B - N EERR

April EERR AR 2018 i | IRE E B

/A HE - R EERKR

May BRI 2018 K HErmiE

A CICCH £ A R2018 F [ F /5 ik 40 3 R v 18

FRETEESEFTHRRERE
R EBRERE

June AMER2018F B RPEKREERE

7N H B SRR EE R EER R A
ELRTE _ERIMERER

TEMEERTT 2018 A B AR B EHiE

August A 2018 FH EAZ AR

NA o WEBME
o ESERNHITEMRE
B I EAERE

September FXEFEEAHBLFREERE

NLA EIREM2018 2 EHER EWE
=6 nEA - FYIEERE

October bR - EBEERE

+A

November N E

+—A BH{EE2018 TR EHiE

2018 AP BIR & mig
ARE - ERRAKRA

BNP Paribas Asia Pacific Financials & Property Conference
UBS Greater China Conference 2018

Announcement of 2017 Annual Results

e Press Release

e Briefing with analysts and fund managers
Post Results Roadshow in HK & Singapore

JPM ‘Best of Asia’ Conference 2018
Post Results Roadshow in UK & Netherland

Macquarie Greater China Conference 2018

CICC 2018 Property and Urban-rural Development
Conference

23rd CLSA China Forum

Post Results Roadshow in Beijing & Shanghai

Daiwa Hong Kong China Investment Seminar (Tokyo) 2018
CIMB Hong Kong and China Property Corporate Day
HSBC 2nd Annual Asia Credit Conference

Citi Asia Pacific Property Conference 2018

Announcement of 2018 Interim Results

e Press Release

e Briefing with analysts and fund managers
Post Results Roadshow in HK & Singapore

25th CLSA Investors' Forum
BAML 2018 Global Real Estate Conference
Post Results Roadshow in the U.S., Canada and Shenzhen

Post Results Roadshow in Beijing & Shanghai

Post Results Roadshow in Guangzhou
Credit Suisse 2018 CIC conference
Goldman Sachs China Conference 2018
Reverse Roadshow in Hefei & Chongging

EHBEMBMRAE CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED
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REBRMEH AR T SeEEEE R EENE  Looking ahead, we will continue to improve the communication with
W AREEESETZHe THRARIER - AR investors and provide them with more opportunities to understand the

IR AR EIRE IR E R 2 BB E IR ERR - business of the Company as well as to enhance the mutual understanding
NHERATIANIEIE B RER/KFY  and recognition between the senior management and the investment
TERS - community, with an aim to refine the internal management, profitability and

governance of the Company.

ARNF—_E—+EERE_S— \EEHEHEE  The Company’'s 2017 annual report won Gold Award in both LACP and ARC
HEBBEFRAENARCFRALMFTEFHLE  annual report competition in 2018.

074 —E-NEE®RE ANNUAL REPORT 2018



Report of the Directors

FE

Jhnl

ARTESR(EFR ) RABAL T RENE
REIATHE [AEEDBHE—Z-N\F+ A
=+—B I FE 2 RS REERHBRE SRR
RIS -

EX-+ 3/ 1

ARRZEBEBRRAEER  TEMEAA -
ARCERBERAZEBHBEHRNAFERS
209 B EE257H ©

REBZ D RERTIHN G M BRRMEOA -

%5 o] g
BRAKEAFREEBOHERMEHIROHL -
HARBEAEAFENHEREZRLEROERE
N AEERTEFRMABINEER RAEE
MRIRBR BN AN FIRE20EE260 AN EFE R
S BUEEBENERENREDITRELS
AE7AEMTRERRS - ARASEMEYN
TRABARRTHEERENHARNFE4EH
BRI wEDITARENG S M RENE
48 - MiRE M BMEM TR RN T AEENE
BRREIE R R REE

4 1 g5 A
AEERE-T-\FF-A=+-ALFEZ
HEFTIBRE 10 EZRAKERA -

Jit 2
ANBEFEEZSTRAHREESRARE0.949
T WAEBRBEIINRT(EEITHBRARE
0.85387L) (ZE—tF RE K B F B ¥ 0.867
) I EERAREBOM THHERE - 2FF
REiR B A AR 1.0597T - REAR BN =T —N
FHAMAM-_E—NFARNAZ+BHRIARQF
% 58 2 M B0 B SR A o

W3k ~ Wi Bk i

REEAME  BFEERBZEBHBERTEHNE
BMBHRRMES -

EHBEMBMRAE CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) is pleased to submit to
the shareholders its report and audited financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries (hereafter referred to as “the Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the detailed
activities of its principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are shown
on pages 249 to 257 of this annual report.

The segment information of the Group is set out in note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Review of the business of the Group during the year and discussion on the
Group’s prospects, the Group’s compliance with relevant laws and regulations
which have a significant impact on the Group, relationships with its key
stakeholders and environmental policy are provided in the Chairman Statement
on pages 20 to 26, Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 27 to 35 and
Corporate Governance Report on pages 48 to 74 of this annual report.
Description of key risk factors and uncertainties that the Group is facing is
provided in Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 34 and note 48 to
the consolidated financial statements while the financial risk management
objectives and policies of the Group can be found in note 49 to the consolidated
financial statements.

GROUP PROFIT

The consolidated income statement set out on page 110 shows the Group's
profit for the year ended 31 December 2018.

DIVIDENDS

The Board recommends the declaration of a final dividend of RMB0.949 per
share, equivalent to HK$1.112 per share at the exchange rate of HK$1:
RMBO0.8538 (2017: a final dividend of HK$0.867 per share), together with the
interim dividend of RMB0.11 per share, dividends per share for the year
amount to RMB1.059. The final dividend is payable on 4 July 2019 to the
Shareholders whose names appear on the Register of Members of the
Company on 20 June 2019.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are set out in
note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.
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PROPERTIES

Summary of the principal properties of the Group is set out on pages 277 to
287.

SHARE CAPITAL

Movements in share capital during the year are set out in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES AT THE COMPANY

The Company’s reserves available for distribution represent the share
premium and retained profits. Under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter
22 of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the Company is available for
paying distributions or dividends to Shareholders subject to the provisions of
the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company and provided
that immediately following the distribution or dividend, the Company is able
to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Reserves of the Company available for distribution to Shareholders as at 31
December 2018 amounted to RMB39,071,651,000 (2017: RMB43,512,494,000).

MEDIUM-TERM NOTES

To better support future development of the Company, broaden financial
channel and further reduce funding cost, the Company issued RMB6,000
million medium-term notes due in 2021 (the “2021 6 billion Medium-term
Notes”) , RMB500 million medium-term notes due in 2021 (the “2021 500
million Medium-term Notes”) and RMB3,500 million medium-term notes due
in 2023 (the 2023 3.5 billion Medium-term Notes”)during the year. All notes
are issued in the interbank market of the PRC.

The 2021 6 billion Medium-term Notes carry a coupon rate of 5.38% per
annum. The 2021 500 million Medium-term Notes carry a coupon rate of
4.98% per annum. The 2023 3.5 billion Medium-term Notes carry a coupon
rate of 5.23% per annum.

—E-NEE®RE ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) who held office during the year
and at the date of this report are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tang Yong

Mr. Li Xin

Mr. Zhang Dawei

Mr. Xie Ji

Mr. Shen Tongdong (appointed on 4 December 2018)
Mr. Wu Bingai (appointed on 12 February 2019)

Mr. Wu Xiangdong (resigned on 12 February 2019)
Mr. Yu lian (resigned on 4 December 2018)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yan Biao
Mr. Chen Ying
Mr. Wang Yan
Mr. Chen Rong

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco
Mr. Andrew Y. Yan

Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter
Mr. Zhong Wei

Mr. Sun Zhe

As at the date of this report, pursuant to Articles 99 and 116 of the Articles of
Association of the Company, Mr. Li Xin, Mr. Shen Tongdong, Mr. Wu Bingai,
Mr. Chen Rong, Mr. Wang Yan, Mr. Zzhong Wei and Mr. Sun Zhe shall retire
from office at the upcoming annual general meeting and shall be eligible for
re-election.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set out on
pages 36 t0 47.

EHBEMBMRAE CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED 077
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(F) RARREHTEARIAEROFHEED

DIRECTOR’S INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ")),
including interests and short positions which the Directors and chief
executive of the Company are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO, which are required to be recorded in the register
maintained pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise required to
be notified to Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the “Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” (“Model
Code") contained in the Listing Rules, were as follows:

(@) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of the

WS Company:
LB 2L B HEEmA DL
e /RR Number of Approximate
Long position/ ordinary percentage of
short position SEIES interest ®
RMAR HE 1,000,000 0.014
Wu Xiangdong Long position
B B HaE 100,000 0.001
Tang Yong Long position
[ TR 1,992,000 0.029
Yan Biao Long position
BRE A 500,000 0.007
ChenYing Long position
Htet - Notes:

(1) EHEATH R R ARG R G E
HR=—ZF—NF+—A=+—HIEAXRA]
BE#ITRGBEBE S -

@  EXFRENEREHEEFELAE G
BASDHE -
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(1) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in shares
and underlying shares of the Company to the total issued shares of the
Company as at 31 December 2018.

©) The above disclosed interests were held by directors as beneficial
owners.
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(2) RARRBEEEE — FRWEHGER)AR  ©
AE([EERE]) B#TEBRIARK

Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of China
Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (“China Resources Beer”),

MREEER an associated corporation of the Company:
TR 2R B HeEmB DL
TR I%ke Number of Approximate
Long position/ ordinary percentage of
short position SIEIES interest
[ R 500,000 0.015
Yan Biao Long position
F E A 167,999 0.005
Wang Yan Long position
Bz Notes:
(1) BB ATS R 892 BB R (7 X 18 B AR 17 (1) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in shares

BER—FE—\F+ZA=+—HEEHH
BB TR AR E AT B 7 HE °

and underlying shares of China Resources Beer to the total issued shares

of China Resources Beer as at 31 December 2018.

2 EXFBENAEESEFUAE R (2)  The above disclosed interests were held by directors as beneficial
BAZGIFE © owners.

(R) RARATIEEEE — ZBEMREIEREREZA  (C)  Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of China
AITEEME ) ERTERRXBERYD Resources Gas Group Limited (“CR Gas"), an associated corporation of
FHER R the Company:

LB 2L B HEERA DL
e /KA Number of Approximate
Long position/ ordinary percentage of
short position shares interest @
RMAR HE 45,000 0.002
Wu Xiangdong Long position
KRR HaE 20,000 0.001
Zhang Dawei Long position
Bz Notes:
(1) 1ELFE AT N a2 Ik R R (7 I 4 B AR 17 (1) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in shares

HBER—FE—NF+_A=+—HIEEH
MREZFITRIZHEEEIE DL -

@  EXFEBEABRESESEFA TR
BASDHE -

EHBEMBMRAE CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

@

and underlying shares of CR Gas to the total issued shares of CR Gas as
at 31 December 2018.

The above disclosed interests were held by directors as beneficial

owners.
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(T) ARATHEEEER — EHEHERAERZA () Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of China

RI(TEEE BRI SRR EEBERS Resources Power Holdings Company Limited (“CR Power”), an
REARIRER associated corporation of the Company:

BRI E B HiEERBE DL

e /KRR Number of Approximate
Long position/ ordinary percentage of
short position SIEIES interest
S [S=) 570,080 0.012
Yan Biao Long position
T E [S=) 44,000 0.001
Wang Yan Long position
Hier - Notes:
(1) EHFEAYREERE R G KIARR G (1) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in shares
R —E—NEF+-_HA=1+—HWEEHF and underlying shares of CR Power to the total issued shares of CR
T TR IBEEE AL o Power as at 31 December 2018.
2 EXFBENAEESEFUAE R (2)  The above disclosed interests were held by directors as beneficial
BAZGIFE © owners.

(k) RARATEEEE — ZBE/KRIERAEREZA (€  Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of China

ATEREKR]D) BRITEER LBERGD Resources Cement Holdings Limited (“CR Cement”), an associated
FHER R corporation of the Company:

R E B HiEERBE DL

a0/ 9=} Number of Approximate
Long position/ ordinary percentage of
short position SIEIES interest
RAIR [S=) 500,000 0.007
Wu Xiangdong Long position
bR B HE 230,000 0.003
ChenYing Long position
Btet - Notes:
(1) FEEFR AT R 892 8K R BR 17 2 1869 IR 17 (1) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in shares
BER—FE—\F+—A=+—HIEEH and underlying shares of CR Cement to the total issued shares of CR
IKJEC 7T (7 AEE0E B 77 © Cement as at 31 December 2018.
(2 X REBO AR HSEEL TR (2)  The above disclosed interests were held by directors as beneficial
BAFGIE © owners.
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(B) RAAFEEE — EPEREEERA
A #ME ) B BT HRBERABR
oS MO

() Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of China
Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited (“CR Pharmaceutical”), an
associated corporation of the Company:

TR 2R B HeEmB DL
TR I%ke Number of Approximate
Long position/ ordinary percentage of
short position SIEIES interest
F E R 2,000 0.00003
Wang Yan Long Position
Btet - Notes:

(1) EHERERAEERZR D KABR Y
BER—F-NF+_HA=+—HIEEH
EHECBTRBHBEDL -

@  EXPRBGESEEFEERE -
R e S50 D

BARAEERFEBERER  ARFAEEIN
—TENFRAA=TB(RABH]) BERZER
NIRRT A B SR AT B (R AT 81 ) Mo s B &t
FATBERERT - HRAEF IR _TFTA
FH_ANBRKER - BFRESERERFER
I BRIBEEERWBEHETFRNFR - 1R
BAREE > REATRT S EUAEEREZ
ReBARZEARARERABRADHITRAE
DR _EAZRARL - WAEFERARBREE
BREERE  EERFROBABE . 21EX
FEARCIERERESL -

HEFER —_Z-N\FER=THER  ARM
BB Z - \FRAA=1H T AR
RS ELEUNBREBE(EERZER)BE
1,179,681,515.17 7L & i A 87,629,259 IR K 1A 7]
Bt - AEZR A RIRERAY B B2 BITARAR 2.1715% ©
RBE-F-/\FE+-_A=+—HBLEFEAR XK
RAEARBERABAEMERNEE - BRES

EHBEMBMRAE CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

(1) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in shares
and underlying shares of CR Pharmaceutical to the total issued shares of
CR Pharmaceutical as at 31 December 2018.

©) The above disclosed interests were held by the spouse of the director.

STRATEGIC INCENTIVE AWARD SCHEME

AS an incentive to retain and encourage the employees for the continual
operation and development of the Group, the Board resolved to adopt an
incentive scheme, which is presently named as Strategic Incentive Award
Scheme (the “Strategic Scheme”) on 30 May 2008 (the “Adoption Date”). The
Strategic Scheme was subsequently amended on 8 December 2009. Unless
sooner terminated by the Board, the Strategic Scheme shall be effective from
the Adoption Date and shall continue in full force and effect for a term of 10
years. According to the Strategic Scheme, shares up to 2.5% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the Adoption Date will be purchased by
the trustee from the market out of cash contributed by the Group and be
held in trust for the relevant selected employees until such shares are vested
with the relevant selected employees in accordance with the provisions of
the Strategic Scheme.

The Strategic Scheme expired on 30 May 2018. From the Adoption Date to 30
May 2018, the Company had accumulately purchased 87,629,259 shares of
the Company through the Trustee, representing 2.1715% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the Adoption Date, from the market at an
aggregate consideration of HK$1,179,681,515.17 (including transaction costs).
During the year ended 31 December 2018, there was no share purchased,
sold, allocated or vested under the Scheme.
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ARRANGEMENTS FOR DIRECTORS TO
SUBSCRIBE FOR SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above in the section “Director’s Interests in Securities”, the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its parent company
was not a party to any arrangement which enables the Directors to benefit
from a purchase of the shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any
of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 December 2018.

DIRECTORS SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at 31 December 2018, none of the Directors had any service contract with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not terminable by the
employing company within one year without payment of compensation other
than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received annual independence confirmation from all
independent non-executive Directors pursuant to rule 3.13, and considers
the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in connection
with business of the Company, to which the Company, its parent company,
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries were a party and in which any Director of
the Company or his connected entity had a material interest, either directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The articles of association of the Company provides that every Director of
the Company should be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a
Director, in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which
judgment is given in his favor, or in which he is acquitted.

The Company maintains a directors’ liability insurance policy against

potential legal liabilities and related expenses that may be incurred by the
Directors in the event of any litigation.
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Name of Shareholders Capacity

CRH (Land) Limited (“CRHL") EaiAA
Beneficial owner
ER(EE)ARAA(EEEE])Y ZEHATER
China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited ("CRH") ®

CRC Bluesky Limited ("Bluesky”)"

interest
gLy NIl 3

Controlled company's

interest
ERRMHARAF(TERRH])O RS R A)ER
China Resources Co., Limited
(“CRC")
REEBERAR([REEE)O
China Resources Company Limited
("CRCL")

interest
gLy NGl 3

Interest

Controlled company's

Controlled company's

Controlled company's

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions” and
the “Continuing Connected Transactions” as set out in this report, there were
no other contracts of significance between the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries, and a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries, or any
contracts of significance for the provision of services to the Company or any
of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries
subsisting at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

SHAREHOLDERS WITH NOTIFIABLE INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2018, the following persons (not being a Director or chief
executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provision of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or
which were recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
section 336 of the SFO:

20185
12 831 BFE

]

ROEEDL

Percentage of

the aggregate

long position

in shares to

LRk HEE the issued

HE/I%KE Number of shares of

EmitE Long position/ ordinary the Company

Nature of interest short position shares as at 31/12/2018

BiEn e 4,243788,418 61.23%
Beneficial owner Long position

NG £ e 4,246,618,418 61.27%
Corporation interest Long position

AR 18 4,246,618,418 61.27%
Corporation interest Long position

AFIHE iy 4,246,618,418 61.27%
Corporation interest Long position

NEER e 4,246,618,418 61.27%
Corporation interest Long position

EHBEMBMRAE CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED
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Note:

(1) CRHL and Commotra Company Limited directly held 4,243,788,418 shares and
2,830,000 shares of the Company, respectively. CRH is the sole shareholder of
CRHL and Commotra Company Limited. Moreover, CRH is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Bluesky, which is in turn wholly-owned by CRC. CRC is wholly-
owned by CRCL. Thus, CRH, Bluesky, CRC and CRCL are deemed to be
interested in an aggregate of 4,246,618,418 shares in the Company.

Save as aforesaid, as at 31 December 2018, no other person had any interest
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provision of Division 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in the register kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
ASSOCIATES

Particulars regarding principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are
set out in note 47 on pages 249 to 257 of the consolidated financial
Statements.

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS ON
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

Certain loan agreements of the Group include a condition that imposes one
or more of the following specific performance obligations on the Company’s
controlling Shareholder:

(i) CRH remains the single largest Shareholder of the Company which has
an aggregate beneficial ownership (directly or indirectly) of not less
than 35% or 51% (as the case may be);

(i) CRH maintains the direct or indirect ownership of at least 35% of the
shares of the Company;

(i) CRH remains the single largest Shareholder (whether directly or
indirectly through its subsidiaries) of the Company;

(v)  CRH remains to be beneficially owned as to more than 50%
shareholding by the central government of the PRC;

(v CRH retains the ability from a practical perspective to control the
appointment by the Company’s Shareholders of Directors to the Board.

As at 31 December 2018, the aggregate reserved facility subject to the above

conditions were HK$39,794,590,000 (equivalent to RMB34,868,079,103). Such
reserved facility will expire on no later than 4 December 2023.
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EBHBEMBRAT CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

COMPENSATION AGREEMENT IN RELATION TO THE
RELOCATION UNDER THE URBAN RENEWAL PLAN OF
SANJIU HOTEL IN LUOHU DISTRICT, SHENZHEN

On 28 March 2018, China Resources Land Shen Nan Development
(Shenzhen) Company Limited* (2 HE xm ZERECORI) BR 2 A) (@
project company (“Project Company”) and Shenzhen Sanjiu Travel Hotel
Company Limited* (I = LR 2B E AR 2 7)) (“Sanjiu Travel”) entered
into a compensation agreement (“Compensation Agreement”) in relation to
the relocation under the urban renewal plan of Sanjiu Hotel in Luohu District,
Shenzhen.

The Project Company is a joint venture established by the Company and
Shenzhen An Run Investment Company Limited* (RIIIH 2B & AR A7)
(“An Run Investment”), whereby the Company owns 51% equity interests
and An Run Investment owns 49% equity interests. Sanjiu Travel is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of CRH, while CRH is a controlling Shareholder of the
Company. As such, Sanjiu Travel is a connected person of the Company
under the Listing Rules. Therefore, the Compensation Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder constitute a connected transaction of
the Company.

The Compensation Agreement is a necessary action and arrangement for
facilitating and implementing the urban renewal project of Sanjiu Hotel in the
Luohu District, Shenzhen, which is beneficial for the Group in seizing the
opportunities of urban development and renewal, realizing the commercial
value of existing resources in a timely manner, and improving the overall
corporate efficiency and return for the Shareholders. The Board is of the
view that, the Compensation Agreement is a feasible investment which is in
line with the Group’s set decisions and will be beneficial to the future long-

term benefits of the Group and the Shareholders as a whole.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors) are of the
view that the Compensation Agreement was entered into in the ordinary
course of business of the Company, on normal commercial terms which are
fair and reasonable, and in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole.

As the applicable percentage ratios as defined under the Listing Rules in
respect of the compensation from the Project Company under the
Compensation Agreement exceed 0.1% but are less than 5%, the transaction
is only subject to the reporting and announcement requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules but is exempted from the Company’s
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements.

Details of the Compensation Agreement are set out in the connected
transaction announcement of the Company dated 28 March 2018.
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Wi TNZ 1y 2 B8 & BT IR
RZZ—N\FEA=1+H(RFEEE) - &K
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Nanjing Zhongshan (HK) Co. Limited ([TNZ])
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IN RELATION TO (I) ACQUISITION OF THE ENTIRE
ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL OF TNZ; (II) TERMINATION OF
MANAGEMENT RIGHTS IN RELATION TO THE
SHENZHEN BAY SPORTS CENTER; AND (III)
TERMINATION OF COOPERATION AGREEMENT AND
PROJECT MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT IN RELATION TO
THE HARBIN PROJECT

@

ACQUISITION OF THE ENTIRE ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL OF TNZ

On 30 April 2018 (after trading hours), the Company and the Vendors
entered into the Sale and Purchase Agreement, subject to which terms
and conditions, the Vendors have agreed to sell and the Company has
agreed to purchase the entire issued share capital of Tesco Nanjing
Zhongshan (HK) Co. Limited (“TNZ"). At the date of the announcement,
TNZ is directly owned as to 50% by each of the Vendors. The
consideration for the TNZ Acquisition is RMB1,734,000,000.

CRH is the controlling Shareholder of the Company, CRH is therefore a
connected person of the Company. The Vendors are subsidiaries of
CRH. Accordingly, the TNZ Acquisition constitutes a connected
transaction of the Company. As all the applicable percentage ratios in
respect of the TNZ Acquisition exceed 0.1% but are less than 5%, the
TNZ Acquisition is only subject to the reporting and announcement
requirements under the Listing Rules, and is exempt from the circular,
independent financial advice and independent shareholders” approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Nanjing Zhongshan Project, with its unparalleled position and location
at central business district of Nanjing Central City and Nanjing
Fuzimiao, has a promising future prospect. The Nanjing Zhongshan
Project is a high-end commercial business zone comprising chiefly of
Grade-A office buildings and ancillary commercial properties. With the
overall advantages enjoyed in transportation and presence of
landmark skyscrapers, the Nanjing Zhongshan Project will strengthen
the market share and competitiveness of the Group in the PRC in the
long-run. After due and careful consideration, the Board agreed to
proceed the TNZ Acquisition with reference to relevant survey findings,
valuations of nearby properties and the valuation report compiled for
TNZ in order to give continuous support to the development of the
Nanjing Zhongshan Project.

The Board (including the independent non-executive Directors) is of
the view that terms of the TNZ Acquisition are determined after arm’s
length negotiations, which are fair and reasonable, and the TNZ
Acquisition is on normal commercial terms and in the interest of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
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EBHBEMBRAT CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

TERMINATION OF MANAGEMENT RIGHTS IN RELATION TO
THE SHENZHEN BAY SPORTS CENTER

On 30 April 2018 (after trading hours), CR Shenzhen Bay Development
Company Limited (“CR Shenzhen Bay”) and China Resources Land
(Shenzhen) Development Company Limited (“CRL Shenzhen”) entered
into the Management Rights Authorization Termination Agreement to
terminate the management rights license under the Authorization
Letter and transfer the relevant assets and liabilities of the Shenzhen
Bay Sports Center to CRL Shenzhen for a consideration of
RMB322,000,000.

CR Shenzhen Bay is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of CRH, and
CRH is the controlling Shareholder of the Company. As such, CR
Shenzhen Bay is a connected person of the Company within the
meaning of the Listing Rules and therefore, the entering into of the
Management Rights Authorization Termination Agreement constitutes
a connected transaction of the Company. As all the applicable
percentage ratios in respect of the Management Rights Authorization
Termination exceed 0.1% but are less than 5%, the Management
Rights Authorization Termination is only subject to the reporting and
announcement requirements under the Listing Rules, and is exempt
from the circular, independent financial advice and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

It has always been the Group's strategy to develop, operate and
manage high quality properties and replenish land bank in the
strategically important regions in the PRC. The Shenzhen Bay Sports
Center in particular is strategically important to the Group’s long-term
development as the Directors believe that the demand for high quality
properties in Shenzhen will continue to increase in the future as a
result of its continuous economic development. The Management
Rights Authorization Termination will enhance the Group's ability to
meet the goal of establishing a platform for sports and culture.

The Board (including the independent non-executive Directors) is of
the view that terms of the Management Rights Authorization
Termination are determined after arm'’s length negotiations, which are
fair and reasonable, and the Management Rights Authorization
Termination is on normal commercial terms and in the interest of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
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TERMINATION OF COOPERATION AGREEMENT AND
PROJECT MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT IN RELATION TO THE
HARBIN PROJECT

In relation to (i) the Cooperation Agreement between the Company
and China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (“CRB") for the
cooperation in the development of the Harbin Project and (ii) the
Project Management Agreement between China Resources Land
(Harbin) Property Limited (“CR Land (Harbin)”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and China Resources Vanguard (Liaoning)
Superstore Co. Ltd. (“CR Vanguard (Liaoning)"), a then wholly-owned
subsidiary of CRB, for the appointment of CR Land (Harbin) as the
project manager to develop the commercial space of the Harbin
Project. On 30 April 2018, the Company entered into a termination
agreement with China Resources Enterprise, Limited (“CRE") (which
has subsequently replaced CRB as party to the Cooperation
Agreement when it acquired the non-beer businesses from CRB) to
terminate the Cooperation Agreement with effect from 30 April 2018.
On 30 April 2018, CR Land (Harbin) entered into a termination
agreement with CR Vanguard (Liaoning) to terminate the Project
Management Agreement with effect from 30 April 2018.

Pursuant to the Harbin Project Termination Agreements, all rights and
obligations of each of CRE and CR Vanguard (Liaoning) in the Harbin
Project will be terminated and each of the Company and CR Land
(Harbin) will become responsible for the development and future
operation of the Harbin Project, and to retain all benefits and to
assume all costs and risks arising therefrom with effect from 30 April
2018.

The Company, CRE and CR Vanguard (Liaoning) are indirectly owned
as to 61.27%, 100% and 80% by CRH, respectively. CRH is, therefore,
the controlling shareholder of the Company, CRE and CR Vanguard
(Liaoning). As fellow subsidiaries, CRE and CR Vanguard (Liaoning) are
connected persons of the Company under the Listing Rules. Based on
the appraised value of the land parcel together with the construction
in progress of the commercial portion of the Harbin Project, all the
applicable percentage ratios are greater than 0.1% but less than 5%.
Accordingly the Harbin Project Termination Agreements constitute
connected transactions for the Company, which are subject to
reporting and announcement requirements but exempted from
independent shareholders’ approval requirements of the Listing Rules.
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EBHBEMBRAT CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

Considering the commercial benefits and enhanced value that a
commercial space could bring to the residential portion of the Harbin
Project, if the Group takes up full interest and develop the commercial
portion of the Harbin Project, it will provide a balance of commercial
space to complement the residential development. On the other hand,
as a result of the change in business strategy of CR Vanguard Group,
CR Vanguard (Liaoning) also expressed it will not be proceeding with
the Harbin Project.

The Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors) are
of the view that the Harbin Project Termination Agreements are on
normal commercial terms which have been agreed by the parties after
arm'’s length negotiation and are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

As all the applicable percentage ratio of the aforementioned transactions in
sections (1), (Il) and (Ill) above on an aggregate basis exceed 0.1% but are less
than 5%, the aforementioned transactions are subject to reporting and
announcement requirements but exempted from independent shareholders’
approval requirements of the Listing Rules.

Details of the aforementioned transactions in sections (I), (Il) and (lll) above
are set out in the connected transaction announcement of the Company
dated 30 April 2018.

IN RELATION TO THE ESTABLISHMENT OF A REAL
PROPERTY INVESTMENT FUND

On 12 October 2018, Nanning Shen Shou Run Investment Management Co.,
Ltd. ("Nanning Investment”), China Resources Land (Zhuhai) Co., Ltd. (“CRL
Zhuhai”), China Resources Venture Capital (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (“CR Venture
Capital”), Shanghai Expo Land Holdings Limited (“Expo Land Holding") and
China Life Insurance Company Limited (“China Life Insurance”) entered into a
Partnership Agreement in relation to the establishment and management of
the Fund (“Partnership Agreement”).

Pursuant to the terms of the Partnership Agreement, the initial total capital
commitment in the Fund will be RMB15,001 million, with the primary
objective of investment in office property projects (including properties
which can be converted into offices), hotel projects, commercial property
projects and long-lease apartments projects, as well as related peripheral
service projects, or other projects as unanimously approved by the
Investment Strategy Committee. CRL Zhuhai, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, will contribute RMB2,400 million, representing approximately
16.00% of the total capital commitment in the Fund.
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CRH is the controlling Shareholder of the Company and a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CRC, and CR Venture Capital is an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of CRC. Therefore, CR Venture Capital is a connected person of
the Company for the purpose of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the
transaction contemplated under the Partnership Agreement exceed 0.1% but
are less than 5%, the transaction contemplated under the Partnership
Agreement is subject to the reporting and announcement requirements but
exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval requirement under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Details of the Partnership Agreement are set out in the connected
transaction announcement of the Company dated 12 October 2018.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

INTRA-GROUP LENDING BETWEEN MEMBERS OF THE
CHINA RESOURCES GROUP

On 23 December 2016, the Company and CRH entered into offshore
framework loan agreement and guarantee for three years ending 31
December 2019 (“Offshore Framework Loan Agreement 2016"). Pursuant to
Offshore Framework Loan Agreement 2016, the Company and any of its
subsidiaries which has become a party to Offshore Framework Loan
Agreement 2016 by acceding to its terms, but excluding any entity which is
established in the PRC would make loans denominated in Hong Kong dollars,
Renminbi and US dollars, whereas, Borrowers were:

(@  CRH;and

(b) any China Resources Group listed company as defined in the
continuing connected transactions announcement of the Company
dated 23 December 2016 (the “CCT Announcement”) and any of their
subsidiaries, which has become a party to the Offshore Framework
Loan Agreement 2016 by acceding to its terms, but excluding any
entity which is established in the PRC and any member of the Group.
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On the same date, the Company and CRC also entered into an onshore
framework loan agreement for the three years ending 31 December 2019
("Onshore Framework Loan Agreement 2016") (Offshore Framework Loan
Agreement 2016 and Onshore Framework Loan Agreement 2016 shall
collectively be referred to as the “Framework Loan Agreements 2016").
Pursuant to the Onshore Framework Loan Agreement 2016, any subsidiary
of the Group established in the PRC which has become a party to Onshore
Framework Loan Agreement 2016 by acceding to its terms can make loans
denominated in Renminbi. Borrowers were CRC, and any PRC established
subsidiary of CRC or a China Resources Group listed company, which has
become a party to the Onshore Framework Loan Agreement 2016 by
acceding to its terms, but excluding Zhuhai China Resources Bank Co., Ltd.
(“CR Bank”), China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. (“CR Trust”) and any
subsidiary of the Company.

The Company has been provided with higher flexibility through the entering
of the Framework Loan Agreements 2016, with respect to its management of
surplus cash resources and it was permitted to lend its own surplus cash
resources and part of its subsidiaries’ to other members of China Resources
Group (including CRC and CRH).

By virtue of CRC being the controlling shareholder of CRH which in turn holds
the controlling interest of the Company, CRC and CRH are the connected
persons of the Company within the meaning of the Listing Rules. As such,
Pursuant to the Listing Rules, the Framework Loan Agreements 2016
constituted continuing connected transactions.

Details of the Framework Loan Agreements 2016 are set out in the CCT
Announcement.

The proposed annual lending caps for the Group for the term of the
Framework Loan Agreements 2016 are as follows:

HENANBLEFENSFESAER LR
Daily lending cap for the year ending 31 December
2017

ARBEST
RMB million

3,000

2018

ARKEET
RMB million

2019

AREBET
RMB million

3,000 3,000

BE-Z-N\F+-A=T—HILFEAN K&
BE_Z-AFERERBRETRABEAL

B S 2
EHER -

EHBEMBMRAE CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

During the year ended 31 December 2018, there was no loan lent to
connected persons by the Group pursuant to the Framework Loan
Agreements.
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STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS
BETWEEN MEMBERS OF THE CHINA RESOURCES
GROUP

On 23 December 2016, the Company and CR Bank entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement for the three years ending 31 December 2019 (“CR
Bank Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2016"), pursuant to which, any
deposit made with CR Bank under these arrangements will bear the same
interest and be on the same terms and conditions as would apply to a similar
deposit made by any other customer of the bank, which rates are
determined with reference to such other more preferential rates. Pursuant
to CR Bank Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2016, other than deposit
services, from time to time, the Group may use the commercial banking
services of CR Bank including, but not limited to, letter of credit, letter of
guarantee, granting of loans with collaterals, bill acceptance and discount
services, account receivable factoring services, RMB and foreign currency
settlements, provision of loans and security, wealth and cash management
services, financial consulting service and other financial services as agreed
by the parties. These services will be provided on normal commercial terms
which apply to other customers of CR Bank.

On the same day, the Company and CR Trust entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement for the three years ended 31 December 2019 (“CR
Trust Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2016”, together with CR Bank
Strategic Cooperation Agreement 2016 referred to as “Strategic Cooperation
Agreements 2016"), pursuant to which, from time to time, the Group may
use services provided by CR Trust including, but not limited to, cash
management, asset management, custodian trust loan services, equity
cooperation, shares nominee services, account receivable factoring services,
buying and resale services consulting services and other trust services.
These services will be provided on normal commercial terms and will be
charged at a rate no less favorable as would apply to similar services
provided to any of CR Trust's other clients.

The proposed annual caps for financial services under both of the Strategic
Cooperation Agreements 2016 have been determined after taking into
account of the Group's liquidity, business needs and the expected level of
services to be received from CR Bank and CR Trust under the Strategic
Cooperation Agreements 2016.

The Group is permitted to use the deposit services and other financial
services of CR bank and CR Trust as a result of the entering of the Strategic
Cooperation Agreement 2016, which, under normal commercial terms,
supported the internal development of CRH in a scale not causing resource
exposure to the Group and not jeopardizing the relationship between Group
and other financial institutions.

—E-NEE®RE ANNUAL REPORT 2018



HREBERNAEBREZEBRER  MERE
BRBARF 2R ER  RERROLRERE
BRARRZEEAL(EERLTRA) - FH
B 58 EHIIRT REBETED HI#7533% K
51% LM AR A - Bt - FHRITREBEER
RRABZBBEAL o T Ll 2 BEB RN 2 BB 5
BRER S - BRFBENZFERERSI NS -

AEER T RFEHRITEESEHRBR
NFEAZBRITHEZEAFRER LR (BREE
RS

By virtue of CRC being the controlling shareholder of CRH which in turn holds
the controlling interest of the Company, CRC and CRH are connected
persons of the Company within the meaning of the Listing Rules. CRC holds
75.33% and 51% of the registered capital in CR Bank and CR Trust
respectively. As such, CR Bank and CR Trust are connected persons of the
Company and the above arrangements constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Company, details of which were set out in the CCT
Announcement.

The proposed maximum daily deposit amount, inclusive of interest payable,
placed by the Group with CR Bank for the term of CR Bank Strategic
Cooperation Agreement 2016 is set out as follows:

HENRZANBIFENTGRTFREELR
Maximum daily deposit amount for the year ended 31 December

2017

AREBST
RMB million

2,600

2018 2019
AREBET AREBET
RMB million RMB million
2,600 2,600

REBEE-_Z—\E+_A=+—HAILEER " K
SEGFREBRTNEAERBSEAARE
2,495,631,294.717C * M B #&EF R B F B
WA B AR 21,812,649.39 7T

O ERRTREREER T "FHES
TEiH IR AR AR BIR (& B AR K E mH) 2
EFHSBELERION

FERIRITN CR Bank and CR Trust

EBE

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the highest daily deposit amount by
the Group with CR Bank was RMB2,495,631,294.71, total Interest income
received from the deposit amounted to RMB21,812,649.39.

Besides, the proposed maximum daily amount of financial services and
products provided by CR Bank and CR Trust to the Group for the term of
Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2016:

HET_A=+—HILFEZBHSHELR
Maximum daily amount for the year ended 31 December

2017 2018 2019
ARBEST ARKEET AREBET
RMB million RMB million RMB million
4,000 4,000 4,000

REBEEZZ—)\FF+_A=+—HLEFER "R
B "EHEEERZ G EHRTR
EREAMNASERECHRELERERER
4% & AR % 550,000,000 7T °

EHBEMBMRAE CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the maximum daily amount of
financial services and products provided by CR Bank and CR Trust to the
Group was RMB550,000,000 under the terms of the Strategic Cooperation
Agreements 2016.
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PROVISION OF CONSTRUCTION, DECORATION
AND FURNITURE SERVICES AND SALES OF
CONSTRUCTION MATERIAL FRAMEWORK
AGREEMENT

The Group has been, during the normal course of its businesses, providing
construction and decoration services and selling furniture and construction
material to members of the CRH Group and associates of CRH. Construction
services provided by the Group include building construction, mechanical
and electrical engineering and installation as well as urban utilities.
Decoration services provided by the Group include interior design,
decoration and furnishing of offices, commercial and residential properties.
Furniture services provided by the Group include furniture manufacturing
and sale.

On 23 December 2016, the Company and CRH, entered into the Provision of
Construction Services, Decoration Services and Furniture Services and Sales
of Construction Material Framework Agreement 2016 (“Provision of
Construction Services, Decoration Services and Furniture Services and Sales
of Construction Material Framework Agreement 2016") to govern the
principal terms of the provision of construction and decoration services and
furniture manufacturing and sale services as well as the sales of construction
material in the PRC by the Group to the members of the CRH Group (namely
CRH and its subsidiaries, excluding the Group) and associates of CRH for the
three financial years ending 31 December 2019.

Each contract of construction, decoration or furniture services or sales of
construction material will be entered into on normal commercial terms and
the prices will be either at market prices or at prices no less favorable to the
Group than those available from independent third parties.

The annual caps are determined taking into account the business needs of
members of the CRH Group and associates of CRH and the expected level of
services to be provided by the Group under the Provision of Construction
Services, Decoration Services and Furniture Services and Sales of
Construction Material Framework Agreement 2016.
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The proposed annual caps for the Provision of Construction Services,
Decoration Services and Furniture Services and Sales of Construction
Material Framework Agreement 2016 for the three years ending 31
December 2019 are as follows:

HE+-A=+—ALFE
For the year ending 31 December

2017 2018 2019
ARBEST ARBEET ARBEET
RMB million RMB million RMB million
1,000 1,300 1,300

500 500 500

150 500 1,000

HE_Z-N\F+ZA=Z+—BILFE F&E
RIE—F—NFRERS - KERELEERE
HEASEEMHHEERGABRAERER
RRBRAREHEEREARRZREBREE
FEARTBALTRNEAAOLEZ201%
MRE EHRA - ZEFLHBREEREESER
5 o

EREEREARAZERED  REFEER
RERRREBREREBRBEARARR ZHEAL

(FEEELETRA - Bt - ZFEXFERARE
MIEWERD - AAMBRRZBERERS

D -

B EREISN - N\FELRLERS
T

E ] Business Type

1 B
2 #is
3 EEMBHE

Construction
Decoration

Sales of Construction Material

The aggregate annual amounts of furniture services the Group charged to
members of the CRH Group and associates of CRH during the year ended 31
December 2018 under the Provision of Construction Services, Decoration
Services and Furniture Services and Sales of Construction Material
Framework Agreement 2016 did not exceed 0.1% of the applicable
percentage ratios of the Listing Rules, and these arrangements constituted
de minimis transactions under the Listing Rules.

As CRH is the controlling shareholder of the Company, the members of the
CRH Group and associates of CRH are the connected persons of the
Company as defined under the Listing Rules. Such transactions constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company and details of which are
set out in the CCT Announcement.

The caps and the actual amount of the above continuing connected
transactions in 2018 are shown as follows:

2018 FE LR 2018 FERRZEHR

Actual transaction

Annual caps in 2018 amounts in 2018

ARKEET AREBET
RMB million RMB million
1,300 816.8

500 255.3

500 112.4

EHBEMBMRAE CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED
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PROVISION OF PROPERTY LEASING AND
CONCESSIONAIRE FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT

The Group has been, during the normal course of its businesses, entering
into leasing and concessionaire arrangements regarding its property portfolio
where members of the Group lease premises to members of the CRH Group
and associates of CRH. On 23 December 2016, the Company and CRH
entered into the Leasing and Concessionaire Framework Agreement 2016
(“the Leasing and Concessionaire Framework Agreement 2016") to govern
the principal terms of the leasing and concessionaire arrangements.

Subject to further definitive written agreements, from 1 January 2017 to 31
December 2019 (both days inclusive), the Group will enter into new leasing
agreements or new concessionaire agreements with members of the CRH
Group and associates of CRH in the ordinary and usual course of business on
the following terms:

(@  each of the leasing or concessionaire arrangements to be entered into
by a member of the Group with a member of the CRH Group or an
associate of CRH will be documented in a separate written agreement;
and

(b)  each leasing or concessionaire arrangement will be entered into on
normal commercial terms with the rents, management fees and other
charges received by the Group from any members of the CRH Group
or associates of CRH being either at market prices or at prices no less
favorable to the Group than those available from independent third
parties.

The proposed annual caps for the Leasing and Concessionaire Framework
Agreement 2016 for the three years ending 31 December 2019 are as
follows:

HE+ZA=+—HLLFE
For the year ending 31 December

2017 2018 2019

AREBET ARBEET ARBEEET

RMB million RMB million RMB million

FE KA LR The Leasing and Concessionaire Caps 500 500 500

B ETEe . —2—
BEBERERS -

NEHREMFFRIERZ
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Under the Listing Rules, the Leasing and Concessionaire Framework
Agreement 2016 constituted continuing connected transactions.
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The annual cap and actual transaction amount in 2018 of the above
continuing connected transaction are set out below:

2018FE LR 2018 FBRERF SR

Annual cap Actual transaction

Evs bl Business Type in 2018 amount in 2018
ARBEET AREBET

RMB million RMB million
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EREREREARRZERED  REFEER
KERRAREREEBEARARAZBEAL
(EZERLEWHRA) - Bt - B ZBBRAR R
BERERS -

RIE E T IEGIAR RISE 14A 5515 - B ERITES
EH T DRBEERERS - BRI

1. ZERXGEASBENREEBRFIL

2. ZEXRFRBB—REBFIERRE ERE
17 &

3. ZAEXRZEVEBUERZHGBHRETT - K
RFERE WAFEARARBIRNEER

N9

)

o

BREREESHMATHEMAO B BSEFEKERE
3000%% (185]) [FEBE XA EMBENBERNE
BIEIRE T2BREBHAE705% [BERE
78 E AR R AT B R E R 5 WAL BRET ] - %
FREZERAEROBFERERHIELRE -
ZHAE L AR EREBERAEERE
FIREMRBIE14AL6 KR ENEEFI7BEH
BRERERS CRBEFHERERS | 281

Ko

a. ZEEBITHBAEEMNER  SERMAESE
BREWERHURERNRRESSHE -

b HARAEEREERIBHLRIME
BREHETAREEAEE - SHAERS
R A AR AR Y R R
47 -

EHBEMBMRAE CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

CRH owns the controlling interest of the Company. Therefore, members of
the CRH Group and associates of CRH are the connected persons of the
Company, as defined in the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the above
arrangements constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-executive
Directors have reviewed the abovementioned continuing connected
transactions, and confirmed that:

1. these transactions have been entered into in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group;

2. these transactions have been entered into on normal commercial
terms or better; and

3. these transactions have been entered into according to the
agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and
in the interest of the Company's shareholders as a whole.

The Company's auditor was engaged to report on the Group's continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (revised) “Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued his letter
containing his findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed by the Group on pages 90 to 97 (the
“Disclosed CCTs") in accordance with Main Board Listing Rule 14A.56:

a. nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes him to believe
that the Disclosed CCTs have not been approved by the Board.

b.  for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the
Group, nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes him to
believe that the transactions were not entered into, in all material
respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group.
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C. nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes him to believe
that the transactions were not entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing such transactions.

d. nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes him to believe
that the Disclosed CCTs have exceeded the annual caps set by the
Company.

A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to Stock
Exchange.

The related party transactions except those with joint ventures and
associates as disclosed in paragraph (a) in Note 46 to the consolidated
financial statements also fall under the definition of connected transaction or
continuing connected transactions within the meaning of the Listing Rules,
and the Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

MODEL CODE REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY THE DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in the Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules as code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the
Directors of the Company. Having made specific enquiry with all Directors,
the Company confirmed that all Directors have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code during the year under review.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report, there are
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as
required under the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year under review, the Group'’s five largest suppliers and five
largest customers together accounted for less than 30% of the Groups
purchases and sales respectively.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in this report, no equity-linked agreements have been
entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted at the end of the
year.
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EHBEMBMRAE CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

CHARITABLE DONATION

In 2018, the Group’s charitable donation amounted to approximately
RMB4.53 million.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
past five financial years is set out on page 288 of this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles
of Association and there are no restrictions against such rights under the
laws in the Cayman Islands.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at the date of this report, the audit committee comprises Mr. Wan Kam
To, Peter (Committee Chairman), Mr. Andrew Y. Yan, Mr. Zhong Wei, Mr. Sun
Zhe, Mr. Wang Yan and Mr. Chen Rong, all members of the audit committee
are either independent non-executive Directors or non-executive Directors
of the Company. The audit committee has reviewed, together with the
management and the Company’s auditor, the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, risk management,
internal control and financial reporting matters including the consolidated
financial statements for the year.

AUDITORS

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 1 June 2018, Messrs.
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu retired as the auditor of the Company and Messrs.
Ernst & Young was appointed as the independent auditor of the Company.

Messrs. Ernst & Young will retire at the conclusion of the forthcoming annual
general meeting and is eligible to stand for reappointment.

CHANGES OF DIRECTORS AND BOARD
COMMITTEES MEMBERS

On 12 February 2019, Mr. Wu Xiangdong resigned as executive Director,
Chairman of the Nomination Committee, members of the Corporate
Governance Committee and the Executive Committee; Mr. Tang Yong was
appointed as Chairman of the Board and Chairman of the Nomination
Committee and ceased to act as Chief Executive Officer; Mr. Wu Binggi was
appointed as executive Director and member of the Executive Committee
and Mr. Li Xin was appointed as member of the Corporate Governance
Committee. At the same time, Mr. Wu Xiangdong resigned as the Company’s
authorized representative in Hong Kong and Mr. Li Xin was appointed as the
Company's authorized representative in Hong Kong.
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With effect from 26 March 2019, the following changes to the Board took
place: (1) The Board established a corporate social responsibility committee;
(2) Mr. Tang Yong was appointed as chairman of corporate social
responsibility committee of the Company, (3) Mr. Li Xin was appointed as
member of nomination committee and corporate social responsibility
committee of the Company; (4) Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter ceased to act as
member of nomination committee of the Company; (5) Mr. Ho Hin Ngai,
Bosco ceased to act as member of audit committee of the Company and
was appointed as member of corporate social responsibility committee of
the Company; (6) Mr. Zhong Wei ceased to act as member of corporate
governance committee of the Company and was appointed as member of
corporate social responsibility committee of the Company; and (7) Mr. Sun
Zhe ceased to act as members of nomination committee and corporate
governance committee of the Company and was appointed as member of
corporate social responsibility committee of the Company.

With effect from 26 March 2019, the following changes to the Board took
place: (1) The Board established a corporate social responsibility committee;
(2) Mr. Tang Yong was appointed as chairman of corporate social
responsibility committee of the Company; (3) Mr. Li Xin was appointed as
member of nomination committee and corporate social responsibility
committee of the Company; (4) Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter ceased to act as
member of nomination committee of the Company; (5) Mr. Ho Hin Ngai,
Bosco ceased to act as member of audit committee of the Company and
was appointed as member of corporate social responsibility committee of
the Company; (6) Mr. Zhong Wei ceased to act as member of corporate
governance committee of the Company and was appointed as member of
corporate social responsibility committee of the Company; and (7) Mr. Sun
Zhe ceased to act as members of nomination committee and corporate
governance committee of the Company and was appointed as member of
corporate social responsibility committee of the Company.

By order of the Board

Tang Yong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2019
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Resources
Land Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on
pages 110 to 276, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2018, and the consolidated income statement,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2018,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“"HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

EBHBEMBRAT CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED 101
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit
addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section
of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit
included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for

our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matter

KREYENIEE
Valuation of investment properties
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We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key
audit matter due to the significance of the balance to the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, combined with
the significant judgments associated with determining the fair
value.

The investment properties of the Group were located in the
Mainland China, Hong Kong and the United Kingdom (the "UK")
and carried at RMB126,864 million as at 31 December 2018,
including completed investment properties of RMB103,058
million and investment properties under construction of
RMB23,806 million, which represented approximately 19% of the
Group’s total assets as at 31 December 2018. Gain on changes
in fair value of investment properties of RMB6,904 million was
recognised in the consolidated income statement for the year
ended 31 December 2018.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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Our procedures in relation to the valuation of the investment
properties included:

. Assessed the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the Valuer; as well as obtained an understanding of
the Valuer's scope of work;

. Involved our internal valuation specialists to assist us in
evaluating the valuation methodology and the
reasonableness of the significant unobservable inputs
and the accuracy of the source data adopted by the
management of the Group and the Valuer by
comparing them, on a sample basis, to existing
tenancy profiles, publicly available information of
similar comparable properties and our knowledge of
the real estate industry;
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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Valuation of investment properties (continued)
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All of the Group's investment properties were stated at fair value
based on valuations carried out by independent and
professionally qualified valuers (the “Valuer”). The valuations of
the completed investment properties were dependent on
certain significant unobservable inputs, including capitalisation
rate and assessed prevailing market rents. The valuations of
investment properties under construction were dependent on
capitalisation rate, assessed prevailing market rents and
estimated developer’s profit margin. Management’s assessment
on the fair value of investment properties was significant to the
audit because this process requires significant judgements and
estimates.

Related disclosures are included in note 5 “Significant

Accounting Judgements and Estimates” and note 16 “Investment
Properties” to the consolidated financial statements.

EHBEMBMRAE CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

HEEEEREETAEEBARBRENGEED
o ARHEREHAFENTERE &

R E M BRRANRENEGEIREENRES R
e

Examined the sensitivity analysis prepared by the
management on the significant unobservable inputs to
evaluate the magnitude of their impacts on the fair
values; and

Assessed the adequacy of the disclosures of the
valuations of investment properties in the consolidated
financial statements.
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Key audit matter

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Bz BRI EIEREREZEIA
How our audit addressed the key audit matter

THISEF T EZ EREME
Accuracy of land appreciation tax calculations
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We identified the accuracy of PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT")
calculations as a key audit matter since significant judgment was
required in estimating the amount of LAT to be paid by the
Group within each of the property development projects.

LAT arise in the PRC when properties were delivered to the
buyers and revenue was recognised. LAT recognised in the
consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December
2018 was RMB12,722 million, which is material to the Group.
Significant judgement was required in estimating the amounts of
land appreciation and the applicable LAT rate due to the
uncertainty of proceeds of sales of properties and deductible
expenditures. The amount of the land appreciation was
determined with reference to proceeds of the sales of properties
less the estimated deductible expenditures, including the cost of
land use rights and all relevant property development
expenditures.

Related disclosures are included in note 5 “Significant

Accounting Judgements and Estimates” and note 11 “Income
Tax Expenses” to the consolidated financial statements.
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Our procedures in relation to the accuracy of LAT calculations
included:

Evaluated the reasonableness of the estimated sales
revenue and the related deductible amounts used in
the LAT calculation with reference to the market prices
and development costs of similar properties of the
Group;

Involved our internal tax specialists in the PRC to
assess the accuracy of the land appreciation amount
calculations for development projects, on a sample
basis, and to assess the appropriateness of the LAT
rate used for property development projects, on a
sample basis, by comparing it to the LAT rate
announced by the State Administration of Taxation in
the PRC; and

Evaluated the judgments applied by the management
in estimating the land appreciation amount and LAT
rate by comparing their past estimates made in
previous years to actual results as well as current
year's estimates.
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Key audit matter
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Revenue recognised from sales of properties
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The Group has adopted HKFRS15 on 1 January 2018. Under
HKFRS15, revenue is recognised when or as the control of the
properties are transferred to customers. Depending on the
terms of the contract and the relevant laws that apply to the
contract, control of the properties may be transferred over time
or at a point in time. Control of the properties is transferred over
time if the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

To assess the enforceability of right to payment, a significant
judgement is required. The Group has reviewed the terms of the
contracts, the relevant local laws, the local regulators’ view and
obtained legal advice, and assessed that the Group has no
enforceable right to payment and the control of the Group’s
properties is transferred at a point in time. Revenue is
recognised when customers obtain the physical possession or
the legal title of the completed properties and the Group has
right to payment and collection of the consideration is probable.

EHBEMBMRAE CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition from sales
of properties included:

. Obtained and reviewed sales contracts, relevant local
laws and supporting legal cases, internal policies of the
Group, etc. to assess the enforceability of right to
payment;

. Reviewed legal advices and evaluated the basis used
to support legal opinion;

o Obtained the calculation of significant financing
component, reviewed the methodology and inputs
used in the calculation and performed recalculation on
sample basis;

. Reviewed the related disclosures on adoption of
HKFRS15 in the consolidated financial statements.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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Key audit matter
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Revenue recognised from sales of properties (continued)
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For contracts where the period between the payment by
customers and the transfer of the promised properties exceeds
one year, the amount of consideration is adjusted for the effect
of a significant financing component.

Related disclosures are included in note 5 “Significant
Accounting Judgements and Estimates” and note 6 “Segment
information” to the consolidated financial statements.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.
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EBHBEMBRAT CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group'’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
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EBHBEMBRAT CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s
report is Law Kwok Kee.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

26 March 2019



Consolidated Income Statement

R o Y A

BE+-—A=+—BLtEE
For the year ended 31 December

2018 2017

B AREFT AREFT
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000

(&)

(Restated)

U z§ Revenue 6 121,188,926 101,942,519
SHE A Cost of sales (68,607,237) (60,981,016)
el Gross profit 52,581,689 40,961,503

WEWME 2 A THEEB W Gain on changes in fair value of

investment properties 16
BAFESAEBRZEFI A Netgain/(loss) on changes in fair

NEEEH U/ (BE) F58 value of financial instruments at

fair value through profit or loss 135,205 (18,236)

6,904,294 5,150,014

EMUA - HAblhizs REE Other income, other gains and losses 7 887,601 1,768,987
HERTIGHES H Selling and marketing expenses (4,177,139) (3,381,421)
—RITEE General and administrative expenses (4,159,447) (3,654,767)
IR EEREREZFHE Share of profit of investments in
joint ventures 194,602 125,520
FEMER B E R AR E 2 FE Share of profit of investments in associates 1,102,169 76,354
MsER Finance costs 10 (1,742,695) (1,602,700)
BRAR BT A Profit before taxation 51,726,285 39,425,254
TSR X Income tax expenses 1 (24,449,036) (17,674,982)
FREH Profit for the year 12 27,277,249 21,750,272
LA™ ARG A Profit for the year attributable to
RABER A Owners of the Company 24,237,875 19,690,400
KEBEARTEHAA Owner of perpetual capital instrument 287,625 -
FEVERR 2 Non-controlling interests 2,751,749 2,059,872
27,277,249 21,750,272
ARHET NEHETT
RMB RMB
(g&sE75)
(Restated)
SHRAF Earnings per share 14
HAR Basic 3.50 2.84
e Diluted TEFAN/A N3 A N/A

STAREE R EBRARRERS ARSFIES  Details of dividends payable to owners of the Company attributable to the
RHIEE13 - profit for the year are set out in note 13.

’I’IO ZE-N\EE®RSE ANNUAL REPORT 2018



Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
=P ANPAN o~
e 2 ENW

BE+-—A=+—BLtEE
For the year ended 31 December

2018 2017

AREFT AREFT
RMB'000 RMB'000
(&)
(Restated)
F R F Profit for the year 27,277,249 21,750,272
HEM2mEmkEs Other comprehensive income
HiE ot ESER BB Item that may be reclassified subsequently to
profit or l0ss
BREGINEBIIEEACELER Exchange difference on translation of
foreign operations 351,195 419,560
BT eESHEEmAEE Item that will not be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss
FREMEARERAFEYEREZ Gains on changes in fair value of equity
BATREZ A FEZE) WS instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income 30,293 -
FREMEAEKE Other comprehensive income for the year 381,488 419,560
FREEKREETE Total comprehensive income for the year 27,658,737 22,169,832
AT ATEEZEN=ERE Total comprehensive income attributable to
ViN/NSIET =N Owners of the Company 24,447,569 19,826,238
KEEARIEHBA Owner of perpetual capital instrument 287,625 -
FEEIR = Non-controlling interests 2,923,543 2,343,594
27,658,737 22,169,832

EHBEMBMRAE CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED ']’I’I



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RO R TFIA LR

FRBEE

ME - BE RS

REME

BREE

TR

EES

REELEZIRE

REE QR ZIRE

A ERE

BREMEERERATFETR
ZBRATHR
BATEFABRZEHMEE

FRBEEZANKE
EREHEEE

e A EBEFR

JE st & N R 5ROR
JEMGFE B SR

RBEE

HIHEZME

HioFE
FERR ~ H AR -
BNFERETT2

ANEE
BRAVEFABGE EREE

EREFPANTIENA
e SR E IR A R FIR
JE M RIHERR A R FROR
JE YR 5 Y 1 R 5R0R
JERA EBETA
JE st N R SRR

JEFE B R FUR

BANHE
Re RRTER

112

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment

Investment properties

Intangible assets

Land use rights

Goodwill

Investments in joint ventures

Investments in associates

Available-for-sale investments

Equity instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive Income

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Prepayments for non-current assets

Deferred taxation assets

Amounts due from joint ventures

Amounts due from associates

Amounts due from non-controlling
interests

CURRENT ASSETS

Properties for sale

Other inventories

Trade receivables, other receivables,
prepayments and deposits

Contract assets

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Amounts due from customers for
contract works

Amount due from the ultimate
holding company

Amounts due from intermediate
holding companies

Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries

Amounts due from joint ventures

Amounts due from associates

Amounts due from non-controlling
interests

Prepaid taxation

Cash and bank balances

M
NOTES

15
16
17
18
19
20
21
21
22
23
24
29
29

29

25

26

28

22

27

29

29

29
29

29

30

—ET—)\F
+—A

=1+—H
December
2018

—E—tF
+=—A

e =
31 December
2017

—HA—H
1 January
2017

ARBFT AREFT ARBTFT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

(& =51) (4 ®35)

(Restated) (Restated)

10,773,049 8,345,355 8,210,799
126,864,008 99,208,544 85,104,801
407,579 421,662 -
3,233,200 2,287,797 2,019,412
11,544 11,544 11,544
9,873,381 7,115,812 3,291,203
21,067,592 6,382,453 5,712,704
= 51,877 50,606

1,110,346 . -
49,030 7,022 -
1,209,723 777,576 363,328
7,181,421 4,894,068 3,421,062
5,373,477 8,655,505 3,263,086
5,025,906 6,266,067 2,849,571
1,659,818 1,926,192 1,315,588
193,840,074 146,351,474 115,613,704
304,500,869 223,489,200 175,022,242
1,094,343 954,412 683,498
43,515,162 42,049,976 39,640,004
561,007 - -
1,562,320 - -

- 421,386 242,961

- 115 -

46,023 18,657 11,087
729,837 814,511 161,515
12,406,093 1,187,231 45,723
10,676,946 2,197,352 1,689,560
5,152,173 972,376 767,194
10,689,054 8,219,810 6,522,598
70,969,426 53,774,004 41,755,452
461,903,253 334,099,030 266,541,834

ZE-N\EE®RSE ANNUAL REPORT 2018



REBEE
JE B & ELt A BRI
REMECDKBK

ENEPANTENA

ANAaE
JEf SRR A RIFIR

JE o RIHERR A RIFR

&
&

MEELI=NIEE
JRERERR
AN =N R

JE IR
FEfIBHIE
BITEE — —FREH
BERE — —FRIH
FHRE — —FRHH

o s I I

RBEERE
EERERRBAERE

B
A
&t
ZNNGIE 2N L 5

XEEATA
EBEg e

EHBEMARAT

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables
Advances received from pre-sales of
properties
Amounts due to customers for
contract works
Contract liabilities
Amount due to the ultimate
holding company
Amounts due to intermediate
holding companies
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries
Amounts due to joint ventures
Amounts due to associates
Amounts due to non-controlling interests
Taxation payable
Bank borrowings — due within one year
Senior notes — due within one year
Medium-term notes — due within one year

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

EQUITY
Share capital
Reserves

Equity attributable to owners of
the Company

Perpetual capital instrument

Non-controlling interests

CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

MsE
NOTES

31

27
32

33

33
33
33
33
33

34
35
36

37

38

—ZE-)N\F
+—A
=+—H

31 December
2018

—E—tF
+=—A
= =

31 December
2017

—T—+F
—A—H
1 January
2017

ARBFT AREFT ARBTFT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

(s =51) (4 E35)

(Restated) (Restated)

88,245,877 64,108,641 52,590,461
- 119,372,967 94,516,990

- 160,953 134,589
192,265,229 - -
92 - 92
3,003,233 1,503,081 10,868
210,980 2,573,911 5,960,485
1,884,574 417,926 382,904
2,216,706 1,203,701 141,455
15,614,023 5,210,687 4,341,308
22,406,736 19,613,385 13,888,150
14,494,284 25,255,749 10,723,585
5,569,887 200,804 -
2,036,594 201,015 -
347,948,215 239,822,820 182,690,887
113,955,038 94,276,210 83,850,947
307,795,112 240,627,684 199,464,651
655,829 655,829 655,829
137,719,978 119,062,651 103,544,538
138,375,807 119,718,480 104,200,367
5,000,000 - -
37,328,934 24,521,792 20,324,293
180,704,741 144,240,272 124,524,660
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RO R TFIA LR

—T-N\F ZZZE—+F
+=A +=A

=t—HA =t+—H
December 31 December
2018 2017

—A—H
1 January
2017

Wi ARETT ARBTI AREFL
NOTES RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(m=7) (£
(Restated) (Restated)

FREEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
RITEE — —FEEH Bank borrowings — due after one year 34 83,501,063 57,213,258 41,804,160
BERE — —FE3H Senior notes — due after one year 35 7,990,439 12,708,505 13,724,106
HEIERE — —FE 3 Medium-term notes — due after one year 36 18,619,448 9,976,857 5,086,366

BATEFABZ ERAE Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss 22 232,420 256,369 -
e & A BI3E Amounts due to associates 33 41,420 - 380,230
JE IR R I S B Amounts due to non-controlling interests 33 1,463,082 3,964,387 2,834,304
BRI E Deferred taxation liabilities 24 15,242,499 12,268,036 11,110,825
127,090,371 96,387,412 74,939,991

ERBERERBEE TOTAL OF EQUITY AND

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 307,795,112 240,627,684 199,464,651

HREN0E276 A2 FEHHBH/ERENR - —7  The consolidated financial statements on pages 110 to 276 were approved
FZAZTNERESSRHEREETE - WA  and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26 March 2019 and are

IATALREKEE signed on its behalf by:
EE TANG YONG

EF DIRECTOR

BN LI XIN

3 DIRECTOR

’|’|4 ZE-N\EE®RSE ANNUAL REPORT 2018



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

RO R E)R

BE_ZT—\F+-_A=+—HItFE For the year ended 31 December 2018

YN PN
Attributable to owners of the Company

A E ERGE EtREE RBEH m FERER
Non-
Share Share  Translation Other  Retained controlling
capital  premium reSenve  reserves profits Total  interests
ABBTL  ARBTL ABBFT  ARBFL  ARETR
RMBOO  RVBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOD  RVBOOO  RMBODD  RVBODO  RMBOWD
(Hza)
(note a)
RZE-t5-A-H At 1 January 2017 (Restated)
(mE75) 655829 52497187 (1,320915) (13729.710) 66,097,976 104,200,367 20,324,293 124,524,660
BERNEBREL Exchange difference on translation
LERER of foreign operations - - 1388 - - 13838 283722 419,560
ERET Profit for the year - - - - 19690400 19690400 2059872 21,750,272
FREENEEE Total comprehensive income for the year - - 135838 - 19690400 19826238 2343594 22,169,832
FERERNLE Capital contribution from non-
controlling interests - - - - - 2800651 2,800,651
(REDR TR Appropriation of retained profits - - - 2131209 (2131209) - - -
HENBAG 2 ES Acquisition of additional interests in
subsidiaries - - - (41,957) - @1957)  (151,123) (193,080
ZR—tERERE Interim dividend for 2017 - - - - (584682 (584,682 - (584,682
“I-RERERS Final dividend for 2016 - - - - (3681436) (3,681,486 - (3681,489)
BRFERERRS Dividend paid to non-controling interests - - - - - - (195623 (195,629
RIZ—+% At 31 December 2017 (Restated)
T-R=t-B(&&7)) 655,829 52497187 (1,185,077) (11,640,418) 79,390959 119,718,480 24,521,792 144,240,272

EHBEMBMRAE CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED ’]15



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

RO R E)R

YN EUNG L
Attributable to owners of the Company

fhes

Eif EbREE

il & e 3
Perpetual Non-
capital  controling
instrument ~ interests

Retained
profits

Other
reserves

Translation
reserve

Share
premium

Share
capital

Total

ABBTT  ARETT ARETR ARETR  ARETL  ARETR ABEFT
RMBOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOD  RVBOOO  RMBOD  RWBO  RMBOO  RWBOO0
.
e

RZE—tEFZA=T—H At31December 2017
(m&5)) (Restated) 655,829 52497187  (1,185,077) (11,640418) 79,390,959 119,718,480 - 24521792 144,240,272
RREARBREES Opening acjustments arising from
FOREL L FRE adoption of HKFRS 9 - - - (177,485 90,394 (87,051) - - (87,051)
RAEARBREER Opening adjustments arising from
FIFEEENRE adoption of HKFRS 15 - - - - 18299 18,229 - - 18299
RZF-\E-A-A A1 January 2018
(BEF) (Restated) 655829 52497187  (1185,077) (11,817,863 79,529,582 119,679,658 - 24521792 144,201,450
BEBNERAES Fxchange differences on
CEREE translation of foreign operations - - 179401 - - 1940 - NP4 351195
EREMZERAR Gain on changes in fair value of
ATESIRZRATE equity instruments at fair value
ZATEESNE through other comprenensive

income - - - 30,293 - 30,293 - - 30,293
FENET Profit for the year - - - - 24231875 24,237 875 287,625 2751749 27,277,249
ERZEYGEE Total comprehensive income

forthe year - - 179,401 30,293 24237875 24,447,569 207625 2923543 27658737
FARERNE Capital contribution from

non-controlling interests - - - - - - - 9780533 9780533
BIXEERIER Issuance of perpetual capital

instrument - - - - - - 5,000,000 5,000,000
MXEERTABBA Distribution to holder of
e 2 AR perpetual capital instrument - - - - - - (876%) - (8762)
RIERRTE (MED) Deemed capital contribution

from a shareholder (note b) - - - 45618 - 5618 - - 45618
REBEHER Appropriation of retained profits - - - 33%6M8  (3376419) - - - -
RBZAREH 2 Acquisition of subsidiaries under
MEAF common control - - - (32000 - (322000 - - (322000
WKE-HHBAR Acquisition of a subsidiary - - - - - - - 70705 720705
HE—RBARDAELS  Partial disposal of a subsidiary
Mt & £ without loss of control - - - 14120 - 1410 - 7069 151,189
wE-BWBAT2MER  Acquisition of additional interests

ina subsiiary - - - 9,533 - 9533 = (36,048)  (26519)
T \ERERS Interim dividend for 2018 - - - - (762403 (762403 - - (762403
2 ERERS Final dividend for 2017 - - - - (5066,288)  (5,066,288) - - (5,066,289)
ERFERRERRS Dividend paid to non-controlling

interests - - - - - - - (588660)  (588,660)
WZE-NE+ZR=+—H At31December 2018 655,829 52497187 (1,005,676) (8,333881) 94,562,348 138375807 5,000,000 37,328,934 180,704,741
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EBHBEMBRAT CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

HMEEEE B EITRALE - — R AR
5 AURERIEBE M AR SED TEIE
ZRATARFERD -

WRIFHEA A FIE ([ B ]) 165% P S O£ BT
HE  AEE 2 T BN E L FI AR R TR 5
10% (ER— R - BE —REFFEEZHEBNE D
Al 2 FEM B AR 50% 73 1E © % f# 12 O BR 13 A B
WEAFZEFERFMEBHMER  FHXEH
RETETREE A -

DI EHE P 2 B B A RIAR A i AL AR 25
EHELCEH - RIEE N HERAEERE
FAHTIE 2 7] 2 FFPEAR 1B 2 2 S BE 2 [T ZE 48 o

REZB-NFMA=+H EHEM(RBE)F
WEGRA A ([EBEH (FREE)])(FRAAE
BB AR BEEEHEREZETHRA A
([EBER EE) ) (FEEEZERERAF ([
B (i REREXERAA([EEE
®))) B2 BB A A])FT L —HE LA
LE % AR LE— A e BB R R B ([h6 R
HEDeZEl#2w#E R—F-NFOA=+
HBEZL °

WRIRZ AR T  EHAIERERNER (FE)E
ERIEEIEE 2 2 55EFI REFAEHLL - T
ARaIREEEM (FBEE)E BB GREE
BZRREARFEEBE  WR=_F—N\FHOAH
=+ AEREHMELS— R RAFAE—]
KA TR B o

ARE] - EHER(BE) REFEREEHFEE
EEFEZ B - Elt  ZEELIERZEE
FEE R —ER K e WRFEBRETE
W HEBR B EF A -

Note:

(@)

()

Other reserves mainly comprise capital reserve, general reserve, special
reserve, merger reserve and changes in fair value of equity instruments
at fair value through other comprehensive income.

As Stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations of the People’s
Republic of China (the "PRC”), the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC shall
set aside 10% of their profit after taxation for the general reserve until
the general reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital of the
respective subsidiaries. The reserve can only be used, upon approval by
the board of directors of the PRC subsidiaries and by the relevant
authority, to offset accumulated losses or increase capital.

Special reserve represents amounts arising from the acquisition or
disposal of equity interests in subsidiaries without loss of control. It
represented the difference between the consideration paid or received
and the adjustment to the non-controlling interests of the relevant
subsidiaries.

On 30 April 2018, China Resources Land (Harbin) Property Limited (“CR
Land (Harbin)”), @ wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into
a termination agreement with China Resources Vanguard (Liaoning)
Superstore Co. Ltd. (“CR Vanguard (Liaoning)”), a then wholly-owned
subsidiary of China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (“CRB”)
(previously known as China Resources Enterprise, Limited (“CRE”)) to
terminate a project management agreement for a project in Harbin
(“Harbin Project”) with effect from 30 April 2018.

Pursuant to the termination agreements, all rights and obligations of
each of CRE and CR Vanguard (Liaoning) in the Harbin Project has been
terminated and each of the Company and CR Land (Harbin) became
responsible for the development and future operation of the Harbin
Project, and to retain all benefits and to assume all costs and risks since
30 April 2018.

The Company, CR Vanguard (Liaoning) and CRE are indirectly owned
subsidiaries of CRH. Accordingly, a gain after tax arising from such
termination was regarded as deemed capital contribution from CRH and
was recognized in other reserves by the Group during the year.



EmIAN ANy —]
VN [ Eﬁﬁ/ﬁi

7=

HE+-—A=1+—HILFE
For the year ended 31 December

2018 2017

BERBMERELFHE
LERHAERE
B PSR

BRERDAMRATIFER
M BB MR AR
HEWME - BE RREMSHREA

T AR R
REMENK
B EENK
HEREYEMEHA

WRIFRBEEZENIES

MAECETA
EBEARTE

B —BAECERS

EL g — R 2 2 AR,

I T (L R A TR OR

BEA/(BRT)RAAMNBEAR

BEA/(BRT) &REERAR
IR
BT — A R A A

BT IR S
BRTAEDE
BT R E QA

EHA R
BEBWEE R RER
BEENAE
REZWBEHEAR
BEFERBEHEAR
WA BE M2 RS
BAVEIIRZBRATA

Wi A EF ABRmZ
TREE
WA B E

FARRHIRITER
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Net cash generated from operating activities
Cash generated from operating activities

Income tax paid

Net cash used in investing activities
Payment for property, plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Payment for land use rights

Payment for investment properties

Payment for intangible assets

Proceeds from disposal of investment
properties

Deposits paid for acquisition of
non-current assets

Capital injection to joint ventures

Capital injection to associates

Dividend received from a joint venture

Dividend received from an associate

Proceeds from disposal of available-
for-sale investments

Repayment from/(advances) to
fellow subsidiaries

Repayment from/(advances) to the
ultimate holding company

Advances to an intermediate holding
company

Advances to non-controlling interests

Advances to joint ventures

Advances to associates

Interest received

Acquisition of assets and liabilities through

acquisition of subsidiaries

Acquisition of subsidiaries in current year

Acquisition of subsidiaries in prior year
Acquisition of equity instruments
at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Acquisition of financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss

Acquisition of available-for-sale
investments

Placement of restricted bank deposits

B &E
NOTES

40

41
41

AREFT ARBFT
RMB'000 RMB’000
(f&E5)

(Restated)

51,243,653 22,871,037
(24,008,720) (13,560,515)
27,234,933 9,310,522
(2,184,969) (616,355)
57,508 39,906
(36,471) (207,197)
(11,978,024) (5,993,139)
= (424,009)

4,459 11,159
(432,147) (414,248)
(2,591,562) (3,732,077)
(6,800,078) (614,313)
28,595 32,988
21,908 20,918

= 38,617

84,674 (652,357)
115 (207)
(27,366) (7,570)
(3,913,423) (815,786)
(7,438,601) (6,533,927)
(8,120,759) (3,924,288)
1,111,825 1,258,396
(214,139) (2,651,534)
173,215 -

= (19,874)
(1,015,168) -
(1,488,577) -
- (42,000)
(359,050) (129,114)
(45,118,035) (25,376,011)
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BMEERBMSREFHE
RITEEMSSR
BITXEEATAMBZRA

ERRITEE
BITHHRBREIIRFER

FKEEATASBEAELZ

7K

FRBEFE B S KRS

R

FRURE S SRR I R A5 SUF B

FRULEE 52 K RIFE P B 1 F)
NFFER

ENHBER
BERTRANBAR

2R EFEERAT

B A TS
FIERERTE

ENARREEARE
RAREZZE: £l oy
SN P £

HE R EARBHER
(R EFEHIE)

S RFER
BITES SR
BREEEDhE
BREBE QA

ReRREHEEINFER
FzREIREEE

HNEEFE SR Bl 2L 28

Net cash generated from financing activities
Proceeds from bank borrowings
Proceeds from issuance of perpetual
capital instrument

Repayment of bank borrowings

Net proceeds from issuance of
medium-term notes

Distribution to holder of perpetual
capital instrument

Payment for the acquisition of entities
under common control in prior year

Payment for the acquisition of businesses
under common control, net

Payment for the acquisition of subsidiaries
under common control, net

Finance costs paid

Repayment to fellow subsidiaries

Advances from intermediate holding
companies

Advances from the ultimate holding
company

Advances from non-controlling interests

Capital contribution from non-controlling
interests

Dividends paid to owners of the Company

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests

Acquisitions of additional interests
in subsidiaries

Net proceeds from partial disposal of
a subsidiary without loss of control

Issuance of preferred equity certificates
Advances from joint ventures
Advances from associates

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the year

Effect of change of foreign exchange rates

Cash and cash equivalents at the
end of the year

EHBEMBMRAE CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

BE+-—A=+—BLtEE
For the year ended 31 December

2018 2017

L3 AREFT ARBFT
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
(geE5)

(Restated)

54,976,514 56,096,154

38 5,000,000 -
(41,062,640) (26,325,705)

9,970,000 5,000,000

(287,625) -
(2,164,000) (2,784,827)

(315,876) -

41 (1,720,699) -
(5,689,761) (4,630,134)
(95,497) (932,411)

1,477,825 1,489,019

92 -

7,897,847 1,805,988

9,780,533 2,800,651
(5,828,691) (4,266,168)
(588,660) (795,623)
(26,515) (193,080)

151,189 -

= 231,111

1,450,664 7,318

1,038,359 682,016

33,963,059 28,184,309

16,079,957 12,118,820

52,409,910 40,429,018
756,415 (137,928)

69,246,282 52,409,910
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2.1

—N\F+ZA=+—BILFE

— & Bl

AARA—HERASHSEMKZZARA
Al ERGEEEHERSMERAR (&
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For the year ended 31 December 2018

1.

2.1

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”). As at 31 December 2018,
the ultimate holding company of the Company is China Resources
Company Limited (“CRCL"), a company incorporated in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"). The intermediate holding company of
the Company is China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH").
The immediate holding company of the Company is CRH (Land)
Limited, a limited company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.
The address of the registered office of the Company is disclosed in the
corporate information of the annual report and the principal place of
business of the Company is the same as its address of the head office
disclosed in the corporate information of the annual report. The
principal activities of the Group are development of properties for sale,
property investments and management, hotel operations and the
provision of construction, decoration services and other property
development related services in the PRC.

CHANGE OF PRESENTATION CURRENCY

The Company’s functional currency is Renminbi (“RMB”). The
presentation currency of the consolidated financial statements in the
prior financial year was Hong Kong dollars (HKS).

Since the Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) mainly
operates its business in the Mainland China and most of the assets
and liabilities of the Group are denominated in RMB, the directors of
the Company consider that it is more appropriate to use RMB as the
presentation currency of the Group and the presentation of financial
statements in RMB can provide more relevant information for
management to control and monitor the performance and financial
position of the Group. Accordingly, the Group has changed its
presentation currency for the preparation of the financial statements
from HK$ to RMB starting from 1 January 2018. The comparative
figures have been restated to conform with the current year's
presentation in RMB.
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2.1

2.2

EBHBEMBRAT CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

CHANGE OF PRESENTATION CURRENCY
(continued)

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated financial statements of
the Group in RMB, the assets and liabilities for the consolidated
statement of financial position are translated into RMB at the closing
rate at the end of the reporting period. Income and expenses for the
consolidated income statement and consolidated statement of
comprehensive income are translated at the average exchange rates
for the financial period. The share capital, the share premium and
reserves are translated at the exchange rate at the date of transaction.
The non-controlling interests for the consolidated statement of
financial position are translated into RMB at the closing rate at the end
of the reporting period.

MERGER ACCOUNTING RESTATEMENT

MERGER ACCOUNTING FOR BUSINESS
COMBINATION INVOLVING BUSINESS UNDER
COMMON CONTROL

On 30 April 2018, China Resources Shenzhen Bay Development
Company Limited (“CR Shenzhen Bay”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
CRH, entered into a Management Rights Authorization Termination
Agreement with China Resources Land (Shenzhen) Development
Company Limited (“CRL Shenzhen”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group, to transfer the relevant assets and liabilities of the Shenzhen
Bay Sports Center (“the Transferred Business”) to CRL Shenzhen for a
consideration of RMB322,000,000. The Shenzhen Bay Sports Center is
a multi-use stadium located within the Nanshan District of Shenzhen,
in the PRC, built by CRL Shenzhen on behalf of the Nanshan
Government. The consideration was settled by cash on 24 May 2018.
The acquisition of the Transferred Business was completed on 1 May
2018.

The Transferred Business has been considered as business as it
possessed of all three components of a business (inputs, processes
and outputs) and is capable of providing a return to its owners. Since
CR Shenzhen Bay and the Group are under common control of CRH,
the acquisition of the Transferred Business has been accounted for as
business combination under common control in accordance with
Accounting Guideline 5 Merger Accounting for Common Control
Combinations (“AG 5") issued by the HKICPA.
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2.2 MERGER ACCOUNTING RESTATEMENT

(continued)

MERGER ACCOUNTING FOR BUSINESS
COMBINATION INVOLVING BUSINESS UNDER
COMMON CONTROL (continued)

Under merger accounting, the results of the Transferred Business have
been combined from the date when they first came under the control
of CRH. The assets and liabilities of the Transferred Business have
been reflected at their existing carrying values at the date of
combination. No amount has been recognised in respect of goodwill
or excess of the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost at the
time of common control combination, which, instead, has been
recorded in other reserve in equity.

Accordingly, the consolidated income statement, consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year ended 31 December 2017 have been restated to include the
assets and liabilities and the operating results of the Transferred
Business. The consolidated statement of financial position as at 1
January 2017 and 31 December 2017 have been restated to include
the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of the Transferred
Business.

The effect of restatements described above on the consolidated
income statement for the year ended 31 December 2017 has resulted
in an increase in the Group’s revenue of RMB298,893,000, an increase
in the Group’s profit attributable to the owners of the Company of
RMB64,476,000, respectively.

The effect of restatements described above on the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 1 January 2017 and 31 December
2017 has resulted in an increase in the Group’s total equity by
RMB45,809,000 and RMB110,285,000 respectively.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSS for the
first time for the current year's financial statements:
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EHBEMBMRAE CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

HKFRS 9
HKFRS 15

HK(FRIC)- Int 22

Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 4

Amendments HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKAS 40

Annual Improvements
2014-2016 Cycle

Financial Instruments

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration

Classifications and Measurement of
Share-based Payment Transactions

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

Clarification to HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers

Transfers of Investment Property

Amendments to HKFRS 1 and HKAS 28
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

Except for the amendments to HKFRS 2, amendments to HKFRS 4 and
Annual Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle, which are not relevant to the
preparation of the Group's financial statements, the nature and the
impact of the new and revised HKFRSs are described below:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018, bringing together all three
aspects of the accounting for financial instruments: classification
and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting.

The Group has recognised the transition adjustments against the
applicable opening balances in equity at 1 January 2018.
Therefore, the comparative information was not restated and
continues to be reported under HKAS 39.

CLASSIFICATION AND MEASUREMENT

The following information sets out the impacts of adopting
HKFRS 9 on the statement of financial position, including the
effect of replacing HKAS 39's incurred credit loss calculations
with HKFRS 9's expected credit losses (“ECLS").
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(@  (continued)

CLASSIFICATION AND MEASUREMENT (continued)

A reconciliation between the carrying amounts under HKAS 39
and the balances reported under HKFRS 9 as at 1 January 2018

is as follows:

BAGIIERERAE
HKAS 39 measurement

BAMBREENEIFHE
HKFRS 9 measurement

8 kbl Hity Lo
Amount Category classification Other Amount Category
M ARBTR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
SREE Financial assets
ERHM2AREEATE Equity instruments at fair value Fvocr
FIBR 2 RAT A through other comprehensive income - N/A 51,877 - - 51,877 (equity)
B AHEERE From: Available-for-sale investments (i) 51,877 - -
AHHERE Available-for-sale investments 51,877 AFS? (51,877) - - - N/A
Z: EREMEENE To: Equity instruments at fair value through
BRATER other comprehensive income
RATA 0} (51,877) - -
S AEYRSL - EfbfEYREEIE - Financial assets included in trade
BRATERIEH receivables, other receivables,
SHEE prepayments and deposits (ii) 21,706,839 L&R? - (84,802) - 21,622,037 ACt
EWSERERARRE Amount due from the ultimate holding
company 15 L8R - - - 115 AC
FEW R ERR A RIFA Amounts due from intermediate holding
companies 18,657 L&R = 2 = 18,655 AC
A GEL NGRS Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries 814,511 L&R - 81 - 814,430 AC
EUAEPERE Amounts due from joint ventures 9,842,736 L8R - (984) - 9841752 AC
A UNGIE ] Amounts due from associates 8,463,419 L&R - (846) - 8462573 AC
TEU IR A R 2R Amounts due from non-controlling interests 2,898,568 L&R - (290) - 2898278 AC
BATESABHNSRERE  Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 7,022 FVPLS - - - 7,022 FVPL
Re RRTHEF Cash and bank halances 53,774,004 L&R - - - 53,774,004 AC
HitEE Other assets
AHEE Contract assets (ii) 485,691 L&R - (46) - 485,645 AC
febs Total 98,063,439 - (87,051) - 97,976,388

EHBEMBMRAE CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED
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(i)

(ii)

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities included in trade and
other payables

Amounts due to intermediate holding
companies

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries

Amounts due to joint ventures

Amounts due to associates

Amounts due to non-controlling interests

Bank borrowings

Senior notes

Medium-term notes

Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss

Other liabilities
Deferred taxation liabilities

Total

FVOCI : B H M2 ml=sE AT E
FIRRM S REE

AFS : A[{EHHEIRE

L&R : B R U FIE

AC : IREESHR AT RS B & E sk
SHMBE

FVPL : B AT EFABZNSE
=

ANEE B T AT 0] 4 38 R R T
SERT A R R B TE A B EA
FE R A FESIRRZ A TR

(BB & ERIFE 399t E — 28]
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(@  (continued)
CLASSIFICATION AND MEASUREMENT (continued)

EAGHEAENEHE

ERRBREENEIRHE

HKAS 39 measurement HKFRS 9 measurement
£ Bl EFOR | Hft kx| 7l
Re-
Amount Category classification Other Amount Category
ARBFT ARBTT ARBTT AREBTT ARETE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
57,174,975 AC - - - 57,174,975 AC
1,503,081 AC - - - 1,503,081 AC
2573911 AC - - - 2573911 AC
417,926 AC - - - 417,926 AC
1,203,701 AC - - - 1,203,701 AC
9,175,074 AC - - - 9175074 AC
82,469,007 AC - - - 82,469,007 AC
12,909,309 AC - - - 12,909,309 AC
10,177,872 AC - - - 10,177,872 AC
256,369 FVPL - - - 256,369 FVPL
(mandatory)
(5&%l)
12,268,036 - - - 12,268,036
190,129,261 - - - 190,129,261
i FVOCI: Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income
2 AFS: Available-for-sale investments
9 L&R: Loans and receivables
& AC: Financial assets or financial liabilities at amortised cost
2 FVPL: Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Notes:

(0

(i)

The Group has elected the option to irrevocably designate certain
of its previous available-for-sale investments as equity
instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The gross carrying amounts of the trade receivables and the
contract assets under the column “HKAS 39 measurement —
Amount” represent the amounts after adjustments for the
adoption of HKFRS 15 but before the measurement of ECLS.
Further details of the adjustments for the adoption of HKFRS 15
are included in note 3(b) to the financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)
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(continued)

IMPAIRMENT

The following table reconciles the aggregate opening impairment
allowances under HKAS 39 to the ECL allowances under HKFRS
9. Further details are disclosed in note 26 and note 28 to the
financial statements.

28 W F& ©
RZE—N\F
—A—H
S S B 755 S o 22 A
ELL RN
EEBEREE
e (K E51) EFFE (g &7)
Impairment
allowances under ECL allowances
HKAS 39 at under HKFRS 9 at
31 December 2017 1 January 2018
(Restated) ~ Re-measurement (Restated)
ARBFIL AREFT AREFTT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
BAGHEAEDRET Available-for-sale investments under
AENERE HKAS 39 177,445 - 177,445
AR - EfEMERIE - Financial assets included in trade
BRRERTEH receivables, other receivables,
SREE prepayments and deposits 419,687 84,802 504,489
JFEUS R 1R AR A B FR0E Amounts due from intermediate holding
companies - 2 2
e R R KT 2 B ZUR Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries - 81 81
el E SR EEFIE Amounts due from joint ventures - 984 984
JEWBE & A BIFE Amounts due from associates - 846 846
FEU IR IE IR i 25 2R Amounts due from non-controlling interests - 290 290
BHEE Contract assets - 46 46

EHBEMBMRAE CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED
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3. R ABETHFEBMESHYE 3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
e[ ([ v I 5 i o5 M2 J ) (42) KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(@ (#&) (@)  (continued)
B R AR Bt A Z 7 IMPACT ON RESERVES AND RETAINED PROFITS

BEEZRBUEHRELERNFEIFRE The impact of transition to HKFRS 9 on reserves and retained
BRIREB AT ZEWNT profits is as follows:

HAbEBR
RBEF

Other reserves and
retained profits

BERUBHEERE IR/ FRETER
E39MET HittfR A

REBEGTENENRN T —+F
TZA=t+—HMER(KET)

B EEBRELEENERA AR
BATA(LRREEEGFEF 9%
WA E)

REEEMBREERE T
R-F—\F—-A—-R8&EH (KEF)

REER

REEEGTLEYEIRN _B—+5F

Other reserves under HKFRS 9/HKAS 39
Balance as at 31 December 2017 under HKAS 39 (Restated)

Re-measurement of equity instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income previously measured
at cost under HKAS 39

Balance as at 1 January 2018 under HKFRS 9 (Restated)

Retained profits
Balance as at 31 December 2017 under HKAS 39 (Restated)

ARBF T
RMB'000

(11,640,418)

(177,445)

(11,817,863)

+tZA=+—AMEHR(EED) 79,390,959
RIS EREEDBORERALIEER Recognition of expected credit losses for contract assets
HEEEER under HKFRS 9 (46)
IRARE PS8 15 i 5 HE R 58 9 SRR FE I AR 3K Recognition of expected credit losses for trade receivables,
Hih e RIS « BRI REKT 2/ other receivables, prepayments and deposits
EHEERE under HKFRS 9 (84,802)
HERERFREERA R FENBREEEE Recognition of expected credit losses for amounts due from
intermediate holding companies 2
BREWRZN B AT RENESRZEERE Recognition of expected credit losses for amounts due from
fellow subsidiaries 81
BREWAECERENEREEBR Recoghnition of expected credit losses for amounts due from
joint ventures (984)
RS N RENEREEEE Recognition of expected credit losses for amounts due from
associates (846)
REWHE RS RBENESREEER Recognition of expected credit losses for amounts due from
non-controlling interests (290)
FIRBBHM P EMSIEATENEZKRATA  Reversal of impairment losses under HKAS 39 for equity
(LRRBEEAG T ERNE 9 RIRNAFTE) instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income
BEIRBGTERNE AT RERE previously classified as available-for-sale investments 177,445
REE B BRELAE W Balances as at 1 January 2018 under HKFRS 9 (Restated)
RZZE-N\F-A—BHEHR(KET) 79,481,353
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EBHBEMBRAT CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(b)

HKFRS 15 and its amendments replace HKAS 11 Construction
Contracts, HKAS 18 Revenue and related interpretations and it
applies, with limited exceptions, to all revenue arising from
contracts with customers. HKFRS 15, establishes a new five-step
model to account for revenue arising from contracts with
customers. Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or
services to a customer. The principles in HKFRS 15 provide a
more structured approach for measuring and recognising
revenue. The standard also introduces extensive qualitative and
quantitative disclosure requirements, including disaggregation
of total revenue, information about performance obligations,
changes in contract asset and liability account balances
between periods and key judgements and estimates. The
disclosures are included in notes 3 and 5 to the financial
statements. As a result of the application of HKFRS 15, the Group
has changed the accounting policy with respect to revenue
recognition in note 4 to the financial statements.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 using the modified
retrospective method of adoption. Under this method, the
standard can be applied either to all contracts at the date of
initial application or only to contracts that are not completed at
this date. The Group has elected to apply the standard to
contracts that are not completed as at 1 January 2018.

The cumulative effect of the initial application of HKFRS 15 was
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits as at 1 January 2018. Therefore, the comparative
information was not restated and continues to be reported
under HKAS 11, HKAS 18 and related interpretations.
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3. R ABETHFEBMESHYE 3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
e[ ([ v I 5 i o5 M2 J ) (42) KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

b (&) (b)
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(continued)

Set out below are the amounts by which each financial
statement line item was affected as at 1 January 2018 as a result
of the adoption of HKFRS 15:

#an/ Crd)
Increase/
(decrease)

B3 ARETFT

Notes RMB'000
BE Assets
HIHE 2 W Properties for sale 0 3,530,878
BHEE Contract assets (ii), (iii) 485,691
EREFA#TERIEA Amounts due from customers for contract works (iii) (421,386)
BERE Total assets 3,595,183
afE Liabilities
=X oh=Li Contract liabilities @), (iii) 123,064,798
TEEMED KRR Advances received from pre-sales of properties (i) (119,372,967)
EREFPELHIENE Amounts due to customers for contract works (iii) (160,953)
EBERIBEE Deferred taxation liabilities (i) 16,076
BEERE Total liabilities 3,546,954
T Equity
IREB 5 F| Retained profits (i), (iv) 48,229
FEEAR M 2 Non-controlling interests (ii), (iv) -

48,229
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KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)
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BHEZMBERREER T —/\F
T A=+—BREBEE-ZZT—N\F
TZA=T-—HLEFENXTES
R o IRINE B S EAERIZE 15575
Hth 2 EEREI A EERLE  RE
EpERensrsayre - E—HE
TR E B RS AR 15 5% 50 8%

SR - ME - WERTEERAEE
W EERE 15BN T
2

3. FWEFIWTAT B AR 06T A B A B R 3.
e S0 ([ o B 5 o YR B0 1) (A7)

(continued)

Set out below are the amounts by which each financial
statement line item was affected as at 31 December 2018 and
for the year ended 31 December 2018 as a result of the adoption
of HKFRS 15. The adoption of HKFRS 15 has had no impact on
other comprehensive income or on the Group’s operating,
investing and financing cash flows. The first column shows the
amounts recorded under HKFRS 15 and the second column
shows what the amounts would have been had HKFRS 15 not
been adopted:

BE-_ 22— N\F+_-_A=1+—B8I#F
ERiREREE

Consolidated income statement for the year ended 31
December 2018:

BEAT B IBREH S
Amounts prepared under
BRM IS
£ERIZE 155%

BERBIE
AR
Previous
HKFRS
AREFT

g/ CRd)
Increase/

(decrease)
ARETFT

HKFRS 15
B ARBTT

Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Wz Revenue (i) 121,188,926 115,914,920 5,274,006
SHEBCAR Cost of sales 0) (68,607,237 (63,333,231) (5,274,000)
EF Gross profit 52,581,689 52,581,689 -
HERMBHEEL L Selling and marketing expenses (i) (4,177,139) (4,324,392) 147,253
75 Al v Profit before taxation 51,726,285 51,579,032 147,253
ey Income tax expense (i) (24,449,036) (24,412,223) (36,813)
FREF Profit for the year 27,277,249 27,166,809 110,440
AR AT B Attributable to:
KATEAA Owners of the Company 24,237,875 24,127,435 110,440
SRR Non-controlling interests 2,751,749 2,751,749 -
KEBARTEHEAA Owner of perpetual capital
instrument 287,625 287,625 -
27,277,249 27,166,809 110,440

EHBEMBMRAE CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RO RS IR MU

3. ERBET RRBEITHFEME#RY 3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG

e[ ([ v I 5 i o5 M2 J ) (42) KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)
by (&) () (continued)
R-ZE—NF+_A=1+—HNEKE Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
BRSO 2018:
BEAT B IBREH S

Amounts prepared under
BRM IS BEBBUHE
AERIZE 1557 s 4R &0/ O )

Previous Increase/
HKFRS 15 HKFRS (decrease)

B3 ARETT AREFTT ARETFT
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
G3ckd ES Properties for sale 0) 304,500,869 293,148,405 11,352,464
BHEE Contract assets (i, (i 561,112 - 561,112
fElEPFA4TIZZRIE  Amounts due from customers
for contract works (i) - 349,554 (349,554)
BERE Total assets 655,743,327 644,179,305 11,564,022
EHEE Contract liabilities (i), (iii) 192,265,229 - 192,265,229
TEEWMEDWER Advances received from
pre-sales of properties (i) - 180,743,970 (180,743,970)
EREPA&#TIZEEIE  Amounts due to customers
for contract works (iii) - 168,795 (168,795)
FEFIEEE Deferred taxation liabilities (iv) 15,242,499 15,189,610 52,889
BERTE Total liabilities 475,038,586 463,633,233 11,405,353
{REB 4 7| Retained profits (i), (iv) 94,562,348 94,403,679 158,669
EmPRE Total equity 180,704,741 180,546,072 158,669
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EBHBEMBRAT CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(b)

(continued)

The nature of the adjustments as at 1 January 2018 and the
reasons for the significant changes in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018 and the
consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December
2018 are described below:

)

SALE OF PROPERTIES

In the prior reporting periods, proceeds received from
customers for pre-sold properties were presented as
advances received from pre-sale of properties and no
interest was accrued on the advances received.

Under HKFRS 15, for contracts where the period between
the payments by the customer differs from the transfer of
the promised goods or service, the transaction price and
the amount of revenue from the sales is adjusted for the
effects of a financing component, if significant. The Group
concluded that there is a significant financing component
considering the length of time between the customers’
payment and the transfer of properties to customers and
the prevailing interest rates in the market. The transaction
price is discounted to take into consideration the
significant financing component. The Group recognised
contract liabilities for the interest on the advances
received from customers with a significant financing
component. In addition, reclassifications have been made
from advances received from pre-sale of properties to
contract liabilities for the outstanding balance of advances
from customers.

The statement of financial position as at 1 January 2018
was restated, resulting in recognition of contract liabilities,
increase in property for sale and decrease in advances
received from pre-sale of properties amounting to
RMB122,903,845,000, RMB3,530,878,000 and
RMB119,372,967,000, respectively.
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HEYFE (4H)
R=_ZE—N\F+=-—A=+—8"
ﬁm%%%%ﬁiﬁ%%w%
BYEHNBEREHEZWE
ig hnA R % 11,352,464,000 7T °
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BIEFE EMEAMBERE
AR F 155 BHRA K E K
38 hn A R #55,274,006,0007T ©
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G442 i Ak
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REEHEBEBEBEARE
16,076,000 7T ©
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BYHANEERBEEHBEBE
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(b)

(continued)

)

()

SALE OF PROPERTIES (continued)

As at 31 December 2018, the adoption of HKFRS 15
resulted in an increase in contract liabilities and property
for sale amounting to RMB11,352,464,000. For the year
ended 31 December 2018, the adoption of HKFRS 15
resulted in an increase in revenue and cost of sales
amounting to RMB5,274,006,000.

As at 31 December 2018, under HKFRS 15,
RMB180,743,970,000 was reclassified from advances
received from pre-sales of properties to contract liabilities.

THE INCREMENTAL COSTS OF OBTAINING A
CONTRACT

Following the adoption of HKFRS 15, sales commissions
directly attributable to obtaining a contract, if recoverable,
are capitalised as contract assets.

The statement of financial position as at 1 January 2018
was restated, resulting in recognition of contract assets
and increases in retained profits and deferred taxation
liabilities amounting to RMB64,305,000, RMB48,229,000
and RMB16,076,000, respectively.

As at 31 December 2018, the adoption of HKFRS 15
resulted in an increase in contract assets and deferred
taxation liabilities amounting to RMB211,558,000 and
RMB52,889,000 respectively. For the year ended 31
December 2018, the adoption of HKFRS 15 resulted in an
increase in income tax expenses and a decrease in selling
and marketing expenses amounting to RMB36,813,000
and RMB147,253,000 respectively.
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EBHBEMBRAT CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

()

(continued)

(111)

CONSTRUCTION AND DECORATION SERVICE

In prior reporting periods, revenue from construction and
decoration service is recognised in the accounting period
in which the services are rendered, by reference to the
proportion of the contract costs incurred for work
performed to date relative to the estimated total contract
COSts.

Under HKFRS15, the Group concluded that revenue from
construction and decoration service will continue to be
recognised over time, using an input method to measure
progress towards complete satisfaction of the service
similar to the previous accounting policy.

Following the adoption of HKFRS 15, for contracts where
contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits
less recognised losses exceed progress billings, the
surplus, which previously presented as amounts due from
customers for contract works, is recorded as contract
assets. For contracts where progress billings exceed
contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits
less recognised losses, the surplus, which previously
presented as amounts due to customers for contract
works, is recorded as contract liabilities.

The statement of financial position as at 1 January 2018
was restated resulting in recognition of contract assets
and contract liabilities, amounting to RMB421,386,000 and
RMB160,953,000, respectively, and decrease in amounts
due from customers for contract works and amounts due
to customers for contract works amounting to
RMB421,386,000 and RMB160,953,000, respectively.

As at 31 December 2018, under HKFRS 15,
RMB349,554,000 and RMB168,795,000 were reclassified
from amounts due from customers for contract work and
amounts due to customers for contract work to contract
assets and contract liabilities.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

(b)

(continued)
(i) OTHER ADJUSTMENTS

In addition to the adjustments described above, other
items such as retained profits were adjusted as necessary.

Amendments to HKAS 40, clarify when an entity should transfer
property, including property under construction or development,
into or out of investment property. The amendments state that a
change in use occurs when the property meets, or ceases to
meet, the definition of investment property and there is
evidence of the change in use. A mere change in management’s
intentions for the use of a property does not provide evidence of
a change in use. The amendments have had no impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22, provides guidance on how to determine the
date of the transaction when applying HKAS 21 to the situation
where an entity receives or pays advance consideration in a
foreign currency and recognises a non-monetary asset or
liability. The interpretation clarifies that the date of the
transaction for the purpose of determining the exchange rate to
use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income
(or part of it) is the date on which an entity initially recognises
the non-monetary asset (such as a prepayment) or non-
monetary liability (such as deferred income) arising from the
payment or receipt of the advance consideration. If there are
multiple payments or receipts in advance of recognising the
related item, the entity must determine the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance consideration. The
interpretation has had no impact on the Group’s financial
statements as the Group’s accounting policy for the
determination of the exchange rate applied for initial recognition
of non-monetary assets or non-monetary liabilities is consistent
with the guidance provided in the interpretation.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that
have been issued but are not yet effective:

ERYBREERE 165 HE' HKFRS 16 Leases'

BANBREENE 17 RBA#H? HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?

BE(ARmBREREREE) MEHRRATREY HK(FRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
—REERBY Treatments’

ERRMBRERNEIR (BEIA) FBLER’ Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of Business?

BANBREEANZ IR (ETR) AGAREMERRY Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative

BEMBREEAE0HR

REEEABENAR

Amendments to HKFRS 10

Compensation’
Sale or Contribution of Assets between

BEeR 4% 285, RELEHEE and HKAS 28 (2011) an Investor and its Associate
(ZB—F)(3F) HEgTE or Joint Venture*
EREENE1RREESH  EALTE? Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material?

RAF ST (BTX)
EAGHREAZ 193 (BT A)

TRIEE - R ER

and HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 19

Plan Amendment, Curtailment
or Settlement’

BEQRE 8% (BEA) REERRAIRAE Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and
PENRBER' Joint Ventures'
—E-RFEE-Z+FRH ERIBREEE Annual Improvements Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11,

ZERBE

B35 BAYERE
EBIZE11% BB
SEEAE 125K

2015-2017 Cycle

HKAS 12 and HKAS 23"

BB EER
EBHZER!
f RZZE-NF-—A-—BR2ERBRZFE L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
HAR A
2 R-IE_EF— A B2 BHBZFE 2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
HIM AR
3 RIE-_—F— A BB ZEE 9 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
HAR AR
a EEIEM BN EEE 4 The mandatory effective date will be determined

TXHEAERAEREANAEENTBUE

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be

REERIRE—PER - applicable to the Group is described below.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional guidance on
the definition of a business. The amendments clarify that for an
integrated set of activities and assets to be considered a business, it
must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that
together significantly contribute to the ability to create output. A
business can exist without including all of the inputs and processes
needed to create outputs. The amendments remove the assessment
of whether market participants are capable of acquiring the business
and continue to produce outputs. Instead, the focus is on whether
acquired inputs and acquired substantive processes together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
amendments have also narrowed the definition of outputs to focus on
g00ds or services provided to customers, investment income or other
income from ordinary activities. Furthermore, the amendments
provide guidance to assess whether an acquired process is
substantive and introduce an optional fair value concentration test to
permit a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities
and assets is not a business. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments prospectively from 1 January 2020.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28
(2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a
full recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in
the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The amendments
are to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date
of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the
HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective date will be
determined after the completion of a broader review of accounting for
associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available
for adoption now.
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EBHBEMBRAT CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 16, replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating
Leases — Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of
Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets
out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognise assets and
liabilities for most leases. The standard includes two elective
recognition exemptions for lessees — leases of low-value assets and
short-term leases. At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will
recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and
an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during the
lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). The right-of-use asset is
subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses unless the right-of-use asset meets the
definition of investment property in HKAS 40, or relates to a class of
property, plant and equipment to which the revaluation model is
applied. The lease liability is subsequently increased to reflect the
interest on the lease liability and reduced for the lease payments.
Lessees will be required to separately recognise the interest expense
on the lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use
asset. Lessees will also be required to remeasure the lease liability
upon the occurrence of certain events, such as change in the lease
term and change in future lease payments resulting from a change in
an index or rate used to determine those payments. Lessees will
generally recognise the amount of the re-measurement of the lease
liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting
under HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from the accounting under
HKAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same
classification principle as in HKAS 17 and distinguish between
operating leases and finance leases. HKFRS 16 requires lessees and
lessors to make more extensive disclosures than under HKAS 17.
Lessees can choose to apply the standard using either a full
retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. The Group will
adopt HKFRS 16 from 1 January 2019. The Group plans to adopt the
transitional provisions in HKFRS 16 to recognise the cumulative effect
of initial adoption as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits at 1 January 2019 and will not restate the comparatives. In
addition, the Group plans to apply the new requirements to contracts
that were previously identified as leases applying HKAS 17 and
measure the lease liability at the present value of the remaining lease
payments, discounted using the Group'’s incremental borrowing rate at
the date of initial application. The right-of-use asset will be measured
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

at the amount of the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any
prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the lease recognised in
the statement of financial position immediately before the date of
initial application. The Group plans to use the exemptions allowed by
the standard on lease contracts whose lease terms end within 12
months as of the date of initial application.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has non-cancellable operating
lease commitments of RMB2,063,873,000, as disclosed in note 42. A
preliminary assessment indicates that these arrangements will meet
the definition of a lease. Upon application of HKFRS 16, the Group will
recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability in respect
of these leases unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new definition of
material. The new definition states that information is material if
omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial statements. The
amendments clarify that materiality will depend on the nature or
magnitude of information. A misstatement of information is material if
it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions made by the
primary users. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
prospectively from 1 January 2020. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

—E-NEE®RE ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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EBHBEMBRAT CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 28 clarify that the scope exclusion of HKFRS 9
only includes interests in an associate or joint venture to which the
equity method is applied and does not include long-term interests that
in substance form part of the net investment in the associate or joint
venture, to which the equity method has not been applied. Therefore,
an entity applies HKFRS 9, rather than HKAS 28, including the
impairment requirements under HKFRS 9, in accounting for such long-
term interests. HKAS 28 is then applied to the net investment, which
includes the long-term interests, only in the context of recognising
losses of an associate or joint venture and impairment of the net
investment in the associate or joint venture. The Group expects to
adopt the amendments on 1 January 2019 and will assess its business
model for such long-term interests based on the facts and
circumstances that exist on 1 January 2019 using the transitional
requirements in the amendments. The Group also intends to apply the
relief from restating comparative information for prior periods upon
adoption of the amendments.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23, addresses the accounting for income taxes (current
and deferred) when tax treatments involve uncertainty that affects the
application of HKAS 12 (often referred to as “uncertain tax positions”).
The interpretation does not apply to taxes or levies outside the scope
of HKAS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements relating to
interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax treatments. The
interpretation specifically addresses (i) whether an entity considers
uncertain tax treatments separately; (i) the assumptions an entity
makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities;
(i) how an entity determines taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases,
unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates; and (iv) how an
entity considers changes in facts and circumstances. The interpretation is
to be applied retrospectively, either fully retrospectively without the use of
hindsight or retrospectively with the cumulative effect of application as an
adjustment to the opening equity at the date of initial application, without
the restatement of comparative information. The Group expects to adopt
the interpretation from 1 January 2019. The interpretation is not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the disclosure
requirement of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“CO”").

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for investment properties and certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technigue.
In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes
into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account when
pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are within the scope
of HKAS 17 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of ASsets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a
market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the
asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

—E-NEE®RE ANNUAL REPORT 2018



4.

#zH

FEREEEOR () 4.

APERHE ()

AN BB mEM S - A FEENRE
RNHEFERABIBNTBREERATE
AERARBNEREEMMEADAE —
A BoMEE=F AT

s E-RBABBAZERUNGEER
B EHRREESE ERERMSIS
HRE CREHE)

s F_RBABERE-RAMERKRE
OB ER BB BRI
e ABE - &

s FoRBABERNEEXREBEME
FERNBE AR

TESFEEREIIOT

fo iy e
FEPBHRRBEARTARBARE RE
M AR AE EBHNMBERE - ARBE
NHIES T BV A 4R 4

. AHRRAARDGEEN

o FRBZEPIREAFKAE D RS
AZEBRRFEEEN &

o  HEENEREBRNAZEEDRE -

fisl 55 B RAEBRIA Pl =i Sl S tE
f—E A L HRES  AEEERERT
ISR ITE QR GRS -

7R B A HRAS Y 8 2 ) O 28 ) AR B 7 1 S B
BRAGAAR YR AEERENE QA
REEGIRER AL - LER  REAKREIH
EMBARNKARMX - EHAKERG
EhHIEE AREEARERENE R BT
HEE Bt ASREIRER ©

BEBERAT CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the
inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below:

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income
statement from the date the Group gains control until the date when
the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group'’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

CHANGES IN THE GROUP’S OWNERSHIP INTERESTS IN
EXISTING SUBSIDIARIES

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group’s relevant components of equity and the non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests
in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant reserves
between the Group and the non-controlling interests according to the
Group’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and liabilities
of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any) are
derecognised. A gain or 10ss is recognised in profit or loss and is
calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest
and (i) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill),
and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to owners of the Company.
All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity
as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSS). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control
is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under HKAS 39 or, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

—E-NEE®RE ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Acquisitions of businesses involving business not under common
control are accounted for using the acquisition method. The
consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at
fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair
values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

o deferred taxation assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and
measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS
19 Employee Benefits respectively;,

. liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the
acquisition date (see the accounting policy below); and

. assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the acquisition-
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any),
the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially measured
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-
transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are
measured at their fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified
in another HKFRS.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the
Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period (see above), and additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about
facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that date.

MERGER ACCOUNTING FOR BUSINESS
COMBINATION INVOLVING BUSINESSES UNDER
COMMON CONTROL

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements items of the combining businesses in which the common
control combination occurs as if they had been combined from the
date when the combining businesses first came under the control of
the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining businesses are consolidated using the
existing book values from the controlling party’s perspective. The
assets and liabilities of the acquired business should be recorded at
the book values as stated in the consolidated financial statements of
the controlling party (i.e. it will require recording of the fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquired business at the date of
original acquisition from third parties by the controlling party, any
remaining goodwill arising on the previous acquisition and minority
interests recorded in the consolidated financial statements of the
controlling party). No amount is recognised in respect of goodwill or
bargain purchase gain at the time of common control combination.
The adjustments to eliminate share/registered capital of the combining
businesses against the related investment costs have been made to
other reserves in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

—E-NEE®RE ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

MERGER ACCOUNTING FOR BUSINESS
COMBINATION INVOLVING BUSINESSES UNDER
COMMON CONTROL (continued)

The consolidated income statement and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income include the results of each of the combining
businesses from the earliest date presented or since the date when
the combining businesses first came under the common control,
where this is a shorter period.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial statements are
presented as if the businesses had been combined at the end of the
previous reporting period or when they first came under common
control, whichever is shorter.

GOODWILL

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as
established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each
of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating
units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not larger than an
operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that
reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group
of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount of
profit or loss on disposal.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of a joint
venture is described below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY NOT
CONSTITUTING A BUSINESS

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do not
constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises the
individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by
allocating the purchase price first to the investment properties which
are subsequently measured under fair value model and financial
assets and financial liabilities at the respective fair values, the
remaining balance of the purchase price is then allocated to the other
individual identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative
fair values at the date of purchase. Such transaction does not give rise
to goodwill or bargain purchase gain.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of
control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control.

—E-NEE®RE ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES (continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint ventures
are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the
equity method of accounting. The financial statements of associates
and joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity
method, an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the profit or
loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint
venture. Changes in net assets of the associate or joint venture other
than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not accounted
for unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership interest
held by the Group. When the Group'’s share of losses of an associate
or joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that associate or joint
venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or joint
venture), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is
included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES (continued)

The requirements of HKFRS 9 are applied to determine whether it is
necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect to the
Group's investment in an associate or a joint venture. When necessary,
the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of
Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate
or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal of
the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or 10ss. When the Group retains an interest in the
former associate or joint venture and the retained interest is a financial
asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures the retained
interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its
fair value on initial recognition in accordance with HKFRS 9. The
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint
venture at the date the equity method was discontinued, and the fair
value of any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing the
relevant interest in the associate or joint venture is included in the
determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate or joint
venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate
or joint venture on the same basis as would be required if that
associate or joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate or joint venture would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or
liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or 10ss from equity to profit or
loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of
the relevant associate or joint venture.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of
the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or
joint venture that are not related to the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

REVENUE RECOGNITION (APPLICABLE FROM
1 JANUARY 2018)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of
goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the
amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will be
entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the
customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract inception
and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant revenue
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not
occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration
is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the
customer a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the
discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction between the Group and the customer at contract
inception. When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group a significant financial benefit for more than one
year, revenue recognised under the contract includes the interest
expense accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment by the
customer and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one
year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a
significant financing component, using the practical expedient in
HKFRS 15.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

REVENUE RECOGNITION (APPLICABLE FROM
1 JANUARY 2018) (continued)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS (continued)

Revenue from development properties for sale in the ordinary course
of business is recognised at the point in time when customers obtain
the physical possession or the legal title of the completed properties
and the Group has right to payment and collection of the consideration
is probable.

Revenue from construction and decoration service is recognised over
time, using an input method to measure progress towards complete
satisfaction of the service. The input method recognizes revenue
based on the proportion of actual costs incurred relative to the
estimated total costs for satisfaction of the construction services.

Revenue from management and hotel services is recognised over the
scheduled period on a straight-line basis.

Revenue from sale of goods (including furnitures and other inventories)
are recognised at point in time when control of the goods is
transferred to the customer, generally on the acceptance of the goods
by the customer.

OTHER INCOME

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

—E-NEE®RE ANNUAL REPORT 2018



4.

EBHBEMBRAT CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

FEREEEOR ()

W AR (O =& — )\ —H — H Bl
A

WARE WK ERREN R FERFE - EX
RGBS A ERAAEEREBEKTX
PRt A KBS LN EERE - MBAS
BRRE I SE AT B AT - RURERRURA -

A EBBRTHECERMEZ WARS
%R B LR RR - EBDER T
fef

o AKECEMEMEEZENARR
CHBETER - IRBAMEZE
ST ATRF B 3% T K 48 8 e Wk
TH 2 AU e A IR S R

o  AREYERE -REMAEERZ
EEMERET R ERIZGE

o WASFREAERE

s BXFHEWILKEBENGEARRARE
ETRN

o RPEEERISEEZRALT R

=
5 °

A Lt W iR R R 2R AT B B 77 R PT
BHET & Ry BN SGE AR MR R
BREAT -

i 58 o SRA AR 75 2 W et 10 AR 745 4 14 A ) 4
R ER2ERBEERMETIREELS
RIPRAE TS KR AR L) ©

REBEFREE  HERYRHARE
HEMEE RS 2 WARTR U A BR AR TS5 fE

7
o

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

REVENUE RECOGNITION (APPLICABLE BEFORE
1 JANUARY 2018)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable. Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured; when it is probable the future economic benefits
will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have been met for
each of the Group’s activities as described below.

Revenue from development properties for sale in the ordinary course
of business is recognised when the properties are delivered and titles
have been passed, at which the following conditions are satisfied:

J the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and
rewards of ownership of the properties, which is when the
construction of relevant properties has been completed upon
delivery and collectability of related receivables is reasonably
assured:;

o the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to
the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective
control over the properties sold;

. the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

o it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
transaction will flow to the Group; and

. the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction
can be measured reliably.

Deposits and instalments received from purchasers prior to meeting
the above criteria for revenue recognition are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position under current liabilities.

Revenue from construction and decoration service is recognised in the
accounting period in which the services are rendered, by reference to
the proportion of the contract costs incurred for work performed to
date relative to the estimated total contract costs.

Revenue from room rental, food and beverage sales and other
ancillary services in the hotel are recognised when the relevant
services have been rendered.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

REVENUE RECOGNITION (APPLICABLE BEFORE
1 JANUARY 2018) (continued)

Revenue from sale of goods (including furnitures and other inventories)
is recognised when goods are delivered to the customer, the customer
has accepted the products and collectability of the related receivables
is reasonably assured.

Property management service income and other service income are
recognised when services are rendered.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable
that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of
income can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time
apportionment basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at
the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life
of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

The Group’s accounting policy for recognition of revenue from
operating leases is described in the accounting policy for leasing
below.

CONTRACT ASSETS (APPLICABLE FROM 1 JANUARY
2018)

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or
services transferred to the customer. If the Group performs by
transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer pays
consideration or before payment is due, a contract asset is recognised
for the earned consideration that is conditional.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (APPLICABLE FROM
1 JANUARY 2018)

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a
customer for which the Group has received a consideration (or an
amount of consideration that is due) from the customer. If a customer
pays the consideration before the Group transfers goods or services to
the customer, a contract liability is recognised when the payment is
made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract.

—E-NEE®RE ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

CONTRACT COSTS (APPLICABLE FROM 1 JANUARY
2018)

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories, property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil a
contract with a customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the
following criteria are met:

(@  The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b)  The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will
be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) performance
obligations in the future.

()  The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to the
consolidated income statement on a systematic basis that is
consistent with the pattern of the revenue to which the asset related is
recognised. Other contract costs are expensed as incurred.

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS (APPLICABLE BEFORE
1 JANUARY 2018)

Where the outcome of a construction contract (including decoration
contract) can be estimated reliably, revenue and costs are recognised
by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the
end of the reporting period, as measured based on the proportion that
the contract costs incurred for work performed to date relative to the
estimated total contract costs. Variations in contract work, claims and
incentive payments are included to the extent that the amount can be
measured reliably and its receipt is considered probable.

Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated
reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the extent of contract costs
incurred that it is probable will be recoverable. Contract costs are
recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract
revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS (APPLICABLE BEFORE
1 JANUARY 2018) (continued)

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is shown as
amounts due from customers for contract work. For contracts where
progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date plus
recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is shown as
amounts due to customers for contract work. Amounts received
before the related work is performed are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position, as a liability, as advances received.
Amounts billed for work performed but not yet paid by the customer
are included in the consolidated statement of financial position under
trade and other receivables.

LEASES

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

THE GROUP AS LESSOR

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or 1oss on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Contingent
rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as income in the
period in which they are earned.

THE GROUP AS LESSEE

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. Contingent rentals arising under
operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which
they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
LEASING (continued)
LEASEHOLD LAND AND BUILDING

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Group
assesses the classification of each element as a finance or an
operating lease separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of each
element have been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that
both elements are operating leases in which case the entire property
is accounted as an operating lease. Specifically, the entire
consideration (including any lump-sum upfront payments) is allocated
between the land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land element and
building element of the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an operating
lease is presented as “land use rights” in the consolidated statement
of financial position and is amortised over the lease term on a straight-
line basis except for those that are classified and accounted for as
investment properties under the fair value model. When the lease
payments cannot be allocated reliably between the leasehold land and
building elements, the entire property is generally classified as if the
leasehold land is under a finance lease and accounted for as property,
plant and equipment.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised in the respective functional
currency at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
FOREIGN CURRENCIES (continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and
on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise except for:

. exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to
assets under construction for future productive use, which are
included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as
an adjustment to interest costs on those foreign currency
borrowings;

o exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to
hedge certain foreign currency risks; and

o exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or
payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither
planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net
investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised
initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from
equlity to profit or loss on repayment of the monetary items.

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

—E-NEE®RE ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
FOREIGN CURRENCIES (continued)

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements, (i)
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations; and (ii) the
assets and liabilities of the Group denominated or translated in the
functional currency of the Company are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. RMB), using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expense
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in
which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading
of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group's
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial
disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that
includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a
financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity
in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate
share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-
controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all
other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or joint
arrangements that do not result in the Group losing significant
influence or joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

The functional currency of a group entity is changed only if there is a
change to the underlying transactions, events and conditions relevant
to the group entity. The group entity applies the translation procedures
applicable to the new functional currency prospectively from the date
of the change. At the date of the change, the group entity translates all
items into the new functional currency using the prevailing exchange
rate at that date and the resulting translated amounts for non-
monetary items are treated as their historical cost.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or 10ss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the
related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses
or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS AND TERMINATION
BENEFITS

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT ARRANGEMENTS
EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
SHARE OPTIONS GRANTED TO EMPLOYEES

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the equity
instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined
at the grant date without taking into the consideration all non-market
vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, based on the Group's estimate of equity instruments that will
eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (employee
share-based compensation reserve). For share options that vest
immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the share options
granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss. At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of
equity instruments expected to vest based on assessment of all
relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of
the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to the employee share-based
compensation reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised
in share option reserve will be transferred to share premium. When
the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in
share option reserve will be transferred to share premium.

TAXATION

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred taxation.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before taxation as reported in the
consolidated income statement because of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
TAXATION (continued)

Deferred taxation is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred taxation liabilities are generally recognised
for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred taxation assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred taxation assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred taxation liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred taxation assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred taxation assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred taxation liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle
the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

—E-NEE®RE ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
TAXATION (continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation liabilities or deferred
taxation assets for investment properties that are measured using the
fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are
presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather than
through sale.

Current and deferred taxes are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred
tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred taxation arises from
the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than properties under construction as described
below) are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and, for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group's
accounting policy. Such properties are classified to the appropriate
categories of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready
for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets other
than construction in progress less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or |oss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or 10ss.

BUILDINGS UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR FUTURE OWNER-
OCCUPIED PURPOSE

When buildings are in the course of development for production or for
administrative purposes, the amortisation of land use rights provided
during the construction period is included as part of costs of buildings
under construction. Buildings under construction are carried at cost,
less any identified impairment losses. Depreciation of buildings
commences when they are available for use (i.e. when they are in the
location and condition necessary for them to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management).

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation (including properties under construction for such
puUrposes).

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at their fair values using the fair
value model. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment property are included in profit or loss for the period in
which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the
investment properties under construction.

Investment properties under construction are transferred to properties
for sale when and only when there is a change in use evidenced by
the commencement of development with a view to sale. The
property’s cost for subsequent accounting shall be its fair value at the
date of change.

—E-NEE®RE ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The Group transfers a property for sale to investment property when
there is a change of intention to hold the property to earn rentals or/
and for capital appreciation rather than for sale in the ordinary course
of business, which is evidenced by the commencement of an
operating lease to another party. Any difference between the fair value
of the property at the date of transfer and its previous carrying amount
is recognised in profit or loss.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or 10ss
arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN GOODWILL)

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately
are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains and
losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

IMPAIRMENT ON TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE
ASSETS OTHER THAN GOODWILL (SEE THE
ACCOUNTING POLICY IN RESPECT OF GOODWILL
ABOVE)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an asset
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are
also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The carrying amount of
an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the
unit. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment l0ss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

—E-NEE®RE ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
PROPERTIES FOR SALE

Properties for sale includes properties under development and
properties held for sale which are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

The carrying value of properties for sale comprises the costs of land
use rights together with development expenditure, which includes
construction costs and borrowing costs capitalised.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for the
properties less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary
to make the sale.

OTHER INVENTORIES

Other inventories represent trading merchandises that are stated at
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories are
determined on a weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(POLICIES UNDER HKFRS 9 APPLICABLE FROM
1 JANUARY 2018)

INITIAL RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on
the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group's business model for managing them. With the exception of
trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.
Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in
accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition
(applicable from 1 January 2018)" above.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it
needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(POLICIES UNDER HKEFRS 9 APPLICABLE FROM
1 JANUARY 2018) (continued)

INITIAL RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT (continued)

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
period generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

SUBSEQUENT MEASUREMENT

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST (DEBT INSTRUMENTS)

The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the
following conditions are met:

J The financial asset is held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows.

o The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and
losses are recognised in the consolidated income statement when the
asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment
losses or reversals are recognised in the consolidated income
statement and computed in the same manner as for financial assets
measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the
cumulative fair value change recognised in other comprehensive
income is recycled to the consolidated income statement.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(POLICIES UNDER HKEFRS 9 APPLICABLE FROM
1 JANUARY 2018) (continued)

SUBSEQUENT MEASUREMENT (continued)

FINANCIAL ASSETS DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (EQUITY INSTRUMENTSY)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its
equity instruments as equity instruments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income when they meet the definition
of equity under HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are
not held for trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-
by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to the
consolidated income statement. Dividends are recognised as other
income in the consolidated income statement when the right of
payment has been established, it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the
amount of the dividend can be measured reliably, except when the
Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of
the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in other
comprehensive income. Equity instruments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial
assets held for trading, financial assets designated upon initial
recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets
mandatorily required to be measured at fair value. Financial assets are
classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of
selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including
separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading
unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and
interest are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for
debt instruments to be classified at amortised cost or at fair value
through other comprehensive income, as described above, debt
instruments may be designated at fair value through profit or 10ss on
initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an
accounting mismatch.

169



NS R e i

4.

170

FEREEEOR ()

BERHEMamEE(B 22— /)\F—
3 — H R 5 P A v B 5 i 1 B 38 9 9%
HTBUR) (74)

Hgq 1 ()

FEONPAE T AT AR i Y 4l 2 (A)

AP REASEEEESEAKEATE
FFAHMEEKEMITETARBRATA -
TS, E S SRR - EAAR BB B M A E F &=
AIRERANEE B E S ML SERT 26
DEAEZ AT EFABEZNSBHEEMRA
TEARBTREERERERBEMBA °

i ELAR A A2 % e e B S B8 N0 AR ¢ BRER
ARPTAE T B BB HEREHER A T AT
ETETANEE  REEGAHWIFZATF
EFf AERFE - ARARESREESLIES
BEBWEAAANITETABYN 8L
ERBITETAAR - RARSTAT AR

AVEHE  AFEFDRGRE KARE
R ERANEIEZERSTOR SRS

EXBRRSEREEHRIZAHEABS
ZBEREHAEHERT » TEETER -

BRARTHEETIRNEAGHNNITETA
Aé’ﬁi)\ﬁé TRIEETRERBRANDT

TAAERBEEBOBARATEF ARS
E’U@nﬂﬁ%

THEENSRABNEE
BRGRESHER ©

=

i
ﬂ
<t
H
Jm
N

\
h

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(POLICIES UNDER HKEFRS 9 APPLICABLE FROM
1 JANUARY 2018) (continued)

SUBSEQUENT MEASUREMENT (continued)
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

(continued)

This category includes derivative instruments and equity instruments
which the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity
instruments classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are also recognised as other income in the consolidated income
statement when the right of payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will
flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability or
non-financial host, is separated from the host and accounted for as a
separate derivative if the economic characteristics and risks are not
closely related to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms
as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative;
and the hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or
loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in the consolidated income statement.
Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the terms of
the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would
otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of
the fair value through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a financial
asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial asset host
together with the embedded derivative is required to be classified in
its entirety as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (POLICIES
UNDER HKFRS 9 APPLICABLE FROM 1 JANUARY
2018)

The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all debt instruments
not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate.
The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.

GENERAL APPROACH

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is
required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the
exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on
a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 45 days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (POLICIES
UNDER HKEFRS 9 APPLICABLE FROM 1 JANUARY
2018) (continued)

GENERAL APPROACH (continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
and financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLS except for trade receivables and
contract assets which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLS

Stage1 —

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLS

Stage2 —

Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLS

Stage3 —

SIMPLIFIED APPROACH

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(POLICIES UNDER HKAS 39 APPLICABLE BEFORE
1 JANUARY 2018)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVPL) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit
or |oss.

FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group's financial assets are classified into the following specified
categories: available-for-sale (“AFS”) financial assets, financial assets
at FVPL and loans and receivables. The classification depends on the
nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the
time of initial recognition.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest income over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(POLICIES UNDER HKAS 39 APPLICABLE BEFORE
1 JANUARY 2018) (continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)
Financial assets at FVPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVPL when the financial asset is (i)
held for trading or (ii) it is designated as at FVPL or (iii) contingent
consideration that may be received by an acquirer as part of a
business combination to which HKFRS 3 applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the
near term; or

. on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and has
a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging
instrument.

Financial assets at FVPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or
losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit or l0ss. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial assets and is included in the ‘other
income, other gains and losses’ line item.

AFS financial assets

AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as
available-for-sale or are not classified as (a) loans and receivables, (b)
held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market price in an
active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are
measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at the end of
each reporting period (see the accounting policy in respect of
impairment loss on financial assets below).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(POLICIES UNDER HKAS 39 APPLICABLE BEFORE
1 JANUARY 2018) (continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
trade and other receivables, amount due from the ultimate holding
company, intermediate holding companies, fellow subsidiaries, joint
ventures, associates and non-controlling interests, cash and bank
balances) are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any impairment (see accounting policy on impairment on
financial assets below).

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKAS 39 applicable before
1 January 2018)

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end
of each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be
impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial
asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have
been affected.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could
include:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

. breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest

or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or
financial re-organisation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(POLICIES UNDER HKAS 39 APPLICABLE BEFORE
1 JANUARY 2018) (continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under HKAS 39 applicable before
1 January 2018) (continued)

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables,
assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are, in
addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective
evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the
Group'’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the
number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit
period, observable changes in national or local economic conditions
that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment 10ss
is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at
the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of
trade and other receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying
amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or l0ss.
When trade and other receivables are considered uncollectible, they
are written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent
period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised.
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EBHBEMBRAT CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(POLICIES UNDER HKAS 39 APPLICABLE BEFORE
1 JANUARY 2018) (continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY INSTRUMENTS (POLICIES
UNDER HKEFRS 9 APPLICABLE FROM 1 JANUARY 2018 AND HKAS
39 APPLICABLE BEFORE 1 JANUARY 2018)

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as
either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(POLICIES UNDER HKAS 39 APPLICABLE BEFORE
1 JANUARY 2018) (continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY INSTRUMENTS (POLICIES
UNDER HKEFRS 9 APPLICABLE FROM 1 JANUARY 2018 AND HKAS
39 APPLICABLE BEFORE 1 JANUARY 2018) (continued)

Financial liabilities at FVPL (policies under HKAS 39 applicable before

1 January 2018)

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVPL when the financial liability
is (i) held for trading or (ii) it is designated as at FVPL or (jii) contingent
consideration that may be paid by an acquirer as part of a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 applies.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of repurchasing
it in the near term; or

. on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and has
a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging

instrument.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
(POLICIES UNDER HKAS 39 APPLICABLE BEFORE
1 JANUARY 2018) (continued)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY INSTRUMENTS (POLICIES
UNDER HKEFRS 9 APPLICABLE FROM 1 JANUARY 2018 AND HKAS
39 APPLICABLE BEFORE 1 JANUARY 2018) (continued)

Financial liabilities at FVPL (policies under HKAS 39 applicable before
1 January 2018) (continued)

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading (or
contingent consideration that may be paid by an acquirer as part of a
business combination) may be designated as at FVPL upon initial
recognition if:

o such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise
arise; or

. the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or
financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with the Group’s documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is provided
internally on that basis; or

. it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded
derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the entire combined contract
(asset or liability) to 